## Technische Universität München

Fakultät für Maschinenwesen Lehrstuhl für Fahrzeugtechnik

# Improving the Partial Load Efficiency of Electric Powertrains by Silicon MOSFET Multilevel Inverters

Fengqi Chang

Vollständiger Abdruck der von der Fakultät für Maschinenwesen der Technischen Universität München zur Erlangung des akademischen Grades eines

## **Doktor-Ingenieurs**

genehmigten Dissertation.

Vorsitzender:

Prüfer der Dissertation:

Prof. Dr.-Ing. Nikolaus A. Adams1. Prof. Dr.-Ing. Markus Lienkamp2. Prof. Dr.-Ing. Dieter Gerling

Die Dissertation wurde am 30.07.2019 bei der Technischen Universität München eingereicht und durch die Fakultät für Maschinenwesen am 27.11.2019 angenommen

We will make electricity so cheap that only the rich will burn candles. There is no substitute for hard work.

Thomas A. Edison

# Acknowledgement

This dissertation and relevant studies were conducted during my time as a research associate in TUMCREATE, Singapore, and a Ph.D. candidate in the Institute of Automotive Technology (FTM), Technical University of Munich (TUM), Germany. This dissertation is funded by the National Research Foundation (NRF) of Singapore, under its Campus for Research Excellence And Technological Enterprise (CREATE) program. Therefore, first, I would like to show my gratitude to the organizations above. Without the support of these organizations, the studies in this dissertation could not be conducted.

Besides, I would also like to acknowledge the supports I received from the individuals. These supports have guided me through the difficulties I encountered during my research.

First, I am indeed grateful for the supervision and the trust I received from Prof. Dr.-Ing. Markus Lienkamp. In the beginning of 2015, although I could not speak a single word of German and had little knowledge about what to expect in a German university, Prof. Lienkamp still trusted me and gave me a chance of interview. Since then, my dream career toward electric and smart vehicles was finally started. During the doctoral research, Prof. Lienkamp has given me the freedom to search for my own topic, and always stayed supportive. In meetings, his feedbacks have always been sharp and constructive. I am particularly thankful that Prof. Lienkamp has also taken patience to polish my logic reasoning and presentation skills. Before these direct and indirect trainings, I would not be confident to handle the tasks I will encounter in the future.

Second, I would like to express my gratitude to the colleagues I met in Singapore and in Munich. The teams were one of the highlights during my Ph.D. period. Particularly, I would like to thank Mr. Felix Roemer, who is working on the same circuit and has supported me through the difficulties I encountered in the research. I have learned much from his maturity of handling tasks and his hands-on skills.

I would like to thank Mr. Aditya Pathak and Mr. Olaf Teichert as well, for their support during research, the effort to review my dissertation and the valuable feedbacks. Many thanks to Dr. Olga Ilina and Dr. Leon Voss from ANSYS, who have helped to validate all my results. Sincere thanks also go to Dr. Philip Wacker, Dr. Matthias Kerler and Mr. Jörn Adermann, who helped me to kick-start my topic, offered great help during the research, and later provided valuable suggestions regarding my career.

In addition, I wish to acknowledge the great help I received from Dr. Aybike Ongel, my direct supervisor in Singapore, for trusting me and supporting me in my research and projects. I also wish to acknowledge the help I received from Mr. Raymond Khoo, Mr. Ganesh Sethuraman, Mr. Manfred Kloeppel, Mr. Benedikt Jaeger and Mr. Alexander Koch. It has been a major pleasure to work together with you designing the next generation of public transport for Singapore.

In terms of personal life, I would like to thank my girlfriend Ms. Jiajie Cheng for supporting my decision pursuing a Ph.D. and helping me emotionally when I was struggling. We have been in

distant relationship for more than five years, because of our career endeavors. I hope the completion of my Ph.D. could bring this difficult time to an end.

I also wish to acknowledge that the friendship with Mr. Jiangyuan Li and Mr. Xuesong Li has always helped me and encouraged me to go further in this path full of challenges. It is so lucky that we knew each other in our early age, encountered a similar life, and supported each other like a family.

I would sincerely thank my parents for loving me and supporting me in all the aspects. You have given me the best help you could, and supported all the decisions I have made in terms of career and personal life.

Finally, I would like to express my gratitude to all the individuals and organizations, whom I have failed to cover in this short acknowledgement.

Singapore, May 2019

Fengqi Chang

# **Table of Contents**

AbbreviationsV				
S	ymbols .	VI		
1 Introduction				
	1.1	Motivation and Goals1		
	1.2	Scope		
2 Prob		em Identification		
	2.1	Inverter Efficiency of the Reference Vehicle		
	2.1.1	Powertrain Architecture and Components		
	2.1.2	Powertrain Loss Modelling of the Reference Vehicle		
	2.1.3	Model Verification and Simulation Results		
	2.1.4	Research Question11		
	2.2	State of the Art Solutions11		
	2.2.1	Shift DC Link Voltage12		
	2.2.2	SiC MOSFET with High Voltage DC Link13		
	2.2.3	Si MOSFET with Low Voltage DC Link14		
	2.2.4	Discussions and Criticisms15		
	2.3	Structure of the Dissertation16		
3	Overa	all Concept19		
	3.1	Proposal of the Cascaded H-Bridge19		
	3.2	Operational Mechanism of the CHB22		
	3.2.1	Voltage Generation using PWM22		
	3.2.2	SOC Balancing of Battery Modules25		
	3.3	Specifications of the CHB for Further Analysis		
4	Effici	ency29		
	4.1	State of the Art Studies on the Efficiency of CHB		
	4.2	Approach		
	4.2.1	Loss Model of the CHB		
	4.2.2	Loss Model of the SiC MOSFET Inverter		

	4.3	Results	34
	4.4	Discussion	38
	4.4.1	Comparison of SiC MOSFET Inverter and CHB	38
	4.4.2	Comparison to DC Voltage Shifting Approaches	39
	4.4.3	Comparison to the Low Voltage Si MOSFET Inverter	41
	4.4.4	Influence on Battery Loss and Motor Loss	43
5	Cost		47
	5.1	State of the Art	47
	5.2	Approach	49
	5.2.1	Component Cost	49
	5.2.2	Inverter Cost and System Cost	52
	5.3	Results	53
	5.4	Discussion	56
	5.4.1	Cost Reductions Considering Efficiency Accuracy	56
	5.4.2	Parameter Sensitivity Analysis	57
6	Influe	ence on Battery Aging	61
	6.1	State of the Art	62
	6.2	Approach	65
	<b>6.2</b> 6.2.1	Approach Design of the Testing Hardware	<b>65</b> 65
	<b>6.2</b> 6.2.1 6.2.2	Approach Design of the Testing Hardware Configurations of the Experiment	65 65 68
	<ul><li>6.2</li><li>6.2.1</li><li>6.2.2</li><li>6.3</li></ul>	Approach Design of the Testing Hardware Configurations of the Experiment Result	65 65 68 71
	<ul> <li>6.2</li> <li>6.2.1</li> <li>6.2.2</li> <li>6.3</li> <li>6.4</li> </ul>	Approach Design of the Testing Hardware Configurations of the Experiment Result Discussion.	65 65 68 71 75
	<ul> <li>6.2</li> <li>6.2.1</li> <li>6.2.2</li> <li>6.3</li> <li>6.4</li> <li>6.4.1</li> </ul>	Approach Design of the Testing Hardware Configurations of the Experiment Result Discussion Possible Explanations of the Unexpected Curves	65 65 68 71 75 75
	6.2 6.2.1 6.2.2 6.3 6.4 6.4.1 6.4.2	Approach         Design of the Testing Hardware         Configurations of the Experiment         Result         Discussion         Possible Explanations of the Unexpected Curves         Explanation of Similarities and Contradictions	65 68 71 75 75 76
	6.2 6.2.1 6.2.2 6.3 6.4 6.4.1 6.4.2 6.4.3	Approach         Design of the Testing Hardware         Configurations of the Experiment         Result         Discussion         Possible Explanations of the Unexpected Curves         Explanation of Similarities and Contradictions         Generalization of the Conclusion	65687175757679
7	6.2 6.2.2 6.3 6.4 6.4.1 6.4.2 6.4.3 Relia	Approach         Design of the Testing Hardware         Configurations of the Experiment	6565717575767981
7	6.2 6.2.2 6.3 6.4 6.4.1 6.4.2 6.4.3 Relia 7.1	Approach         Design of the Testing Hardware         Configurations of the Experiment	656571757576798181
7	6.2 6.2.1 6.2.2 6.3 6.4 6.4.1 6.4.2 6.4.3 Relia 7.1 7.1.1	Approach         Design of the Testing Hardware	65657175757679818181
7	6.2 6.2.2 6.3 6.4 6.4.1 6.4.2 6.4.3 Relia 7.1 7.1.1 7.1.2	Approach	65 65 71 75 75 76 79 81 81 81 81
7	6.2 6.2.1 6.2.2 6.3 6.4 6.4.1 6.4.2 6.4.3 Relia 7.1 7.1.1 7.1.2 7.2	Approach         Design of the Testing Hardware         Configurations of the Experiment         Result         Discussion	65657175757679818181818284
7	<ul> <li>6.2</li> <li>6.2.2</li> <li>6.3</li> <li>6.4</li> <li>6.4.1</li> <li>6.4.2</li> <li>6.4.3</li> <li>Relia</li> <li>7.1</li> <li>7.1.1</li> <li>7.1.2</li> <li>7.2</li> <li>7.3</li> </ul>	Approach	656571757576798181818181828488
7	6.2 6.2.1 6.2.2 6.3 6.4 6.4.1 6.4.2 6.4.3 Relia 7.1 7.1.1 7.1.2 7.2 7.2 7.3 7.4	Approach         Design of the Testing Hardware         Configurations of the Experiment         Result         Discussion         Possible Explanations of the Unexpected Curves         Explanation of Similarities and Contradictions         Generalization of the Conclusion         bility         State of the Art         Approachs for Reliability Assessment         Fatigue Analysis of Power Electronic Components & Systems         Approach         Results         Discussion	65657175757679818181818284848891
7	6.2 6.2.1 6.2.2 6.3 6.4 6.4.1 6.4.2 6.4.3 Relia 7.1 7.1.1 7.1.2 7.2 7.3 7.4 7.4.1	Approach	

8	Discu	ussion and Outlook	95
	8.1	Additional Considerations	95
	8.1.1	Weight, Volume and EMI of the CHB Concept	95
	8.1.2	Challenges on System	96
	8.2	Most Appropriate Scenarios for the CHB	98
	8.3	Guidelines for Practical Implementations	100
	8.3.1	MOSFET Selection	100
	8.3.2	Cooling Design	101
	8.4	Limitations of the Research & Outlook	102
	8.4.1	Limitations of the Research	102
	8.4.2	Outlook for Further Improvements	104
9	Sum	nary	105
Li	st of Fig	gures	i
Li	st of Ta	bles	v
Bi	bliogra	phy	vii
Ρι	ublicatio	on List	xxv
Aŗ	pendix		xxvii

# **Abbreviations**

AC	Alternating Current
ASM	Asynchronous Motor
BEV	Battery Electric Vehicle
CC-CV	Constant Current - Constant Voltage
СНВ	Cascaded H-Bridges
CPLD	Complex Programmable Logic Device
CTE	Coefficient of Thermal Expansion
DAC	Digital Analog Converter
DC	Direct Current
DOD	Depth of Discharge
ECM	Equivalent Circuit Model
EDLC	Equivalent Double Layer Capacitor
EMC	Electromagnetic Compatibility
EMI	Electromagnetic Interference
EV	Electric Vehicle
HVAC	Heating, Ventilation and Air Conditioning
IC	Integrated Circuit
ICEV	Internal Combustion Engine Vehicle
IGBT	Insulated Gate Bipolar Transistor
IPM	Interior Permanent Magnet
MCU	Micro Control Unit
MOSFET	Metal-Oxide Semiconductor Field-Effect Transistor
MTBF	Mean Time Between Failures
NMC	Nickel Manganese Cobalt
NPC	Neutral Point Clamped
OCV	Open Circuit Voltage
OEM	Original Equipment Manufacturer
opamp	Operational Amplifier
PCB	Printed Circuit Board

PHEV	Plug-in Hybrid Electric Vehicle
PSC-PWM	Phase Shifted Carrier PWM
PSM	Permanent-magnet Synchronous Motor
PWM	Pulse Width Modulation
RMS	Root Mean Square
Si	Silicon
SiC	Silicon Carbide
SOC	State of Charge
SRM	Switched Reluctance Motor
THD	Total Harmonic Distortion
ТІ	Texas Instrument
USD	United States Dollar
WBG	Wide Band Gap

# Symbols

Symbol Unit		Description	
α	-	Coefficient of the die attachment reliability model	
$lpha_{ ext{cap}}$	USD	Fixed cost of the DC-link capacitor	
$lpha_{ m Ccap}$	USD/F	Unit cost of the DC-link capacitor per farad	
$lpha_{ ext{copper}}$	1/K	The coefficient of thermal expansion of copper	
$lpha_{ m solder}$	1/K	The coefficient of thermal expansion of solder	
$lpha_{ m T}$	-	The temperature coefficient of capacitor reliability model	
$lpha_{ m V}$	-	The voltage coefficient of capacitor reliability model	
$lpha_{ m Vcap}$	USD/V	Unit cost of the DC-link capacitor per voltage	
$\beta_1,\beta_2,\beta_3$	-	Regressed coefficients to calculate the iron loss	
$\Delta \gamma$	-	Relative deformation of a solder joint due to temperature	
θ	rad	The phase lag of the AC current	
$\Delta\eta$	%	Inverter efficiency improvement compared to the benchmark	
$\Delta\eta_{ m sys}$	%	System efficiency improvement compared to the benchmark	
$\Delta\eta_{ m BM}$	%	Combined efficiency change of the motor and batteries	
$\eta_{ ext{inv}\_ ext{ave}}$	%	Average efficiency of the inverter	
$ ho_{ m L}$	kg/m <sup>3</sup>	Density of the air	
а	m/s <sup>2</sup>	Vehicle acceleration	
$a_{ m Vibration}$	m/s <sup>2</sup>	Acceleration of the mechanical vibration	
$A_{\mathrm{A}}$	m²	Cross section area of the vehicle	
$A_{\rm Die}$	mm <sup>2</sup>	Size of the die in the switch	
$A_{1}, A_{2}$	-	Coefficients of the die attachment reliability model	
$a_{\mathrm{Diode}}$	-	Coefficient to calculate the diode switching loss	
$a_{ m IGBT}$	-	Coefficient to calculate the IGBT switching loss	
$a_{ m SiC}$	-	Coefficient to calculate the SiC MOSFET switching loss	
$b_{\mathrm{Diode}}$	-	Coefficient to calculate the diode switching loss	

$b_{\rm IGBT}$	-	Coefficient to calculate the IGBT switching loss
$b_{\rm SiC}$	-	Coefficient to calculate the SiC MOSFET switching loss
b <sub>100km.el</sub>	kWh/100 kn	n Energy consumption of the vehicle per 100 km
cosθ	-	Power factor of the inverter
С	-	Index to calculate the cycle life of a PCB solder joint
c <sub>bat</sub>	USD/kWh	Unit price of the batter per capacity
$c_{\rm CPLD}$	USD	Unit cost of the CPLD
C <sub>concactor</sub>	USD	Unit cost of the contactor
c <sub>Die</sub>	USD/mm <sup>2</sup>	Unit cost of the die
$c_{\rm FBR}$	USD	Unit cost of one set of fiber optic communication
$c_{\rm fix_{HS}}$	USD	Fixed cost of the heatsink
$c_{V_{\rm HS}}$	USD/m <sup>3</sup>	Unit cost of the heatsink per volume
c <sub>W</sub>	-	Air drag coefficient of the vehicle
$C_{\rm DC}$	F	Rated capacitance of the DC-link capacitor
$C_{\text{Dth}(j-c)}$	K/J	Thermal capacitance between diode junction and casing
$C_{\text{Tth}(j-c)}$	K/J	Thermal capacitance between transistor junction and casing
$C_{cap}$	USD	Total cost of one DC-link capacitor
C <sub>CMCU</sub>	USD	Cost of the central micro control unit of inverters
$C_{\rm HS}$	USD	Total cost of the heatsinks
$C_{\rm IC}$	USD	Total cost of the ICs
$C_{\rm inv}$	USD	Total capital cost of the inverter
$C_{\mathrm{Package}}$	USD	Cost of the switch package
$C_{\rm Switch}$	USD	Total cost of one switch
$C_{\rm sys}$	USD	System cost of the inverter solution
$\Delta C_{\rm sys}$	USD	Change of the system cost compared to benchmark
D <sub>Bond</sub>	m	Diameter of the bond wire
$D_{\rm PCB}$	m	Deformation of the PCB in vibration
$\Delta E$	kWh/100 kn	n Energy consumption reduction per 100 km
$E_{\rm cycle}$	Wh	Energy consumption in one driving cycle
$f_{\rm cycle}$	Hz	The frequency of the stress cycle for reliability simulation
<i>f</i> <sub>nPCB</sub>	Hz	Natural mechanical resonance frequency of the PCB board
$f_{\rm R}$	-	Rolling resistance coefficient

$f_{\rm s}$	Hz	Switching frequency		
$f_{\rm SO}$	Hz	Overall switching frequency at the output of the CHB		
g	m/s²	Gravitational acceleration		
$G_{\mathrm{F}}$	-	Open-loop amplification ratio of the feedback operational amplifier network		
G <sub>P</sub>	-	Open-loop amplification ratio of the power operational amplifiers		
h	mm	The height of the PCB solder joint		
l	mm	The length of the PCB solder joint		
ig	-	Transmission ratio of the vehicle		
I <sub>bat_ave</sub>	А	Average current of the battery		
I <sub>bat_RMS</sub>	А	RMS value of the battery current		
I <sub>bat_S_RMS</sub>	А	RMS value of switching frequency ripples in battery current		
I <sub>bat_AC_RMS</sub>	А	RMS value of AC frequency ripples in battery current		
I <sub>Bond</sub>	А	Average current conducted per bond wire in a stress cycle		
<i>I</i> <sub>cell</sub>	А	Current of one battery cell		
<i>I</i> dev	А	Error of the current generated by the testing circuit		
I <sub>P_RMS</sub>	А	RMS value of the phase current		
$I_{\rm Q_Mcycle}$	C/s	Charge rate caused by the micro cycles		
I <sub>Ripple_RMS</sub>	А	RMS value of all the ripples inside battery current		
K <sub>AMP</sub>	-	Closed-loop amplification ratio of the battery testing circuit		
K <sub>P</sub>	-	Parameter for the SOC balancing control		
$m_{\mathrm{a}}$	-	Modulation index of inverters		
М	kg	Mass of the vehicle		
n	1/min	Rotation speed of the motor		
$n_{ m p}$	-	Number of paralleled switches		
$n_{\mathrm{Bond}}$	-	Total number of bond wire joints in the inverter system		
$n_{\rm C}$	-	Total number of DC-link capacitors in the inverter system		
$n_{\rm Die}$	-	Total number of semiconductor dies in the inverter system		
$n_{ m Solder}$	-	Total number of PCB solder joints in the inverter system		
N <sub>contactor</sub>	-	Number of contactors in the powertrain system		
Ν	-	The number of submodules in the CHB		
N <sub>HS</sub>	-	Number of the heatsinks		

$N_{\mathrm{fBond}}$	-	Cycle life of one bond wire joint
$N_{ m fC}$	-	Cycle life of the DC-link capacitor
N <sub>fDie</sub>	-	Cycle life of one die attachment
N <sub>finv</sub>	-	Cycle life of one inverter
N <sub>fMSolder</sub>	-	Cycle life of one PCB solder joint in thermal stress
$N_{\mathrm{fTSolder}}$	-	Cycle life of one PCB solder joint in mechanical stress
P <sub>bat_ohmic</sub>	W	Total ohmic loss of the batteries
P <sub>battery</sub>	W	Terminal power of the battery pack
P <sub>IGBT_Loss</sub>	W	Total loss of the IGBT inverter
P <sub>C_Diode</sub>	W	Conduction loss of one anti-paralleled diode
P <sub>C_IGBT</sub>	W	Conduction loss of one IGBT
P <sub>S</sub>	W	Total switching loss of one IGBT and one diode
P <sub>CHB_Loss</sub>	W	Total loss of the CHB
P <sub>C_CHB</sub>	W	Total conduction loss of the CHB
P <sub>C_MOSFET</sub>	W	Conduction loss of one MOSFET
P <sub>S_CHB</sub>	W	Total switching loss of the CHB
P <sub>S_MOS</sub>	W	Switching loss of one MOSFET
P <sub>S_Diode</sub>	W	Switching loss of one diode
P <sub>SiC_Loss</sub>	W	Total loss of the SiC MOSFET inverter
$P_{C_{Total}}$	W	Total conduction loss of the SiC MOSFET inverter
$P_{C_{SiC}}$	W	Conduction loss of one SiC MOSFET
P <sub>S_Total</sub>	W	Total switching loss of the SiC MOSFET inverter
<b>P</b> <sub>Transistor</sub>	W	Total loss of one transistor
P <sub>Diode</sub>	W	Total loss of one diode
P <sub>Copper</sub>	W	Copper loss of the motor
P <sub>Iron_Loss</sub>	W	Iron loss of the motor
P <sub>M_Loss</sub>	W	Total loss of the motor
P <sub>Loss_Max</sub>	W	Maximum loss dissipated via one heatsink
$Q_{\rm rr}$	С	Recovery charge of the diode
$r_{\rm ppIGBT}$	%	Ripple index of the DC voltage caused by the IGBT
R	m	Radius of the tyre
$R_{\rm bat\_AC}$	Ω	Resistance of batteries for AC frequency ripples

$R_{\text{bat_DC}}$ $\Omega$ DC resistance of batteries		DC resistance of batteries		
$R_{\rm bat_fs}$ $\Omega$		Resistance of batteries for switching frequency ripples		
R <sub>C</sub>	Ω	Conduction dynamic resistance of the IGBT		
R <sub>D</sub>	Ω	Conduction dynamic resistance of the anti-paralleled diode		
R <sub>S</sub>	Ω	The stator winding resistance of the motor		
<i>R</i> <sub>Sample</sub>	Ω	Sampling resistance used in the battery testing circuit		
Ron	Ω	On-state resistance of MOSFETs		
$R_{\rm Dth(j-c)}$	K/W	Thermal resistance between diode junction and casing		
$R_{\mathrm{Tth}(\mathrm{j-c})}$	K/W	Thermal resistance between transistor junction and casing		
$R_{\rm th(c-s)}$	K/W	Thermal resistance between the heatsink and casing		
R <sub>veh</sub>	km	Nominal range of the electric vehicle		
SOC <sub>ave</sub>	%	The average SOC of all the submodules in the CHB		
SOC <sub>i</sub>	%	The SOC of the <i>i</i> th submodule in the CHB		
$t_{ m cycle}$	S	Duration of the driving cycle		
$t_{ m fC}$	S	The life time of a DC-link capacitor		
$t_{ m FI}$	S	Falling time of the current		
$t_{ m FU}$	S	Falling time of the voltage		
t <sub>nominal</sub>	S	The life time of a DC-link capacitor in nominal condition		
$t_{ m trans\_CHB}$	S	The length of one switching transient of the CHB		
t <sub>trans_IGBT</sub>	S	The length of one switching transient of the IGBT		
$T_{j}$	°C	Junction temperature of switches		
$\Delta T_{\rm j}$	°C	Swing of the junction temperature in a thermal stress cycle		
T <sub>max</sub>	°C	Maximum temperature of a PCB solder joint in one cycle		
$T_{\min}$	°C	Minimum temperature of a PCB solder joint in one cycle		
T <sub>Mean</sub>	°C	Average temperature in a thermal stress cycle		
<i>T</i> <sub>n</sub>	°C	The nominal temperature of the DC-link capacitor		
$T_{\text{test}}$	°C	The temperature of the DC-link capacitor in the reliability test		
t <sub>on</sub>	S	The on-state time of the switch in one stress cycle		
$t_{ m RI}$	S	Rising time of the current		
$t_{ m RU}$	S	Rising time of the voltage		
Т	NM	Torque of the motor		
$T_{\rm AC}$	S	Period of the AC current		

u <sub>AC</sub> V u <sub>CE0</sub> V		AC output voltage of one H-bridge		
		Zero current voltage drop of the IGBT		
$u_{ m F0}$	V	Zero current voltage drop of the anti-paralleled diode		
$u_{ m DC}$	V	DC voltage of the battery pack or battery module		
$u_{\rm DC\_IGBT}$	V	DC voltage switched by the MOSFETs in the CHB		
$u_{\rm DC\_IGBT}$	V	DC voltage switched by the IGBTs		
$u_{ m N}$	V	Output voltage of the negative side half-bridge		
$u_{ m P}$	V	Output voltage of the positive side half-bridge		
$u_{ m ref}$	V	Reference voltage of the inverter		
$u_{\mathrm{ref}\_\mathrm{i}}$	V	Reference voltage of the <i>i</i> th submodule in the CHB		
$U_{cap}$	V	Rated voltage of the DC-link capacitor		
$U_{\mathrm{P}}$	V	Peak value of the AC voltage		
v	m/s	Speed of the vehicle		
dv/dt	kV/us	Speed of the voltage change, for EMI evaluation		
$\Delta v_{ m pp}$	V	Peak value of the voltage ripples on the DC link		
V	V	Rated voltage of the switch for reliability simulation		
$V_{\rm bat}$	V	Voltage of one battery cell		
$V_{\rm IN}$	V	Input voltage given by the DAC to control current waveform		
$V_{\rm HS}$	m <sup>3</sup>	Volume of the heatsink		
V <sub>N</sub>	V	The absolute voltage of the battery anode in testing circuits		
$V_{\rm P}$	V	The absolute voltage of the battery cathode in testing circuits		
V <sub>n</sub>	V	The nominal voltage of the DC-link capacitor		
V <sub>test</sub>	V	The voltage of the DC-link capacitor in the reliability test		
V <sub>REF</sub>	V	Reference voltage for the DAC and the power operational amplifier circuit		

# **1** Introduction

Climate change is one of the major challenges that humanity has to deal with in the near future, which is potentially caused by the growing greenhouse gas emissions [1], [2]. Among the total greenhouse gas emissions worldwide in 2016, 20% is attributed to road vehicles consuming fossil fuels [3]. The usage of fossil fuels in the transport sector is also one of the main reasons for heavy urban air pollutions that are commonly observed in urbanized areas [4], [5]. Therefore, to mitigate the problems associated with fossil fuels, electric vehicles (EV), particularly battery electric vehicles (BEV), have been more insistently confirmed by governments and industries to be an inevitable choice [6]–[9].

Several countries declared a road map to completely phase out internal combustion vehicles in 2030-2040 [10], [11]. Some cities have already forbidden certain internal combustion engine vehicles (ICEVs) to enter certain areas, in order to reduce local pollution [12], [13]. Tax incentives or specific license plate quota were also provided to BEV buyers, and significantly contributed to the rapid growth of the BEV market in recent years [14], [15]. In industries, a growing amount of funding is invested in relevant technologies to accelerate this transition. In 2017, more than 90 billion US dollars were invested by major original equipment manufacturers (OEM) worldwide in research and development of EVs [16]. Volkswagen even announced to completely electrify its fleet before 2030 [17].

## 1.1 Motivation and Goals

Despite the rapid growth of BEV sales, BEVs still only account for a rather small portion of the total annual sales of vehicles [18]. In 2017, 90 million vehicles were sold worldwide [19], while only 0.7 million of them, i.e., 0.78 %, were BEVs (plug-in hybrid electric vehicles, PHEV, not included in the value) [18]. Moreover, the currently observed rapid growth is mainly a result of short-term policies and thus might not be sustainable [20]. In China, the largest market of BEVs [18], the decrease in subsidies to electric vehicle buyers is expected to reduce the sales of BEVs by 42 % [21].

The main factors hindering the acceptance of BEVs include their high retail price and limited range, which are majorly caused by the high cost of batteries [22]–[24]. The price of an economic BEV with a rated range of 300 km or longer is still generally higher than 30,000 United States dollars (USD) [25], even though the progress in battery technology and economies of scale have reduced the battery price significantly in recent years [26].

In order to accelerate the public acceptance of BEVs, besides waiting for the battery price to decrease even further, an alternative solution is to improve the efficiency of the powertrain. On the one hand, a higher efficiency can be used to prolong the driving range with a given battery pack capacity. On the other hand, a higher efficiency can also reduce the purchasing cost of a BEV, via a reduced requirement of battery pack capacity for the same range. Therefore,

motivated by the challenges and the benefits of efficiency improvement, with the focus on the design of the inverter (a determining component for the powertrain efficiency, defined and introduced in detail in chapter 2), the goals of the dissertation are formulated as follows:

- Benchmarking of an state-of-the-art automotive inverter and identifying potentials to improve efficiency
- Developing a general concept to improve the efficiency of automotive inverters
- Evaluating the inverter design systematically, besides the efficiency improvement

## 1.2 Scope

As this dissertation is primarily searching for an efficient inverter design and investigating the improvements, it is essential to define the criteria to evaluate inverter designs. Considering the relevance to automotive applications, this dissertation conducts dedicated investigations in four aspects, efficiency, cost, influence on battery aging and reliability.

First, the efficiency is the most important aspect to consider, as it is the fundamental motivation of the research. The efficiency values used for evaluation are the average inverter efficiency over one driving cycle or driving test, rather than the peak efficiency, because the range and the energy consumption of BEVs are only influenced by the average efficiency.

Second, the powertrain system cost is calculated, in order to determine if the benefit of a higher efficiency can pay off the cost. As explained in section 1.1, an increase in efficiency can reduce the cost of the battery. Nonetheless, if the cost of an efficient inverter is rather high and cannot be compensated by the reduced battery cost, the system cost will increase. Such an inverter would not be worth implementing anymore. To determine whether a novel inverter design should be implemented in a certain vehicle, the system cost should be modelled. Cost analysis should be conducted in different scenarios to identify the appropriate scenarios to implement the proposed inverter design.

Third, the influence of the inverter on the aging of batteries should be considered as well, because the aging behavior of batteries could be affected by the inverter design, due to the change of current waveforms, particularly the ripples in the current waveforms. If an inverter concept is identified to be harmful to batteries, it should not be considered for any BEV, regardless of its efficiency improvement.

In the end, a quantitative reliability assessment of an inverter design is also necessary, as the differences in terms of circuits and thermal behaviors may significantly change the reliability of an inverter system. Especially for automotive applications, where the reliability is of high importance, the reliability assessment cannot be neglected, in case that a more efficient inverter concept deteriorates the reliability significantly.

After introducing the targets and the scope, the next chapter benchmarks a state-of-the-art automotive inverter, in order to identify the potential problems in terms of efficiency. The specific research question of the dissertation is then formulated based on extensive analysis and discussions of the problems identified.

# **2 Problem Identification**

In previous studies, the efficiency of inverters has attracted little attention, because current automotive inverters in BEVs directly adopt the designs of industrial inverters, and the average efficiency of such inverter designs is higher than 97% in industrial applications [27]–[29]. In industrial applications, inverters mostly operate continuously in the nominal power range [30], [31]. The efficiency is hence close to the high nominal efficiency documented in the datasheets, often in the range of 97-99% [28], [32].

However, in contrast, the power profile of an automotive inverter varies in a much broader range, because the speed and acceleration of a vehicle can change significantly over a realistic driving profile [33]–[35]. Nonetheless, the average efficiency of an automotive inverter in realistic driving scenarios is not yet available in the literature. Therefore, in order to identify the problems and potentials of improvement, the efficiency of currently used inverter designs should first be benchmarked with driving cycle tests.

The BMW i3 (94 Ah version) is selected as the reference vehicle for benchmarking, and will be hereafter referred to as the "reference vehicle", and its inverter as the "benchmarked IGBT inverter". Although the reference vehicle was first released to the market in 2013, it is still selected as the benchmark. The reason is that it is still one of the most efficient BEVs in terms of energy consumption per 100 km, even compared to the BEVs released recently [36], due its powertrain design and light-weight structure. The benchmarked IGBT inverter can still demonstrate the state-of-the-art performance of current automotive inverter designs, according to a benchmarking research conducted by Oak Ridge National Laboratory in late 2016 [37].

## 2.1 Inverter Efficiency of the Reference Vehicle

In this section, the conventional powertrain architecture is introduced first to clarify some basic definitions. Then the powertrain losses of the reference vehicle are modelled, to benchmark the inverter efficiency with driving cycle simulations. The simulation results are analyzed and verified by experiments. Based on the results, the problems of the inverter design are identified. The research question of the dissertation is then formulated.

### 2.1.1 Powertrain Architecture and Components

Most BEVs, including the reference vehicle, adopt the electric powertrain architecture in Figure 2.1. It is primarily composed of three components, a battery pack to store the energy for the vehicle, an electric motor to drive the vehicle, and an inverter to convert the direct current (DC) voltage of the battery pack to alternating current (AC) voltage to control the motor.

The number of motors and inverters is not necessarily one. BEV concepts that are developed for better drivability, off-road or lateral performance can have multiple sets of motors and

inverters. In this section, the fundamental definitions associated with each component in the conventional architecture are introduced, along with the specifications of the reference vehicle.



Figure 2.1: Conventional architecture of an electric powertrain

#### **Battery Pack**

A battery pack is composed of battery cells that are connected in series and parallel. The number of cells connected in parallel is determined by the desired capacity of the battery pack, while the DC nominal voltage defines the number of cells connected in series. The battery pack voltage of most BEVs is in 400 V level, and each lithium cell has a nominal voltage of 3.3 V or 3.7 V, depending on the battery chemistry [38]. Hence, the number of cells connected in series is often in the range of 90-120 [39, p. 11]. Specifically for the reference vehicle, 96 battery cells are connected in series to provide a nominal voltage of 360 V [37].

However, a large number of battery cells connected in series can cause a problem that the state of charge (SOC) of cells could be imbalanced [40]. As a result, the capacity of the battery pack cannot be fully utilized. Moreover, since the imbalance of batteries tends to grow during the usage of a BEV [40], the usable capacity of the battery pack decreases continuously. To maintain the usable capacity of the battery pack, the SOC of the series-connected cells must be balanced.

This function is often integrated within the battery management system (BMS), which monitors the voltage and temperatures of cells to ensure safety. A typical BMS consists of several slave BMSs and a master BMS. Each slave BMS is connected to a battery module, which is a submodule of the pack and typically composed of 12-16 cells in series. The slave BMSs conduct measurements and SOC balancing. The master BMS works as a central controller for the slave BMSs.

#### Inverter

As the battery pack only provides a DC voltage output, while a controllable AC voltage is required to drive the motor, an inverter is required for the voltage conversion. The most common inverter used by BEVs is shown in Figure 2.1. It is primarily composed of a DC-link capacitor (working as a filter for the DC voltage) and six switches, more specifically, six insulated insulated-gate bipolar transistors (IGBTs). This structure is thus called the six-pack topology [41].

In this structure, every two IGBTs form a bridge structure, called a half-bridge [42]. The two IGBTs in one half-bridge are switched on and off complementarily, so that the voltage at the output is switched between zero and the battery pack voltage. By defining an appropriate switching sequence, the inverter generates an equivalent sinusoidal AC voltage output. The most common approach to determine the switching sequence of one half-bridge is the pulse width modulation (PWM). The switching-on sequence of the upper IGBT can be obtained by comparing the desired sinusoidal AC voltage waveform, the reference voltage, to the triangular

carrier waveform. The generated switching-on sequence is recorded in the PWM signal. The PWM signal of the lower IGBT is determined complementarily. The PWM signals of all six IGBTs can be obtained by comparing the reference voltage of three phases with the carrier waves.

Nonetheless, a digital signal at the output of a controller is not sufficient to drive an IGBT. The switching-on and switching-off of an IGBT must be conducted by a gate driving circuit, or a driver, as demonstrated in Figure 2.2. A driving circuit for automotive inverters is primarily composed of an isolated dual-channel DC source to provide the isolated gate voltage (usually  $\pm 15$  V), a push-pull circuit or other amplifying circuits to select the output voltage, and a resistor to limit the gate current and the switching speed [42]. Applying the PWM signal (usually isolated for reliability) at the gate driver, the gate voltage of the switch alternates accordingly between 15 V and -15 V. The switch is thus turned on or off following the desired switching sequence. There are indeed more sophisticated driving circuit designs, and the design of gate drivers is one of the main topics in power electronics field. Limited by the scope of the research, these advanced designs are not discussed in this dissertation.



Figure 2.2: The driving circuit for an IGBT

The six-pack IGBT inverter design is the most common solution for 400 V level industrial applications. The products have been available on the market for more than 20 years [43]. Due to the availability of six-pack IGBT inverters in the voltage level of BEVs, they are widely used in the BEVs nowadays. In the reference vehicle, the benchmarked inverter uses the six-pack IGBT module FS800R07A2E3 from Infineon [37, p. 67].

#### **Electric Motor**

Electric motors provide the driving force to the vehicle drivetrain under the control of inverters. For BEVs, there are different types of appropriate electric motors. They differentiate from each other in terms of the windings structure, rotor structure and the placement of permanent magnet materials, etc. Introductions and comparisons of different electric motors can be found in [44]–[46]. Among all the options, permanent magnet synchronous motors (PSM) and asynchronous motors (ASM) are most frequently used in BEVs [44]. The motor of the reference vehicle is a PSM. However, the inner magnetic circuit of this motor is optimized by implementing the features of switched reluctance motors (SRM) and interior permanent magnet motors (IPM), so that the efficiency and torque density could be higher than a common PSM [37].

After the introductions in this section, the following section models the losses on each component of the powertrain. The performance of the powertrain is subsequently evaluated with the developed models in different driving cycles.

### 2.1.2 Powertrain Loss Modelling of the Reference Vehicle

In order to obtain the efficiency of the inverter and the powertrain in driving cycle simulations, the losses of the three components are modelled. Furthermore, to use the powertrain models in driving cycle simulations, the longitudinal model of the vehicle is also developed.

First, the loss of the battery pack is ignored. At most operational points during a driving cycle, due to the limited power demand, the discharge C-rate of the battery pack is rather low. Hence, in driving cycle simulations, compared to the losses caused by the motor and the inverter, the losses in battery cells are rather insignificant[47], and thus neglected in the loss modelling. The losses in battery cells are more significant during a high C-rate charge [38].

Second, the loss of the six-pack IGBT inverter in the reference vehicle is modelled. The inverter loss is composed of conduction loss and switching loss. The conduction loss is the loss on the semiconductor switch while conducting current. The switching loss is the loss caused by the transient voltage and current during switching-on or switching-off of the switch. As each IGBT has an anti-paralleled diode next to it, the conduction loss and switching loss (reverse recovery loss) of the anti-paralleled diodes are also considered.

These losses are modelled in eq. (2.1). The conduction loss of one IGBT,  $P_{C_{IGBT}}$ , and the conduction loss of one diode,  $P_{C_{Diode}}$ , are calculated based on the models proposed and verified by [48].  $P_{C_{IGBT}}$  is mainly influenced by two parameters,  $u_{CE0}$ , the zero-current forward voltage of the IGBT, and  $R_C$ , the dynamic resistance when the current changes.  $P_{C_{Diode}}$  is determined by  $u_{F0}$  and  $R_D$ , which are defined similarly as  $u_{CE0}$  and  $R_C$ . Besides the switch parameters, the switching loss also varies with the electrical operational points, which are defined by  $I_{P_{RMS}}$ ,  $m_a$  and  $\cos\theta$ .  $I_{P_{RMS}}$  is the RMS value of the phase AC current.  $m_a$  is the modulation index, calculated by the dividing the peak to peak AC voltage with the battery pack voltage,  $u_{DC}$ . The power factor is  $\cos\theta$ , the cosine value of the phase lag between the AC current and voltage.

$$P_{C_{LGBT}} = u_{CE0} \sqrt{2} I_{P_{RMS}} \left( \frac{1}{2\pi} + \frac{m_{a} \cos \theta}{8} \right) + 2R_{C} I_{P_{RMS}}^{2} \left( \frac{1}{8} + \frac{m_{a} \cos \theta}{3\pi} \right)$$

$$P_{C_{Diode}} = u_{F0} \sqrt{2} I_{P_{RMS}} \left( \frac{1}{2\pi} - \frac{m_{a} \cos \theta}{8} \right) + 2R_{D} I_{P_{RMS}}^{2} \left( \frac{1}{8} - \frac{m_{a} \cos \theta}{3\pi} \right)$$

$$P_{S} = f_{s} u_{DC} \left( a_{IGBT} + 2\sqrt{2} b_{IGBT} I_{P_{RMS}} / \pi \right) + f_{s} u_{DC} \left( a_{Diode} + 2\sqrt{2} b_{Diode} I_{P_{RMS}} / \pi \right)$$

$$P_{IGBT_{Loss}} = 6 \left( P_{C_{LIGTB}} + P_{C_{Diode}} + P_{S} \right)$$
(2.1)

The total switching loss of one IGBT and one diode,  $P_{\rm S}$ , is deduced based on datasheet values [49]. By linearizing the datasheet values with regard to  $I_{\rm P\_RMS}$  and  $u_{\rm DC}$ , the formula of  $P_{\rm S}$  can be derived.  $a_{\rm IGBT}$ ,  $b_{\rm IGBT}$ ,  $a_{\rm Diode}$  and  $b_{\rm Diode}$  are four coefficients obtained in the linearization.  $f_{\rm S}$  is the switching frequency. In the end, multiplying the total loss of one IGBT and one diode by six, the total loss of the IGBT inverter  $P_{\rm IGBT\_Loss}$  can be obtained.

In addition, as the parameters of the loss model in eq. (2.1) are thermal-dependent, a thermal model of the IGBT is constructed, in order to improve the accuracy, Figure 2.3 [50]. The thermal model is a typical equivalent circuit model based on the heat resistance and capacitance values.

The input to the model is the total loss of one diode,  $P_{\text{Diode}}$  and one transistor,  $P_{\text{Transistor}}$ . The output of the model is the junction temperature,  $T_j$ . At the beginning of each time step of the simulation,  $T_j$  is updated according to the component losses. Then the parameters in eq. (2.1) are updated according to the datasheet of the IGBT module [49].



Figure 2.3: Thermal model the IGBT to calculate the junction temperature [50]

To obtain the inputs of the inverter loss model in eq. (2.1), the PSM model in [51] is selected, and parametrized according to the PSM in the reference vehicle [52]. This model converts the mechanical operation points (in rotation speed and torque coordinate) to electrical operation points, (in voltage, current and power factor coordinate). The obtained electrical operation points can be directly used in eq. (2.1) as inputs.

Besides the conversion, the PSM model in [51] can also be used to calculate the copper loss on the three phases,  $P_{\text{Copper\_Loss}}$ , based on the resistance  $R_{\text{S}}$  and current values, eq. (2.2). The iron loss of the motor,  $P_{\text{Iron\_Loss}}$  is modelled by eq. (2.2), a simplified version of the iron loss model in [53]. *T* is the motor torque and *n* is the rotation speed of the motor. The coefficients in eq. (2.2),  $\beta_1$  to  $\beta_3$  are obtained via a nonlinear regression, using the measurement results provided in the datasheet of the motor in the reference vehicle [52, p. 49]. Hence, the highest accuracy can be ensured. Summing up the two types of losses, the total loss of the motor,  $P_{\text{M Loss}}$  can be obtained.

$$P_{\text{Copper\_Loss}} = 3R_s I_{P\_RMS}^2$$

$$P_{\text{Iron\_Loss}} = (\beta_1 n + \beta_2 n^2) T^{\beta_3}$$

$$P_{M\_Loss} = P_{\text{Copper\_Loss}} + P_{\text{Iron\_Loss}}$$
(2.2)

With the models in eq. (2.1) and (2.2), the efficiency maps of the inverter and motor can be obtained. Nonetheless, to test the performance of the powertrain in driving cycle simulations, a longitudinal model of the reference vehicle is still necessary, eq. (2.3) [50]. The inputs of the longitudinal model are the profile of speed, v, and the profile of acceleration, a, which is derived based on the speed profile. The output is the mechanical operation point of the motor, T and n, in each time step of the simulation.

$$\begin{cases} T = (0.5\rho_{\rm L}c_{\rm w}A_{\rm A}v^2 + f_{\rm R}Mg + Ma)R / i_{\rm g} \\ n = \frac{30vi_{\rm g}}{R\pi} \end{cases}$$
(2.3)

The symbols of the vehicle parameters in eq. (2.3) are designated following the nomenclature standard of the research institute. The detailed definitions are in the list of symbols, at the beginning of the dissertation. The parameter values of the experimental configuration in [54] are used in this dissertation, so that the accuracy of the models can be conveniently verified. These values are slightly different from the public information of the reference vehicle. The parameters of all the models developed in this section are provided in Appendix A1.

The driving cycle simulation model is developed by combining the powertrain loss models and the longitudinal vehicle model, as demonstrated in Figure 2.4. The total energy consumption in a driving cycle,  $E_{\text{Cycle}}$ , is the integral of battery power,  $P_{\text{battery}}$ , over time. The average efficiency of the inverter,  $\eta_{\text{inv_ave}}$ , is defined by the energy throughput on the AC side of the inverter and the inverter loss, eq. (2.4).



Figure 2.4: Block diagram of the driving cycle simulation to quantify the powertrain efficiency [50]

$$\begin{cases} E_{\text{cycle}} = \int P_{\text{battery}} \\ \eta_{\text{inv\_ave}} = 1 - \frac{\int P_{\text{IGBT\_loss}}}{\int |ui\cos\theta| + \int P_{\text{IGBT\_loss}}} \end{cases}$$
(2.4)

#### 2.1.3 Model Verification and Simulation Results

Before collecting results from the driving cycle simulations, it is necessary to verify the accuracy of the models. Without verifications, the simulation results could contain significant errors and thus distort the analysis. The accuracy of the inverter model is verified first. The losses of the IGBT inverter calculated by eq. (2.1) are compared to the results simulated in ANSYS Simplorer, which provides an experimentally verified high accuracy, according to [55], [56]. The error of efficiency at all the operational points is within 1 %. A detailed comparison between the results of the two simulations is available in Appendix A2.

Besides the verification with accurate models, the accuracy of the inverter model is also verified by the experimental results in [37]. The simulated efficiency map of the IGBT inverter, Figure 2.5(a), is compared to the measured efficiency map, Figure 2.5(b) [37]. Comparing the efficiency contour at each speed value, it is observed that the efficiency error of the simulation is always within 1 %. The shapes of the contours are also rather similar. Therefore, based on the two verifications, the loss model of the IGBT inverter is proven to have a sufficiently high accuracy.



Figure 2.5: Simulated and measured efficiency maps of the IGBT inverter in the reference vehicle

Second, the vehicle model and the motor model also need verification. For this purpose, the driving cycle FTP72 is simulated using the model in Figure 2.4, and the results are compared to the experimental results in [54]. The current waveforms of the battery pack over the whole driving cycle are compared, Figure 2.6. The error is not directly visible, because the average absolute error is only 0.88 A. The simulated net output energy of the battery pack is 1264 W h, whilst the results from the experiment is 1248 Wh. The error of energy consumption is 1.42 %. Therefore, the accuracy of the vehicle model and the motor model can also be confirmed. As all the models used in Figure 2.4 are verified, the results of driving cycle simulations are reliable and can be used for further analysis.



Figure 2.6: Comparison of the simulated battery current waveform and the measured waveform [50]

In order to analyze the efficiency of the inverter in urban, comprehensive and highway driving scenarios, the reference vehicle is simulated in the corresponding driving cycles. The results are listed in Table 2.1. All the values of energy are converted to kWh/100 km, to form a basis of comparison. It is first observed that the total energy consumption of the BEV increases, as the driving scenario changes from urban driving to highway driving. Nevertheless, as the total energy consumption increases, the total loss on the inverter decreases. That makes the efficiency in highway driving cycles rather close to the nominal value in the datasheet. The potential to improve the efficiency in highway driving is rather minimal.

On the contrary, although the BEV energy consumptions in urban and comprehensive driving cycles are comparatively low, the inverter losses turn to be significantly higher. The inverter efficiency in these driving cycles is thus much lower than the nominal values. Especially in urban cycles, the average efficiency is lower than 90 %. Hence, a problem of inverter efficiency in urban and comprehensive driving scenarios is identified. To understand the reasons for the problem, an analysis of the efficiency map, Figure 2.5, is necessary.

Table 2.1: Driving cycle simulation results of the IGBT inverter in the reference vehicle [50]					
Driving cycles		BEV consumption per 100 km	Inverter loss	Inverter efficiency	
	USA NECC	10.3 kWh	4.18 kWh	86.2 %	
Urban cycles	Europe City	8.4 kWh	2.31 kWh	86.8 %	
	USA City II	8.5 kWh	2.09 kWh	88.8%	
	FTP72	9.7 kWh	1.72 kWh	90.8 %	
Comprehensive cycles	NEDC	11.1 kWh	1.39 kWh	91.9%	
	WLTP C3	12.8 kWh	1.20 kWh	93.7 %	
Highwoy oveloo	Artemis 130	18.1 kWh	0.72 kWh	96.5 %	
Fighway cycles	Artemis 150	19.1 kWh	0.85 kWh	96.6 %	

In Figure 2.5, the inverter efficiency reaches the nominal efficiency, 97 %, only when the motor speed is higher than 4000 1/min (corresponding to a vehicle speed of 50 km/h). If the motor speed is higher than 8000 1/min, the torque is additionally required to be higher than 30 N m (corresponding to an acceleration of 0.23 m/s<sup>2</sup>). That means the nominal efficiency of the inverter can only be reached when the speed is relatively high and the vehicle is still accelerating. In urban or sub-urban driving scenarios, this combination of speed and acceleration is uncommon, because vehicle drives mostly at low speed with mild accelerations. The operating points of the inverter mostly lie in the partial load area. Therefore, the main reason for the low efficiency in urban and comprehensive driving cycles is the low partial load efficiency of the inverter.

The root cause of the low partial load efficiency, especially the low efficiency in low speed area, can be further traced back to the formulas of inverter losses, eq. (2.1). First, the switching loss is only related to the DC link voltage and the AC current. The motor speed, which is linear to the output AC voltage of the inverter [51], does not affect the switching loss at all. When the vehicle speed decreases, the inverter power decreases accordingly, but the switching loss stays constant. Consequently, the inverter efficiency decreases with speed. Since the switching loss

accounts for more than 70 % of the total loss of an IGBT inverter [47], the pattern of the switching loss can be identified as the main reason for the low partial load efficiency problem.

Second, the conduction loss also partly contributes to the efficiency problem. In eq. (2.1), the conduction loss formula contains terms that are linear with the inverter current. The reason is that the IGBT is a bipolar switch and has a constant forward voltage drop of about 0.7 V regardless of the current [41]. Due to this diode-like feature, when the AC output voltage decreases with speed, the constant voltage drop becomes more significant in the output voltage and makes the conduction loss accounts for a larger part in the inverter power. As a result, the inverter efficiency in the low speed area is further deteriorated by the conduction loss.

To summarize, the root causes for the partial load efficiency problem are the features of the IGBTs. These characteristics are not problematic for industrial applications that mostly operate in the nominal power area. However, for a BEV driving in urban or comprehensive scenarios, the energy consumption can be further reduced by improving the partial load efficiency of the inverter. With the aim to improve the partial load efficiency, the research question of the dissertation is formulated based on the problems and the identified root causes.

### 2.1.4 Research Question

Motivated by the benefits resulting from the higher powertrain efficiency, this dissertation aims to improve the powertrain efficiency via an improved inverter design. Considering the fact that the main problem of the state-of-the-art inverter design is its low partial load efficiency, the research question is formulated as: *What is a general design of automotive inverter that can provide high efficiency in the partial load area and the nominal load area?* 

Moreover, according to the analysis in the previous section, the targeted inverter design should primarily solve the problems associated with the features of the IGBT. Hence, the research question can be decomposed into two parts, each part targeting one loss item:

- Find an inverter design that reduces the switching loss in the whole operational range or makes the switching loss dependent on the speed of the motor.
- Find an inverter design that reduces the conduction loss in the whole operational range or eliminates the linear term in the conduction loss formula.

With the proposed research question, existing solutions to improve partial load efficiency of inverters are systematically reviewed and categorized in the next section. The features of each category are further summarized to identify the challenges and benefits of the solutions.

### 2.2 State of the Art Solutions

As stated at the beginning of the chapter, the partial load efficiency of automotive inverters has not been extensively studied, as the problem has not been widely recognized previously. In the research field of power electronics, most studies focus on general approaches to reduce the inverter loss in the nominal load area, e.g., soft switching technologies [57]–[59], or the optimization of circuit parameters [60]–[62]. However, these solutions are either inappropriate to implement in automotive inverters or contribute marginally for the partial load efficiency problem.

Improved motor control algorithms, e.g., the flux optimized vector control algorithm [51], are another general approach to reduce the losses of inverters, but these algorithms have been widely implemented for many years and do not fully solve the partial load efficiency problem of inverters. In fact, in the simulations of the reference vehicle in section 2.1, the flux optimized vector control is already implemented in the motor model [51], while the problem of low partial load efficiency is still significant in the results. Further improvement of the inverter efficiency via motor control algorithms is expected to be difficult and marginal.

Nonetheless, in recent years, there are indeed a few studies dedicatedly studying the partial load efficiency of inverters, as electrification has been confirmed to be the inevitable trend of the automotive industry. All of these studies approach the problem by improving the circuit design, which reveals the limitations of the general methods introduced above. Based on the primary ideas of the studies, the solutions proposed by these studies are classified into three categories and discussed respectively.

### 2.2.1 Shift DC Link Voltage

Among the few studies focusing on the partial load efficiency problem, the first category of studies investigate different methods to shift the DC link voltage of the inverter at different speeds, in order to correlate the switching loss and the motor speed. When the motor speed is low, i.e., the AC voltage is low, these methods reduce the DC link voltage of the inverter, in order to achieve a lower switching loss. The efficiency in the low speed area can thus be effectively improved.

Among this category of solutions, [63]–[67] use a bidirectional DC/DC converter between the inverter and the battery pack, so that the DC link voltage can be shifted continuously, Figure 2.7. When the motor is operating below the nominal speed, an optimal DC voltage is chosen to optimize the partial load efficiency. However, as these solutions require a DC/DC converter in the powertrain, the efficiency improvement can be significantly affected by the losses of the DC/DC converter. A DC/DC converter that is able to handle the maximum power of the powertrain is also expensive and can make these solutions not cost-effective. Bypassing the DC/DC converter at a high power can help to reduce the power rating of the DC/DC converter, but expensive high voltage mechanic contactors are required to conduct bypassing.



Figure 2.7: Using a DC/DC converter to improve the partial load efficiency for BEVs

[68]–[70] shift the DC link voltage using a Z-source inverter, Figure 2.8. The basic idea of the Zsource inverter is to integrate the DC/DC conversion components into the inverter. However, the passive components in the DC link, especially the high current inductors, can significantly increase the weight of the inverter, which is not appropriate for automotive applications. The passive components in the circuit also cause additional losses and limit the improvement of the efficiency.



Figure 2.8: A Z-source inverter to improve the partial load efficiency for BEVs

[71], [72] propose to use an active battery pack to vary the DC link voltage when the motor speed changes. The active pack actively connects the battery modules in parallel or series, in order to shift the DC voltage. As this solution can only generate a DC voltage of specific values instead of a continuous voltage output, the passive components required by the voltage conversion can be eliminated. The switches required to realize the active connecting functions are silicon (Si) Metal Oxide Semiconductor Field Effect Transistors (MOSFET), Si MOSFETs, which have a rather low cost. Hence, the cost of such a system could be insignificant. However, as the DC voltage of such system shifts abruptly from one value to another, the pre-charge and pre-discharge of the DC-link capacitor in the six-pack inverter must be carefully managed. The corresponding control strategies are discussed in [73].

In summary, six-pack IGBT inverters are still used by this category of solutions. At low speed, the DC link voltage is shifted actively by different mechanisms. Therefore, this category of solutions only reduces the switching loss of IGBTs in the partial load area. The conduction loss stays unchanged. Moreover, all these solutions require additional components and an unaltered IGBT inverter, which tends to worsen the cost, weight, reliability and nominal load efficiency of the inverter.

### 2.2.2 SiC MOSFET with High Voltage DC Link

In contrast to the previous category that still adopts IGBTs in the inverter, many researchers propose to replace the IGBTs with MOSFETs made of wide band gap (WBG) materials, particularly silicon carbide (SiC) MOSFETs, in the conventional powertrain architecture [74]–[78]. They also deem this approach as the ultimate solution to the partial load efficiency problem.

As a MOSFET is a unipolar switch, its switching transient is intrinsically much shorter, compared to an IGBT [79, p. 12]. Due to the property of the SiC material, SiC diodes also have a much lower recovery loss, compared to Si diodes [80]. As a result, the switching loss of a SiC MOSFET inverter is 80 % lower than that of an IGBT inverter at full power [81]. The SiC material also has a higher thermal conductance compared to Si, and is possible to withstand high temperature up to 175 °C. The cooling design of inverters with SiC switches could be thus made easier.

The improvements of SiC MOSFETs in terms of efficiency and thermal management have been investigated experimentally in [80]–[84]. Nonetheless, specifically for automotive applications, it is still controversial whether or when the improvements of SiC MOSFETs are able to pay off their high cost, especially for light-duty private vehicles [81]–[88]. Although having been prototyped in laboratories worldwide for many years, the only commercialized vehicle reported to use a SiC MOSFET inverter is the newest Tesla Model 3 [89]. That partly reveals the concerns regarding the implementation of SiC MOSFET inverters. Besides, SiC MOSFETs also bring challenges to

the circuit design. If the parasitic parameters or the driving circuit are not properly designed, SiC MOSFETs can result in a much worse electromagnetic compatibility (EMC), due to their intrinsic high speed of switching [90]. The high EMI results in potential risks for other electronic devices in the vehicle, and may damage the insulation of the electric motor [91].

In order to mitigate the high price of SiC MOSFETs, [92]–[94] mix a SiC MOSFET inverter with an IGBT inverter. A SiC MOSFET with a low current rating is paralleled next to each IGBT in the six-pack structure. The SiC MOSFET is only used to absorb the switching transient of the IGBT, or handle a rather low current. Hence in these circuits, the IGBTs are operating under soft switching conditions [93], i.e., the switching of the IGBT only happens at zero current. Nonetheless, significant challenges regarding the switching transient control arise, because the SiC MOSFETs are used at the limit of the safe operation area [93]. The reliability of such a solution could be questionable.

As a summary, compared to the IGBT inverter, SiC MOSFET inverters can effectively reduce the switching loss in the whole range of operation. The conduction loss could be slightly higher at a higher load [95]. The main disadvantage of this solution is the high price of SiC MOSFETs, which makes the solution inappropriate for cost sensitive scenarios.

### 2.2.3 Si MOSFET with Low Voltage DC Link

As stated in the previous section, the benefits of SiC MOSFET inverters are mainly attributed to the unipolar properties of MOSFETs. To avoid the high cost of SiC semiconductors, a natural idea is to replace SiC MOSFETs with Si MOSFETs for the inverter design. Following this approach, the advantages of MOSFETs can still be utilized.

However, Si MOSFETs are not directly compatible with a high voltage DC link, because a low on-state resistance is only possible to realize in low voltage Si MOSFETs, which is caused by the limitations of the Si material [95]. To enable the usage of Si MOSFETs, [96] proposes to reduce the DC link voltage to 48 V, and to use a multiphase inverter composed of low voltage Si MOSFETs in a 300 kW powertrain, Figure 2.9 [97]. Such a multiphase inverter follows the same basic structure as in Figure 2.1, but it has 60 half bridges, corresponding to the 60 phases of the system [96]. Experiments prove that the switching loss and the conduction loss are both considerably lower than those of a conventional IGBT inverter in the partial load area. Because of the low price of 48 V Si MOSFETs, the system also has a low cost [97]. Nevertheless, challenges of high current (possibly up to higher than 2000 A) have to be carefully managed [96]. The circuit breakers and cables for such a high current might increase the system cost.



Figure 2.9: The 48V high power MOSFET inverter and the motor for BEVs [97]

There are also solutions that cannot be directly covered by the three categories above. [33]–[35] propose to parallel multiple discrete low current IGBTs to build the inverter and improve the efficiency via an improved control. However, the improvement is limited in terms of efficiency. According to the results in [33]-[35], for the benchmarked inverter, this solution is expected to reduce the inverter loss by 15 % and thus increase the efficiency by 1.2 % in NEDC driving cycle. Due to the high number of gate drivers, this solution might not be cost-effective as well. [59] integrates a resonance soft-switching circuit in an IGBT inverter, in order to reduce the switching loss. However, this solution is also not as effective as the three types of solutions discussed above. Therefore, these solutions are not extensively discussed any further.

### 2.2.4 Discussions and Criticisms

An overview of the existing solutions is presented in Table 2.2. Each category is marked with its corresponding loss reduction mechanisms. Compared to the IGBT inverters in the respective study, the expected efficiency improvement (in comprehensive driving cycles, .e.g., WLTP C3 and NEDC) and the main disadvantages of each solution are also summarized in the table.

I able 2.2: Summary of the existing solutions to the partial load efficiency problem				
Solution Type	Losses reduced by the method		Efficiency	Disadvantages
	Switching Loss	Conduction Loss	improvement	Disadvantages
DC voltage shifting	Х		1-2 % [71], [72]	Limited effect, cost
SIC MOSFET	Х	Х	4-6 % [83], [92]	High cost, high EMI
Si MOSFET	Х	Х	4-6 % [97]	High current

of the existing solutions to the partial load efficient

As observed in Table 2.2, the first category of solutions, the DC voltage shifting approach, reduces the switching loss at partial load by varying the DC link voltage. Nonetheless, even with the solutions implemented, the switching loss of the IGBT inverter still contributes significantly to the total losses [66]. The conduction loss is not reduced at all. As a result, the overall improvement is limited.

Solutions based on Si or SiC MOSFETs reduce the switching loss in the whole range of power. The conduction loss in partial load is also reduced by Si or SiC MOSFETs.

The reduction of the switching loss is attributed to the shorter switching transients of unipolar switches. Unipolar switches conduct the current via a channel formed by the existing carriers, under the control of the gate voltage [98]. The formation and elimination of the channel can be completed rather rapidly [99]. In contrast, the switching-on or switching-off of an IGBT involves the generation or neutralization of new carriers, which can last up to 100 ns [49]. An experimental evidence of this difference is the tail current of the IGBT [100].

MOSFETs have a lower conduction loss in partial load, because MOSFETs conduct current like a resistor, and the conduction loss formula contains no term that is linear with the load current. Only quadratic terms are in the formula. Hence, the conduction of a MOSFET loss at a low current (corresponding to the low torque area) is lower than that of an IGBT.

Due to the decrease in the switching loss and the conduction loss, the efficiency improvement with Si or SiC MOSFETs is more significant in comparison to the DC voltage shifting methods. However, the additional challenges associated with the two types of MOSFETs need to be further addressed. On the overall level, except for the three categories discussed above, most existing solutions only investigate the general approaches to improve the efficiency of an inverter. They do not dedicatedly identify the efficiency problem in the partial load area. The root causes for the low partial load efficiency are also not well analyzed.

In addition, although significant efficiency improvements are reported in existing studies, these improvements could be overestimated. First, the IGBT inverters used as benchmarks are sometimes not a state-of-the-art inverter, e.g., in [68], [85]. Their performance cannot represent a typical automotive inverter. Second, and also more commonly, the specifications of the benchmarked inverters and vehicles are unpractically matched, e.g., in [63]–[65], [67]. The specifications of the inverter, motor and vehicle are arbitrarily chosen instead of following an existing BEV. The IGBT inverter tends to be oversized and thus works more often in the low-efficiency area, resulting in a lower average efficiency in the tests. As the benchmark efficiency is potentially underrated, the efficiency improvements could be overestimated.

Moreover, the costs of the existing solutions are often not investigated at all, or just roughly discussed [83]. Hence, it is difficult to determine if the solutions are cost-effective or not. It is inappropriate to estimate the cost based on the large volume retail prices of the components, because these prices could still be considerably different from the purchasing price of OEMs, and may contain market noises. To decide if a solution is cost-effective, a cost model is still necessary. However, a cost model suitable for automotive applications is not yet available in previous studies.

## 2.3 Structure of the Dissertation

Due to the disadvantages of the existing solutions to the partial load efficiency problem, an improved concept is investigated. Holistic investigations on different aspects are conducted to assess the performance of the concept, instead of only focusing on the efficiency. Hence, the structure of the dissertation is formed and depicted in Figure 2.10.

First, in chapter 1, the background and the topic of the dissertation are introduced. Then the partial load efficiency problem of IGBT inverters is identified by simulating the reference vehicle in chapter 2. Existing solutions to the problem are summarized. Their disadvantages and common features are also discussed.

By summarizing the existing solutions, chapter 3 proposes an overall concept to solve the partial load efficiency problem. The functional mechanisms of the concept are briefly explained. The concept is compared to the benchmarked IGBT inverter in terms of efficiency, cost, influence on battery aging and reliability, respectively in chapter 4 to chapter 7.



Figure 2.10: Structure of the dissertation

In chapter 4, the state-of-the-art studies regarding the efficiency modelling of the proposed concept are summarized. Then the efficiency of the proposed concept is modelled and verified. In chapter 5, a cost model for automotive inverters is constructed based on existing studies. The cost of the proposed concept is calculated and compared to the benchmarked IGBT inverter on the component level and the system level. A parameter sensitivity analysis is also conducted to investigate the cost reductions in different scenarios. Besides the comparisons to the benchmarked IGBT inverter, a state-of-the-art SiC MOSFET inverter is also added in the comparisons in chapter 4 and 5, as SiC MOSFETs are deemed by many researcher as the most promising solution to the efficiency problem.

Chapter 6 investigates the influence of the proposed concept on the battery aging behavior. Existing opinions on this topic are collected, but they cannot be directly used, due to their inconsistency and the lack of experimental verifications. Therefore, a battery testing circuit is designed for a dedicated aging test and the results are presented.

The reliability of the proposed concept is discussed in chapter 7. Since the proposed concept is fundamentally different from the conventional structure shown in Figure 2.1, it is necessary to evaluate the reliability quantitatively. For this purpose, existing component reliability models are summarized and combined to construct the reliability model for the inverter system.

The overall discussion and outlook are presented in chapter 8. Additional aspects to evaluate the concept are discussed generally. The most appropriate scenarios to implement the proposed concept are identified. In the end, the dissertation is summarized in chapter 9. The findings and the overall conclusion of the whole dissertation are stated.
## **3 Overall Concept**

The previous chapter formulated the research question, reviewed and criticized the existing approaches for improving inverter efficiency. This chapter proposes the overall concept based on the analysis of the existing solutions and the trend towards high voltage powertrains. The operational mechanisms of the proposed concept are introduced. In the end, a CHB is parametrized identically as the benchmarked IGBT inverter for a fair comparison.

### 3.1 Proposal of the Cascaded H-Bridge

As observed in Table 2.2, the solutions that use unipolar switches, MOSFETs, are significantly more effective than the other approaches, such as the DC voltage shifting. The root causes of the partial load efficiency problem also indicate that IGBTs are not an optimal choice for automotive inverters. They are still used in most of BEVs, majorly because of their availability on the market and the path dependence on the 400 V level industrial inverter designs. Therefore, in order to improve the partial load efficiency effectively, the concept is required to use MOSFETs, particularly Si MOSFETs, to avoid the high cost of SiC switches.

However, Si MOSFETs with low on-state resistance are only available for low voltage applications. Using a low voltage DC link to solve that problem can be relatively challenging, as discussed in section 2.2.3. Moreover, low voltage DC links are not expected in all the BEVs in the future. To enable a higher charging power up to 350 kW, the trend of technology is to further increase the DC link voltage from 400 V level to 800 V level, Figure 3.1 [101], as demonstrated by Porsche. The high voltage is the key driving factor to make the charging time of BEVs comparable to the refueling time of an ICEV [101]. A higher DC link voltage is also able to reduce the ohmic losses during charging and driving. Hence, another requirement of the solution is that the proposed concept should be compatible with a high voltage of 400 V or 800 V.



Figure 3.1: Fast charging possibilities enabled by the 800 V DC link [101]

Based on the two requirements, i.e., the usage of Si MOSFETs and the compatibility with high voltage, it is observed that the concept is essentially required to use the low voltage Si MOSFETs in high voltage applications. To reach a high voltage level that cannot be handled by individual switches, there is a standard solution, the multilevel circuit, or multilevel topology [102]. Therefore, to improve the partial load efficiency, this dissertation proposes to design automotive inverters using Si MOSFETs multilevel circuits.

This type of circuits is never used commercially in BEVs, but has been used for almost 40 years [103] in industrial applications with a voltage of 10 kV or higher, e.g., power grid [104], [105] and the traction of trains [106], [107]. There are also different types of multilevel circuits with different advantages and disadvantages. In order to determine an appropriate choice for BEVs, all the categories of multilevel circuits are explored.

The first type of multilevel circuit is called neutral point clamped (NPC) topology, Figure 3.2 [102]. It requires connections from the neutral point(s) of the DC link to the switches to clamp the DC voltage of the switches. The DC link voltage,  $u_{DC}$ , is hence distributed evenly on multiple switches. In this way, the phase output voltage has three levels, and the line-to-line voltage has five levels. In contrast, the phase output voltage of a six-pack inverter only has two levels, and the line-to-line voltage has three levels. However, for a switch rated at a given voltage, the number of required switches grows polynomially (quadratic) with the DC link voltage [108]. In this dissertation, as the target is to use MOSFETs rated at 100 V or lower (for a lower on-state resistance) in 400 V level, more than 30 switches are necessary per phase. Multiplying the number of paralleled switches, this number is even higher. Therefore, this category of circuits tends to be over complicated for the application of this dissertation. Considering that the DC link voltage will increase to 800 V in the future, this category of circuits becomes even less preferred.



Figure 3.2: Three level neutral point clamped (NPC) circuit, one phase, output  $+u_{DC}/2$ , 0, and  $-u_{DC}/2$ 

Another type of multilevel inverters uses flying capacitors to restrict the DC voltage blocked by each switch [109]. A typical example is shown in Figure 3.3 [108]. By controlling the voltage of the flying capacitor strictly to  $u_{\rm DC}/2$ , a stable operation can be realized. This type of circuits uses a smaller number of components to reach the same voltage level, compared to the NPC type. The number of switches and capacitors grows linearly with the DC link voltage.



Figure 3.3: Three level flying capacitor circuit, one phase, output  $+u_{\rm DC}/2$ , 0 and  $-u_{\rm DC}/2$ 

However, as the flying capacitor is working as a filter in a single phase system, the stabilization of the capacitor voltage becomes challenging when the frequency of the AC side is low [108]. Besides, as capacitors are one of the main bottle necks of the system reliability [110], solutions using an excessive amount of capacitors are generally not preferred in automotive applications. The usage of a high number of capacitors, therefore, forms another disadvantage of this type of circuits. Hence, this category of circuits is also not an appropriate choice for BEVs.

The last category of multilevel circuits cascades low voltage submodules to reach high voltage. A typical example is the Cascaded H-Bridge (CHB), Figure 3.4. Different from the previous two types of circuits, the cascaded circuit does not have a DC link. Instead, each submodule consists of a small inverter and an isolated low voltage DC source. The AC output voltage of each submodule can thus be cascaded to form a higher AC voltage.

The CHB does not have the problems of high complexity or low frequency operation, but it is not a popular solution for industrial applications, because an isolated DC source is needed per submodule, which could be rather expensive and bulky [111]. In most industrial applications, only one high power AC or DC source works as the main power supply. Hence, the high power multi-winding transformers are often used to create the required isolated DC sources [111]. These transformers are heavy and expensive, and can thus significantly increase the cost and weight of the system.



Figure 3.4: Five level cascaded H-bridge circuit, one phase, output  $\pm u_{\rm DC}, \pm u_{\rm DC}/2$ , and 0

However, for automotive applications, this problem does not exist, because battery modules can be directly used as isolated DC sources. The modularity of the cascaded circuits is also highly preferable for electric powertrains [112]. Therefore, this dissertation adopts the Si MOSFET CHB as the overall concept to solve the partial load efficiency problem. A general three-phase configuration of the CHB for BEVs is demonstrated in Figure 3.5.



Figure 3.5: General three phase configuration of a CHB powered by battery modules

There are indeed other cascaded multilevel circuits besides the CHB, such as the modular multilevel converter (MMC), with a battery module in each half-bridge [113]. The circuit of submodules can also be changed for different purposes. In this research, the CHB is chosen as

an example of cascaded multilevel inverters, due to its simplicity, modularity and the elimination of passive components. Investigations are conducted for the CHB, in order to quantitatively confirm, whether the proposed solution is generally more efficient than the conventional IGBT inverter, and whether the solution is promising in terms of cost and other aspects.

It is worth noting that using CHB or other cascaded multilevel inverters in BEVs is not an entirely new idea. Although uncommon, some previous studies [114]–[117] also proposed to use cascaded multilevel converters in BEVs. However, their focus is on SOC balancing, which will be explained in the next section. Hence, each submodule contains only one battery cell, instead of a module. The usage of Si MOSFETs is not necessarily specified. The efficiency assessment is also not within their scope. Therefore, the research of this dissertation is fundamentally different from those in [114]–[117].

### 3.2 Operational Mechanism of the CHB

Before further modelling and assessments, the operational mechanisms of the CHB are introduced in this section, in order to make the dissertation easier to understand. First, a PWM algorithm of the CHB is introduced to demonstrate how the AC voltage waveform is generated. The SOC balancing of battery modules is then briefly explained.

#### 3.2.1 Voltage Generation using PWM

As introduced in 2.1.1, for a conventional six-pack IGBT inverter, the PWM process is rather straight forward and has been introduced in [79] in detail. However, for the CHB, since the number of switches is significantly higher, it is necessary to explain how the PWM works to generate the desired AC voltage.

The explanation starts at the PWM process of one H-bridge, Figure 3.6. Taking the anode of the battery module as the reference ground for all voltage values, all feasible switch states and the corresponding outputs are enumerated in Table 3.1. The output voltage of an H-bridge  $u_{AC}$  is obtained by deducting the positive terminal voltage,  $u_P$ , with the negative terminal voltage,  $u_N$ . The PWM process of one H-bridge is to define a sequence to shift among the four statuses in Table 3.1. However, as four switches are involved simultaneously, the switching sequence cannot be directly determined by comparing the reference voltage with one carrier wave.



Figure 3.6: Circuit of one H-bridge

In order to still use the waveform comparison approach, a straightforward idea is to control the two half bridges individually and let each half bridge generate half of the reference voltage,  $u_{\rm ref}/2$ . In this way, the PWM of one H-bridge is similar to that of a conventional inverter with 2 phases.  $u_{\rm ref}/2$  and  $-u_{\rm ref}/2$  are given respectively to the two phases as the reference voltage. As the two references are the additive inverse of each other, such a process is also equivalent to comparing

one reference,  $u_{ref}/2$ , with two phase-inverted triangular carrier waves, as demonstrated in Figure 3.7. For the PWM of one H-bridge, the illustration in Figure 3.7 is also more common than using two references and one carrier, because only one reference value is actually given to the whole circuit. The two carriers also manifest the degrees of freedom of the circuit: carrier 1 stands for S1 and S2 in Figure 3.6, while carrier 2 stands for S3 and S4.

	Switch	n state		Voltage values					
S1	S2	S3	S4	u <sub>P</sub>	$u_{ m N}$	$u_{\rm AC}$			
on	off	off	on	$u_{ m DC}$	0	$u_{DC}$			
on	off	on	off	$u_{ m DC}$	$u_{ m DC}$	0			
off	on	on	off	0	$u_{ m DC}$	$-u_{ m DC}$			
off	on	off	on	0	0	0			
	$u_{\rm DC}/2$								
	> 1/		비사사사사		<u> </u>				

Table 3.1: Switch state of the H-Bridge and corresponding voltage values



Figure 3.7: PWM process of one H-bridge

By simply duplicating the PWM process of one H-bridge, the PWM of the CHB can be conducted as well, because each H-bridge in the CHB can be controlled individually. For a CHB with *N* submodules per phase, to generate the desired AC voltage of one phase,  $u_{ref}$ , a naive approach is to use  $u_{ref}/N$  as the reference voltage to each module, and then repeat the procedure in Figure 3.7. Following this naive approach, all the *N* submodules change their output voltage simultaneously. The output voltage hence shifts among  $Nu_{DC}$ , 0 and  $-Nu_{DC}$ , Figure 3.8.



Figure 3.8: AC output voltage of one phase in the CHB following the naive PWM approach

This voltage waveform is indeed able to drive the electric motor, but the total harmonics distortion (THD) is as high as an IGBT inverter, which also affects the motor efficiency. To reduce the THD, a common modification is to sequentially shift the phase of the two carrier waves of each H-bridge by a phase angle of  $2\pi/N$ , [118]. *N* is the number of submodules in one phase. This

process is visualized in Figure 3.9. For clarity, only the carrier waves of the positive side half bridges are plotted in dotted lines (the carrier 1 in Figure 3.7). The negative side carriers can be obtained by simply inverting the plotted carriers. The reference sinewave is  $u_{\rm ref}/2N$ , applied to all the half bridges in the submodules. The period of the carriers is enlarged to demonstrate their phase difference clearly.



Figure 3.9: Phase-shifted carrier PWM of one phase in CHB

Due to the phase shift of the carrier waves, the carriers never cross the reference simultaneously. Hence, the outputs of any two submodules also never change at the same time. As a result, the waveform of the output voltage is changed from the waveform in Figure 3.8 to the waveform in Figure 3.10, which only changes by  $u_{DC}$  each time.

Since this waveform better approximates a sinewave compared to Figure 3.8, the THD is reduced and the motor efficiency could be slightly improved. Due to the carrier phase shifting feature of the PWM algorithm, it is often referred to as phase-shifted carrier PWM (PSC-PWM) [118]. There are also other PWM algorithms for the CHB, with considerations in different aspects [119]–[121]. However, as PWM algorithms differ little from each other in terms of the inverter efficiency, only the PSC-PWM algorithm is introduced and implemented for further simulations.



Figure 3.10: AC output voltage of one phase in the CHB following Phase-shifted carrier PWM

The descriptions above mainly focus on the discharging scenario, i.e., the energy of the batteries is converted to drive the motor. For the charging of the circuit, there are two feasible approaches. First, the CHB concept is still compatible with conventional DC charging. By making all H-bridges generate  $+u_{DC}$  (the status in the first row of Table 3.1), the battery modules are connected in series via MOSFETs, and hence form a conventional high voltage battery pack. In this case, at the output of each phase, a DC-charger can be applied following the conventional constant current constant voltage (CC-CV) scheme. The output terminals of the three phases can also be combined during charging, so that all modules can be charged simultaneously by one charger.

Second, the CHB can also be directly charged by the 400 V three-phase power grid, without using any energy conversion devices. A grid-connection control algorithm is necessary to control

the charging power and calculate the reference voltage [122]. The reference voltage is then generated following the PWM algorithm introduced above. However, as this topic is not within the scope of the research, the AC charging mechanism is not explained in detail.

#### 3.2.2 SOC Balancing of Battery Modules

As stated in section 2.1.1, for a conventional powertrain using a six-pack inverter, a master BMS and a slave BMS per battery module are needed to balance all the series connected battery cells. The energy of the cells or modules with a higher voltage is actively dissipated on resistors of the BMS, until the voltage values converge. For the CHB, however, only a slave BMS is required in each module to realize the local SOC balance within the module. The SOC of submodules can be balanced by the PWM algorithms.

To enable SOC balancing, the PWM algorithm introduced in section 3.2.1 needs slight modification. Otherwise, due to the identical reference voltage and the identical AC current, each module generates the same power, which is not able to make the imbalanced SOC converge. To balance the SOC, the power of the modules should be adjusted according to their SOC values.

This can be realized by correlating the reference voltage to the SOC of the module, eq. (3.1). Compared to the algorithm in section 3.2.1, the reference voltage of each submodule contains an item proportional to the difference between its SOC,  $SOC_i$ , and the average SOC of the all modules,  $SOC_{ave}$ .  $K_p$  is a parameter to determine the balancing speed. Its value is positive during discharge, and turns to negative during charge or regeneration. As the current of each submodule is identical, the power of the submodules is also shifted proportionally according to their SOC deviations. Hence, the SOC of all submodules tends to converge back to  $SOC_{ave}$ , once there is an identifiable deviation. The SOC balancing is thus realized by applying eq. (3.1).

$$\begin{cases} u_{\text{ref}_{i}} = u_{\text{ref}} / 2N + (SOC_{i} - SOC_{\text{ave}})K_{\text{p}} \\ i = 1, 2, ..., N \end{cases}$$
(3.1)

In general, a master BMS can also be used for module SOC balancing in the CHB, but the SOC balancing based on PWM algorithms is more advantageous. First, the hardware cost of the master BMS can be saved. Second, the imbalanced energy of the battery modules is also used to drive the vehicle, instead of being dissipated by the BMS. In the end, in most cases, the speed of balancing using eq. (3.1) is faster than a master BMS [120], because the balancing power is a portion of the system power, instead of being restricted by a dissipation resistor.

It is worth noting that the SOC balancing approach is applicable regardless of the waveform of  $u_{ref}$ . That means this approach is usable in all scenarios, including discharging, DC charging, and AC charging. Nonetheless, as the introduction of SOC balancing only aims to explain the operational mechanism of the CHB, the discussion is not extended further. Different balancing algorithms are available in the dedicated studies [114]–[117]. SOC balancing is also a main subtopic in the dissertation of a researcher from the same research institute, Mr. Felix Roemer.

### 3.3 Specifications of the CHB for Further Analysis

In the previous two sections, the CHB is first proposed as the overall concept to solve the partial load efficiency problem. Then the general operational mechanisms of the CHB are introduced,

including the PWM algorithm and module SOC balancing approach. In order to conduct quantitative comparisons to the benchmarked IGBT inverter, the general concept should be specified in the following parts of the dissertation. Therefore, this section specifies the configurations of the CHB for further discussions. The CHB is configured to match the specifications of the benchmarked IGBT inverter. This CHB will be used thereafter in the dissertation for all the quantitative investigations.

The CHB is shown in Figure 3.11. It contains three submodules per phase, and nine submodules in total. In order to match the electrical performance, the specifications must be identical to the benchmarked inverter. Therefore, in order to match the maximum continuous current of the benchmarked IGBT inverter, 600 A, six Si MOSFETs IPP100N10S3-05 are paralleled at each switch position in the CHB. The nominal voltage of each battery module is set to be 60 V, so that the maximum swing of the output AC voltage is also 360 V (-180 V to 180 V). The voltage redundancies of the two inverters are also well matched, 44.6 % for the benchmark IGBT inverter, 40 % for the CHB. The voltage redundancy is defined by the maximum voltage of the selected switch and the actual DC voltage it is blocking [98]. The match of this value manifests that the voltage of the inverter circuit, two inverters are identical. Therefore, to simulate the CHB in driving cycles, the vehicle model and the motor model in section 2.1.2 can still be used and kept unchanged.



Figure 3.11: The configuration of the CHB to be used for further analysis

It is worth mentioning that the Si MOSFET and the configurations of the instance are not specifically chosen or optimized. The MOSFET IPP100N10S3-05 is arbitrarily selected from the automotive MOSFETs family of Infineon. The 60 V nominal voltage of battery modules is also configured to match the maximum AC output voltage of the benchmarked inverter. There are many other possible configurations using different automotive MOSFETs [50]. Additionally, only because of the availability of their parameters, discrete components are used for the CHB. This is not a recommendation to use discrete components in practical implementations. Switch modules could be a better choice for practical applications [50].

The intention of comparing an arbitrarily configured CHB with the benchmarked IGBT inverter is to prove the general effectiveness of the concept. Once the improvements of the arbitrarily configured CHB are confirmed, the overall concept of the CHB can be proven to be generally advantageous as well.

Additionally, as SiC MOSFET inverters are also promising to solve the partial load efficiency problem, a SiC MOSFET inverter is added to the efficiency comparison and the cost comparison, in order to obtain an overview of the performance of different solutions. For the SiC MOSFET inverter, the switch C2M0025120D from Cree is selected, because this switch represents the state-of-art performance of SiC MOSFETs. The on-state resistance of this switch is the lowest among all the discrete SiC MOSFETs available on the market (bare dies and modules are excluded). To match the continuous operation current of the benchmarked IGBT inverter, six SiC MOSFETs are paralleled at each switch position. However, as most SiC MOSFETs are rated at either 1200 V or 900 V, the voltage redundancy is inevitably higher than that of the CHB and the benchmarked IGBT inverter.

The specifications of the three inverters to be compared are listed in Table 3.2. Besides the specifications explained above, the values of the gate resistance and the switching frequency are also provided. The value of the gate resistance influences the switching loss significantly. In order to prove that the comparison is fair for the three inverters, the values of the gate resistance are set to be the same, as shown in Table 3.2. For the switching frequency, the switching frequency of the two MOSFET inverters are 20 kHz, in order to demonstrate the high frequency capability of MOSFETs. The switching frequency of the benchmarked IGBT inverter remains 8 kHz to demonstrate the realistic performance of a state-of-the-art inverter.

Specifications	Si IGBT (Benchmark)	SIC MOSFET	СНВ
Output voltage (phase peak value)	180 V	180 V	180 V
Rated current (75 °C RMS value)	600 A	600 A	600 A
DC voltage	360 V	360 V	60 V per module
Selected switch	FS800R07A2E3	C2M0025120D	IPP100N10S3-05
Maximum voltage of the switch	650 V	1200 V	100 V
Voltage redundancy of switch	44.6 %	70 %	40%
Gate resistance	2.2 Ω	2.2 Ω	2.2 Ω
Number of submodules	1	1	9
Number of parallel	1	6	6
Total number of switches	6 (in one module)	36	216
Output switching frequency	8 kHz	20 kHz	20 kHz

Table 3.2: Specifications of the three inverters to be compared

Table 3.2 only contains the most important specification values of the three inverters. To avoid a large amount of details in the main text, more parameter values are provided in Appendix A1. With the configurations of the CHB and the SiC MOSFET inverter specified, the next chapter compares the efficiency of the three inverters quantitatively.

# **4** Efficiency

This chapter first reviews previous studies on the efficiency modelling of the CHB or other multilevel inverters using Si MOSFETs. Then based on the research gap, the loss model of the CHB is constructed. The loss of the SiC MOSFET inverter is modelled by modifying an existing model for six-pack Si MOSFET inverters. The two loss models are verified and put into the powertrain simulation model in Figure 2.4, in order to verify the efficiency improvements of the two inverters in driving cycles. In the end, the results of the CHB in terms of efficiency are discussed in detail and compared to the existing approaches discussed in chapter 2.

### 4.1 State of the Art Studies on the Efficiency of CHB

As stated in the previous chapter, although several studies also propose to use the CHB or similar circuits for BEVs, their motivations are to realize the SOC balancing via PWM algorithms, instead of the efficiency improvement. Therefore, few studies have conducted efficiency modelling or comparisons for the CHB or other cascaded multilevel inverters in BEVs.

[114]–[117] and [123], [124] propose to use cascaded multilevel inverters in BEVs to balance the SOC of each individual battery cell via PWM algorithms. Each submodule thus has only one battery cell. The energy conversion efficiency is not within the scope of their research, and is not discussed at all. Nonetheless, as a considerable amount of switches are involved to balance each individual cell, the efficiency of the circuits in [114]–[117], [123], [124] is expected to be lower than that of the benchmarked IGBT inverter.

The efficiency deterioration is also supported by the discussions in [125]. In [125], a cascaded multilevel inverter with only one battery cell per module is proposed for BEVs. The loss of the proposed inverter is modelled. The loss model is not parametrized for a quantitative assessment, but [125] still generally indicates that the efficiency of the proposed inverter is rather limited, due to the significantly increased conduction loss caused by the high number of switches.

Different from [114]–[117], [123], [124], the Si MOSFET multilevel inverters in [126]–[128] adopt battery modules instead of battery cells. Quantitative efficiency assessments are also conducted. Nonetheless, their efficiency assessments are not based on driving cycles.

[126] models the efficiency of a Si MOSFET multilevel inverter, and concludes its efficiency is comparable to a SiC MOSFET inverter at nominal load. The efficiency in the partial load area is still missing. No comparison to the IGBT inverter is conducted, either.

[127], [128] compare the efficiency of a conventional IGBT inverter and a Si MOSFET multilevel inverter. The efficiency of inverters is simulated by sweeping the power from 0 to 100 % of the maximum power, and the improvements in partial load are visible. However, such a result cannot be further converted to the efficiency in driving cycles, as a driving cycle simulation requires efficiency maps, instead of an efficiency curve. The efficiency improvement reported in [128] is

also not a good representative for the performance of the CHB, as the inverter in [128] almost always engages diodes while conducting current, and its conduction loss model thus still contains linear terms. Therefore, using the results in [128], the efficiency of the CHB tends to be underestimated.

The efficiency comparisons in driving cycles are conducted in [129], [130]. Models of vehicle and motors are developed by the two studies, in order to compare the efficiency of an IGBT inverter and a Si MOSFET multilevel inverter quantitatively in driving cycle simulations.

[129] simulates the two inverters in a compact car with driving cycles and compares their total losses. A significant loss reduction is observed in urban driving cycles. However, the 135 kW power of the motor and the two inverters tends to be oversized for the simulated vehicle with a weight of 1100 kg. The oversizing makes the inverters operate more often in the partial load area. The IGBT used for the comparison in the study is also not a state of the art model, because its zero-current forward voltage is 0.92 V. As a reference, the zero-current forward voltage of the IGBT in the reference vehicle is only 0.7 V [49]. Hence, the results could be inaccurate and biased toward the Si MOSFET multilevel inverter. Moreover, the improvement in partial load and the necessity to use Si MOSFETs are not specified in [129].

[130] compares the efficiency of two inverters in a Nissan Leaf ZE0. Driving cycle simulations are performed for the comparison as well. The efficiency improvement of cascaded multilevel inverter in the partial load area is also briefly described by [130]. Nonetheless, the configurations of the simulation in [130] are not able to accurately simulate the electric powertrain of a Nissan Leaf ZE0. First, the IGBT used for the comparison in the study is also not a state-of-the-art model. Second, the switching frequency of the IGBT is 20 kHz, much higher than the common values of automotive inverters, 5-10 kHz [131], which tends to underestimate the efficiency of the IGBT inverter. Furthermore, it is also observed that the motor used in the simulation is not an automotive motor, but an industrial motor. That can be proven by the nominal frequency of the selected motor, which is only 50 Hz. In comparison, an automotive motor is usually rated at a much higher frequency and in general more efficient [52], [132], [133]. The usage of the industrial motor model further distorts the results of the comparison.

As the energy consumption results are highly likely to be distorted, the efficiency improvement of the CHB cannot be directly confirmed by the simulation results in [129], [130]. The results in [129], [130] indicate a positive direction, but estimating the cost reduction of the CHB is not possible, because no accurate results of the energy savings can be provided. Therefore, based on the results of [129], [130], it is not possible to decide if the CHB concept is worth implementing.

Studies regarding the efficiency of Si MOSFET multilevel inverters are summarized in Table 4.1. As observed, a quantitative and accurate efficiency assessment of the CHB or similar inverters has not been conducted in a well-configured BEV powertrain model. The targets of implementing Si MOSFET multilevel inverters are also mostly not to improve the powertrain efficiency, but to use the SOC balancing capability. Hence, in previous studies, the efficiency of the inverters is only generally analyzed to prove that the efficiency is not a disadvantage. Discussions and analysis regarding the efficiency in driving cycles are limited.

To verify if the CHB is able to outperform the benchmarked IGBT inverter, a loss model of the CHB is developed in the next section. The state-of-the-art SiC inverter introduced in chapter 3 is also modelled and compared, in order to obtain an additional reference for the performance of the CHB. The accuracy of the two models is verified first. Then the two models are plugged into the powertrain model in Figure 2.4 for driving cycle simulations.

Table 4.1: Summary of the studies on the efficiency Si MOSFET multilevel inverters									
	Aspects of efficiency research in literature								
Literature	Quantitative efficiency analysis	Driving cycle simulation	Powertrain model quality						
[114]–[116], [123], [124]	Not conducted	Not conducted	No powertrain model						
[125]	Yes	Not conducted	No powertrain model						
[126]–[128]	Yes	Not conducted	No powertrain model						
[129][130]	Yes	Yes	Not well configured						

### 4.2 Approach

As there is no model directly available to evaluate the efficiency of the CHB, this section first develops the loss model for the CHB. The losses of the SiC MOSFET inverter are also modelled, following the modelling approach of a six-pack Si MOSFET inverter in [134]. The two models have the same inputs and outputs as the IGBT loss model in eq. (2.1), so that they can be easily incorporated in the powertrain simulation model in Figure 2.4 to obtain the average efficiency in driving cycles. Besides the development of the two models, their accuracy is also verified in this section.

#### 4.2.1 Loss Model of the CHB

To simplify the loss modelling, following assumptions are made. First, the CHB is assumed to use the PSC-PWM algorithm introduced in section 3.2.1. All the battery modules are assumed to be perfectly balanced, so that the DC voltage,  $u_{\rm DC}$ , of each H-bridge is identical. Combining the two assumptions together, all the MOSFETs in the CHB can be deemed working identically. Hence, each MOSFET in the CHB also has exactly the same switching loss and conduction loss. Due to the identical losses on each MOSFET, the modelling of the whole CHB can be simplified to the modelling of one MOSFET.

The conduction loss of one MOSFET is modelled first. As the MOSFET is a unipolar switch, in the turned-on state, the current can be conducted in both directions like in a resistor, either from the source node to the drain node, or in the opposite direction [129]. When the current is not high enough to turn on the anti-paralleled diode, i.e., only the MOSFET channel is conducting the current, the conduction loss on the MOSFET is the same as that on a resistor. Such a situation happens, when the voltage drop on the MOSFET channel is constantly lower than the zero current forward voltage of the anti-paralleled diode,  $u_{F0}$ , as described by the condition in eq. (4.1). R<sub>on</sub> is the on-state resistance of the MOSFET. I<sub>P RMS</sub> is the RMS value of the phase AC current.  $n_{\rm p}$  is the number of paralleled MOSFETs.

$$\sqrt{2}I_{P,RMS}R_{on} / n_{p} \ll u_{F0}$$
 (4.1)

Once eq. (4.1) holds, for a CHB composed of N submodules in each phase, as the AC current flows through 2N MOSFET channels in one phase, the conduction loss of one phase is the total loss on the 2N on-state resistors. Accordingly, the total conduction loss of three phases in a CHB,

 $P_{C_{CHB}}$ , is the loss on 6*N* on-state resistors. Considering the number of paralleled switches, the total conduction loss of the CHB can be calculated using eq. (4.2).

$$P_{\rm C_{CHB}} = 6NI_{\rm P_{RMS}}^2 R_{\rm on} / n_{\rm p} \quad \text{if} \ (\sqrt{2}I_{\rm P_{RMS}}R_{\rm on} / n_{\rm p} \le u_{\rm F0}) \tag{4.2}$$

Nonetheless, if condition eq. (4.1) does not hold anymore, the modelling of the conduction loss will be more complicated. The modelling needs to start from the conduction loss of a single MOSFET within one switching period,  $T_{\rm S}$ . As  $T_{\rm S}$  is in general much shorter than the period of the output AC voltage,  $T_{\rm AC}$ , the reference voltage and the AC current can be deemed as constants in each  $T_{\rm S}$ . Hence, the conduction loss of one MOSFET and one anti-paralleled diode can be calculated in each  $T_{\rm S}$ . Summing the conduction losses over one AC period,  $T_{\rm AC}$ , the average power of the conduction loss on one MOSFET,  $P_{\rm C_MOS}$ , and on one diode,  $P_{\rm C_Diode}$ , can be obtained. The analytical solutions are given in eq. (4.3). As the whole CHB contains  $12Nn_{\rm p}$  switches in total, the total conduction loss,  $P_{\rm C_CHB}$ , is obtained by multiplying the results of one switch with  $12Nn_{\rm p}$ .

$$\begin{cases} P_{C_{LMOS}} = 2R_{on}I_{P_{LMS}}^{2}\left(\frac{1}{8} + \frac{m_{a}\cos\theta}{3\pi}\right) / n_{p}^{2} \\ P_{C_{Diode}} = \sqrt{2}u_{F0}I_{P_{LMS}}\left(\frac{1}{2\pi} - \frac{m_{a}\cos\theta}{8}\right) / n_{p} + 2R_{d}I_{P_{LMS}}^{2}\left(\frac{1}{8} - \frac{m_{a}\cos\theta}{3\pi}\right) / n_{p}^{2} \\ P_{C_{LCHB}} = 12Nn_{p}\left(P_{C_{LMOS}} + P_{C_{Diode}}\right) \\ \text{if } \left(\sqrt{2}i_{P_{LMS}}R_{on} / n_{p} > u_{F0}\right) \\ m_{a} = \frac{U_{P}}{Nu_{DC}} \end{cases}$$
(4.3)

In eq. (4.3),  $\cos\theta$  is the power factor, following the same definition as in the model of the benchmarked IGBT inverter, eq. (2.1). Nonetheless, the definition of the modulation index,  $m_a$  is slightly different from that of eq. (2.1). For the CHB,  $m_a$  is defined by dividing the peak phase voltage,  $U_P$ , with the summed battery module voltage in one phase,  $Nu_{DC}$ , eq. (4.4). Besides, it is also worth noting that the derivation of eq. (4.3) is not trivial. The detailed derivation process is provided in a publication [50].

After obtaining the conduction loss model in two different situations, the switching loss is further modelled. For the MOSFETs, only the worst-case switching loss is modelled for simplification. During a switching-on transient of MOSFETs, in the worst case, the voltage only starts to fall when the current reaches the load current, and vice versa for a worst-case switching-off transient. Hence, in one cycle of turning-on and -off, the worst-case energy loss of one MOSFET can be calculated based on the falling/rising time of the current and voltage. For the diode, in the worst case, all the recovery charge,  $Q_{\rm rr}$ , is assumed to be transferred from  $u_{\rm DC}$  to 0 V. Such an assumption results in an energy loss of  $Q_{\rm rr}u_{\rm DC}$  in each recovery of the diode.

Multiplying the energy loss values with  $f_s$ , the worst case switching-loss of one MOSFET,  $P_{S\_MOS}$  and its anti-paralleled diode  $P_{S\_Diode}$  can be obtained as in eq. (4.5). The total switching loss of CHB,  $P_{S\_CHB}$ , is obtained by multiplying the switching loss of one MOSFET with the number of switches,  $12Nn_p$ . In eq. (4.5),  $t_{RI}$ ,  $t_{FU}$ ,  $t_{FI}$  and  $t_{RU}$  are respectively the rising time of current, falling time of voltage, falling time of current, and the rising time of voltage.

Combining eq. (4.2), (4.3), and (4.5), the total loss of the CHB can be calculated, eq. (4.6).  $f_{SO}$  is the overall switching frequency observed at the AC output. For the PSC-PWM algorithm,  $f_{SO}$ 

is 2*N* times  $f_s$  [128]. To improve the accuracy of the model, a thermal model is also implemented, following the same approach as the IGBT thermal model, Figure 2.3. All the required parameters are given in Appendix A1.

$$\begin{aligned}
P_{S_{\_MOS}} &= \frac{\sqrt{2} f_{S} u_{DC} I_{P_{\_RMS}}}{2\pi n_{p}} (t_{RI} + t_{FU} + t_{FI} + t_{RU}) \\
P_{S_{\_Diode}} &= f_{S} Q_{rr} u_{DC} \\
P_{S_{\_CHR}} &= 12 N n_{p} (P_{S_{\_MOS}} + P_{S_{\_Diode}})
\end{aligned} \tag{4.5}$$

$$P_{\text{CHB}\_\text{Loss}} = P_{\text{C}\_\text{CHB}} + \frac{6\sqrt{2}f_{\text{S0}}u_{\text{DC}}I_{\text{P}\_\text{RMS}}}{\pi}(t_{\text{RI}} + t_{\text{FU}} + t_{\text{FI}} + t_{\text{RU}}) + 6n_{\text{p}}f_{\text{S0}}Q_{\text{rr}}u_{\text{DC}}$$
(4.6)

The loss model of the CHB is derived based on the PSC-PWM algorithm, but this model is also generally applicable for other PWM algorithms without significant errors. That is because the switching loss and the conduction loss are independent of the PWM algorithm. For the switching loss, as long as the required  $f_{SO}$  of the output AC voltage is given, the total times of switch-on and switch-off per second of the whole inverter are defined. The switching loss is only determined by  $f_{SO}$ , regardless of the choice of the PWM algorithm. For the conduction loss, no matter which PWM algorithm is used, the load current still flows through the same number of switches (either diodes or MOSFETs). Hence, the total conduction loss always follows the pattern described in eq. (4.2) and (4.3). The conduction loss is not directly influenced by the PWM algorithm, either. In fact, even without the assumption of PSC-PWM, the final analytical solution still stays the same. The change of the PWM algorithm only influences the derivation process of the total loss.

The main influence of the PWM algorithm is on the heat distribution among switches. When the PSC-PWM is used, the total loss is strictly equally distributed on each switch. All the switches are thus expected to have the same junction temperature and the same parameters for the loss model. If another PWM algorithm is chosen, the switch junctions cannot have an identical temperature anymore. The thermal model implemented for PSC-PWM will inevitably cause some errors, which further leads to the errors of the parameters and the total loss. Therefore, the developed loss model in eq. (4.6) is still expected to cause insignificant errors for other PWM algorithms, although the formula is formally correct.

#### 4.2.2 Loss Model of the SiC MOSFET Inverter

In addition to the loss model of the CHB, this section also models the total loss of the state-ofthe-art SiC MOSFET inverter, to provide a better overview regarding the efficiency of different inverters. For a six-pack SiC MOSFET inverter, the pattern of the conduction loss is similar to that of the CHB. When the current is low and not able to turn on the anti-paralleled diodes, the MOSFET channels are conducting the current all the time. Thus the conduction loss of one SiC MOSFET,  $P_{C SiC}$ , and one diode,  $P_{C Doide}$ , can be calculated by eq. (4.7).

$$\begin{cases} P_{C_{SiC}} = 3R_{on}I_{P_{RMS}}^2 / n_p^2 \\ P_{C_{Diode}} = 0 \\ \text{if } \sqrt{2}R_{on}I_{P_{RMS}} / n_p \le u_{F0} \end{cases}$$

$$(4.7)$$

When the current is high enough to trigger the conduction of the anti-paralleled diodes, the formula in [134] for a six-pack Si MOSFET inverter can be used instead, eq. (4.8). As the SiC

MOSFET inverter also has the six-pack structure, the definition of the modulation index,  $m_a$ , in eq. (4.8) is the same as that in the IGBT inverter loss model, eq. (2.1).

$$\begin{cases} P_{C_{cSiC}} = 2R_{on}I_{P_{cMS}}^{2}(\frac{1}{8} + \frac{m_{a}\cos\theta}{3\pi}) / n_{p}^{2} \\ P_{C_{cDiode}} = u_{F0}\sqrt{2}I_{P_{cMS}}(\frac{1}{2\pi} - \frac{m_{a}\cos\theta}{8}) / n_{p} + 2R_{D}I_{P_{cMS}}^{2}(\frac{1}{8} - \frac{m_{a}\cos\theta}{3\pi}) / n_{p}^{2} \\ \text{if } \sqrt{2}R_{on}I_{P_{cMS}} / n_{p} > u_{F0} \end{cases}$$
(4.8)

The total switching loss of the SiC MOSFET inverter,  $P_{S_{Total}}$  is modelled differently from that of a Si MOSFET inverter, eq. (4.9). First, the recovery loss of the SiC diode is zero in the model, because the recovery loss of the SiC diode is negligible, compared to the recovery loss of Si diodes [78]. Second, the switching loss of the SiC MOSFET is not modelled directly with the rising/falling time values, because this worst-case approximation tends to over-estimate the switching loss of a SiC MOSFET significantly. Instead, a linear model is used for the switching loss, eq. (4.9), due to the linear dependence of the switching loss on current and voltage [135].

$$\begin{cases}
P_{C_{T} \text{otal}} = 6n_{p}(P_{C_{S} \text{ic}} + P_{C_{D} \text{lode}}) \\
P_{S_{T} \text{otal}} = 6n_{p}f_{s}u_{DC}(a_{SiC} + b_{SiC}\frac{2\sqrt{2}I_{P_{R} \text{MS}}}{\pi}) \\
P_{SiC_{L} \text{Loss}} = (P_{C_{T} \text{otal}} + P_{S_{T} \text{otal}})
\end{cases}$$
(4.9)

The parameters of the linear model,  $a_{SiC}$  and  $b_{SiC}$  can be obtained via a linear regression of the switching loss data in the datasheet. Adding the total conduction loss to the switching loss, the total loss of the SiC MOSFET inverter,  $P_{SiC\_Loss}$ , can be obtained, eq. (4.9). All the parameter values of the SiC MOSFET inverter are given in Appendix A1.

As the SiC MOSFET inverter and the CHB are not standard products, like the IGBT inverter, datasheet values of on-shelf products are not available to verify the accuracy of the models. Therefore, the accuracy of the models is still verified by ANSYS Simplorer. The models in ANSYS Simplorer are experimentally proven to have a high accuracy [55], [56]. Because the ANSYS models simulate detailed behaviors of semiconductors, and requires a simulation time step in microsecond level, these models are too slow for driving cycle simulations. Therefore, ANSYS Simplorer is only used for verifications, instead of being directly used in driving cycle simulations. Comparing the modelled efficiency to the results of ANSYS Simplorer, the errors of the two models are proven to be within  $\pm 1$ % at the operational points commonly used by BEVs.

Besides the verification with the accurate simulations, the accuracy of the CHB loss model is also verified experimentally on the module level. The experimental results indicate that the error of the CHB loss model is within  $\pm 1$  % at the operational points commonly used by BEVs. The verifications confirmed the loss models in this section are accurate. Hence, the modes can be used to generate accurate results in driving cycle simulations. To avoid listing a large amount of verification data in the main text, the details of verifications are provided in Appendix A2.

### 4.3 Results

Using the loss models constructed in the previous section and the powertrain model in Figure 2.4, the efficiency maps and driving cycle performance of the two inverters can be obtained. The

average efficiency of the two inverters is also defined by the energy throughput observed on the AC side of inverters, following eq. (2.4). The efficiency maps of the CHB and the SiC MOSFET are depicted in Figure 4.1 and Figure 4.2 respectively. Using the benchmarked IGBT as the reference, the maps of the efficiency improvement are also plotted.

First, according to Figure 4.1(a), a rather high efficiency in the whole range of speed is achieved by the CHB. When the motor speed is higher than 4000 1/min, compared to the benchmarked inverter, the efficiency is improved by 2-3 %, Figure 4.1(b). In the area of lower speed, the improvement is more significant. As observed in Figure 4.1(b), the efficiency improvement in comparison to the benchmarked IGBT inverter is in the range of 4-10 %, when the speed is lower than 4000 1/min, corresponding to a vehicle speed of 50 km/h. Such a range of speed is sufficient to cover most urban driving scenarios.



(b) Map of efficiency improvement compared to the IGBT

Figure 4.1: Efficiency map and the map of efficiency improvement of the CHB

Second, the SiC MOSFET inverter also enlarges the high efficiency area compared to the benchmarked IGBT inverter, Figure 4.2(a). The threshold motor speed to reach 97 % efficiency is reduced from 4000 1/min (for the IGBT inverter) to lower than 2000 1/min. However, the SiC MOSFET inverter is not able to realize an efficiency improvement in the whole map, as observed in Figure 4.2(b). When the torque is higher than 170 N m, the efficiency improvement becomes negative. Nonetheless, a motor torque of 170 N m corresponds to an acceleration of 4.68 m/s<sup>2</sup> for the reference vehicle. Even for sporty drivers, the operation points in this area are also not

frequently used [136]. Hence, in driving cycle simulations or realistic driving tests, the average efficiency can still be improved.





Figure 4.2: Efficiency map and the map of efficiency improvement of the SiC MOSFET inverter

With the improvements observed in the efficiency maps, a significant efficiency improvement can also be expected in the driving cycle simulations. The driving cycle simulation results of the SiC MOSFET inverter and CHB are respectively listed in Table 4.2 and Table 4.3. All the energy values are converted to kWh/100 km for the convenience of comparison. Their efficiency improvements and loss reductions compared to the benchmarked IGBT inverter are also included in the tables.

As expected, the efficiency of the two inverters is higher than that of the IGBT inverter in all the driving cycles. Nonetheless, the extent of the improvement is determined by the driving scenarios. The efficiency improvements of the two inverters are most significant in urban driving cycles, around 10 %, because the motor speed is almost constantly lower than 4000 1/min, Figure 4.3(a). In comprehensive driving cycles, because the vehicle only drives about 50 % of the time below 4000 1/min, Figure 4.3 (b), the efficiency improvements are comparatively lower, but still in the range of 5-8 %. However, in highway driving cycles, the improvement is limited to 2-3 %. This can be explained by the fact that the motor speed is mostly above 6000 1/min in a highway driving scenarios, Figure 4.3(c). The efficiency improvements of the two inverters are less significant in the area with a higher speed.

Driving	cycles	BEV energy consumption	Inverter loss	Inverter efficiency	Efficiency improvement	Loss reduction
	USA NECC	6.9 kWh	0.76 kWh	97.2 %	11.0 %	3.4 kWh
Urban cycles	Europe City	6.4 kWh	0.30 kWh	98.1 %	11.3 %	2.0 kWh
, U	USA City II	6.8 kWh	0.32 kWh	98.1 %	9.3 %	1.7 kWh
	FTP72	8.2 kWh	0.27 kWh	98.4 %	7.6 %	1.5 kWh
hensive	NEDC	9.9 kWh	0.17 kWh	98.9 %	7.0 %	1.2 kWh
Cycles	WLTP C3	11.8 kWh	0.17 kWh	99.1 %	5.4 %	1.0 kWh
Highway	Artemis 130	17.5 kWh	0.11 kWh	99.4 %	2.8 %	0.6 kWh
cycles	Artemis 150	18.5 kWh	0.13 kWh	99.4 %	2.9 %	0.6 kWh

Table 4.2: Driving cycle simulation results and efficiency improvements of the CHB

Table 4.3: Driving cycle simulation results and efficiency improvement of the SiC MOSFET inverter

Drivin	ig cycles	BEV energy consumption	Inverter loss	Inverter efficiency	Efficiency improvement	Loss reduction
	USA NECC	7.5 kWh	1.36 kWh	95.0 %	8.8 %	2.8 kWh
Urban cycles	Europe City	6.6 kWh	0.54 kWh	96.5 %	9.7 %	1.8 kWh
	USA City II	7.0 kWh	0.58 kWh	96.6 %	7.8 %	1.5 kWh
	FTP72	8.4 kWh	0.49 kWh	97.2 %	6.4 %	1.3 kWh
ensive	NEDC	10.0 kWh	0.31 kWh	98.1 %	6.2 %	1.1 kWh
Cycles	WLTP C3	11.9 kWh	0.31 kWh	98.3 %	4.6 %	0.9 kWh
Highway	Artemis 130	17.6 kWh	0.22 kWh	98.8 %	2.2 %	0.5 kWh
cycles	Artemis 150	18.6 kWh	0.25 kWh	98.9 %	2.4 %	0.5 kWh



(a) USA City II driving cycle speed distribution



(b) WLTP C3 driving cycle speed distribution



Figure 4.3: Motor speed distribution of different driving cycles [50]

Based on the simulation results and the verifications, it can be confirmed that the average efficiency of the CHB is generally higher than that of the benchmarked IGBT inverter, due to the significant efficiency improvement in the partial load area. Hence, one objective of the design, to improve the inverter efficiency, is successfully achieved by the CHB.

Another finding of the simulation is that the CHB also slightly outperforms the SiC MOSFET inverter in driving cycle simulations. To understand the results better, the CHB and the SiC MOSFET inverter are further discussed in the next section. Besides, the CHB is also compared to the other existing approaches summarized in chapter 2, in terms of the efficiency improvement.

### 4.4 Discussion

With the improvement of the CHB confirmed in the previous section, this section further compares the CHB to the existing solutions to the partial load efficiency problems. The comparison covers all three categories of methods discussed in chapter 2. The influences of the CHB on the efficiency of the battery and the motor are also discussed.

#### 4.4.1 Comparison of SiC MOSFET Inverter and CHB

The SiC MOSFET inverter and the CHB are both able to outperform the IGBT inverter in terms of efficiency. Nonetheless, as shown in Table 4.3 and Table 4.2, the efficiency improvement of the SiC MOSFET inverter is relatively lower than that of the CHB. To explain the reason, the total switching losses and conduction losses of the two inverters per 100 km in different driving cycles are listed in Table 4.4 and analyzed.

In Table 4.4, it is first observed that the total conduction losses of the two inverters are similar in all the driving cycles. The difference in the efficiency cannot be explained by the conduction loss. The reason is that the equivalent on-state resistance values of the two inverters are rather close. Following the configurations in Appendix A1, the total on-state resistance in one phase of the CHB is 4 m $\Omega$ , while the resistance per phase of the SiC MOSFET inverter is 4.17 m $\Omega$ . Moreover, due to the high efficiency of the two inverters, their junction temperatures should be close to the ambient temperature. Hence, the on-state resistance values of the two inverters do not diverge much, even when considering the influence of the junction temperatures.

The difference in average efficiency is mainly attributed to the difference in switching losses between the two inverters. According to Table 4.4, although the switching loss of the SiC

MOSFET inverter is 75-80 % lower than that of the IGBT inverter in all the driving cycles, it is still significantly higher than the switching loss of the CHB, by a factor of 3-4.

That is because the SiC MOSFETs switch the whole DC link voltage, 360 V, while the Si MOSFETs in the CHB only turn on or off at the module DC voltage, 60 V. In addition, to reach the same switching frequency in the output AC voltage, the total times of switching of the two inverters are identical. That means each H-bridge switches much less frequently compared to the SiC MOSFET inverter, but the observed switching frequency in the output voltage waveform stays the same, because the switching of each H-bridge is aggregated in the AC output [118]. Therefore, theoretically, the switching loss of the SiC MOSFET inverter is 6 times the switching loss of the CHB. Nonetheless, as the SiC material lowers the energy loss per switching cycle, this factor is reduced from 6 to around 3-4, as observed in Table 4.4.

Based on the detailed analysis, the reduced switching loss is identified as the main reason for the higher efficiency of the CHB. Although the SiC MOSFET inverter uses more advanced semiconductor materials, the CHB still prevails due to the advanced circuit design. Hence, the effect of improving circuit design could be more significant than the effect of only using advanced switches.

Driving	IGBT Inver	ter losses	SIC MOSFET II	nverter losses	CHB inverter losses		
cycles	Conduction	Switching	tching Conduction	Switching	Conduction	Switching	
USA NECC	0.72 kWh	3.45 kWh	0.53 kWh	0.84 kWh	0.50 kWh	0.26 kWh	
Europe City	0.33 kWh	1.98 kWh	0.15 kWh	0.40 kWh	0.15 kWh	0.15 kWh	
USA City II	0.32 kWh	1.76 kWh	0.19 kWh	0.38 kWh	0.19 kWh	0.13 kWh	
FTP72	0.27 kWh	1.45 kWh	0.17 kWh	0.32 kWh	0.16 kWh	0.11 kWh	
NEDC	0.19 kWh	1.20 kWh	0.08 kWh	0.23 kWh	0.08 kWh	0.09 kWh	
WLTP C3	0.18 kWh	1.02 kWh	0.09 kWh	0.22 kWh	0.09 kWh	0.08 kWh	
Artemis 130	0.12 kWh	0.61 kWh	0.07 kWh	0.16 kWh	0.07 kWh	0.04 kWh	
Artemis 150	0.14 kWh	0.61 kWh	0.09 kWh	0.15 kWh	0.08 kWh	0.04 kWh	

Table 4.4: Switching and conduction losses of the three inverters in different driving cycles

#### 4.4.2 Comparison to DC Voltage Shifting Approaches

After the comparison with the SiC MOSFET inverter, the CHB is also compared to the DC voltage shifting approaches [63]–[72] in the reference vehicle. As these approaches aim to reduce the IGBT switching loss by shifting the DC link voltage, their improvements can be calculated based on the switching loss profiles and the AC voltage profiles of the benchmarked inverter, which are already obtained in driving cycle simulations.

Additionally, for the approaches capable of adjusting voltage continuously [63]–[70], the efficiency of DC/DC conversion is assumed to be a constant, 98 %, which is rather optimistic but achievable with the state-of-the-art design [67]. For the approach shifting DC voltage by actively reconfiguring the battery pack [71], [72] (battery pack switching), the battery pack is assumed to

be able to provide full DC link voltage  $u_{DC}$  and half DC link voltage  $u_{DC}/2$ . The losses on the switches in the battery pack are negligible, according to the results in [71].

Applying the calculation method and the assumptions, the efficiency improvement,  $\Delta \eta$ , and the energy consumption reduction,  $\Delta E$ , of each DC voltage shifting approach are obtained and summarized in Table 4.5. The reference of the comparison is still the benchmarked IGBT inverter in the reference vehicle. The reduced energy consumptions are converted to kWh/100 km. Negative values mean deterioration of the efficiency and energy consumptions. Due to the optimistic assumptions implemented, the improvements of the two voltage shifting approaches should be able to represent their best-case results. The efficiency improvements and energy consumption reductions of the CHB are also included in Table 4.5, for the convenience of comparison.

As visible in Table 4.5, the efficiency improvement of the CHB is more significant than that of the DC voltage shifting approaches in [63]–[72]. In urban and comprehensive driving cycles, the efficiency improvement of the CHB is approximately 100 % higher than the improvements of the other two approaches. Correspondingly, the reduction of the energy consumption is also much more significant. In highway driving cycles, the advantage of the CHB concept is more obvious. The improvements of the DC voltage shifting approaches are negligible or even negative, while the CHB can still realize a significant improvement.

The reason for the outperformance of the CHB is that the DC voltage shifting approaches only reduce the switching loss of IGBTs in low speed scenarios. The switching loss stays unchanged when the vehicle is driving at a high speed, because the inverter requires a full DC link voltage in this case. Another reason is that the conduction loss of the IGBT inverter is not reduced at all by the DC voltage shifting approaches. In fact, according to the simulation results in Table 4.4, the conduction loss of the IGBT inverter is already higher than the total loss of the CHB in all driving cycles. Therefore, even if the DC voltage shifting approaches could eliminate the switching loss of the IGBTs, the achieved efficiency improvements would still be lower than that of the CHB.

Driving	Continuous v	oltage shifting	Battery pa	ck switching	CI	СНВ		
cycles	$\Delta\eta$	$\Delta E$	$\Delta\eta$	$\Delta E$	$\Delta\eta$	$\Delta E$		
USA NECC	7.2%	2.35 kWh	5.4%	1.79 kWh	11.0 %	3.4 kWh		
Europe City	6.4%	1.21 kWh	5.4%	1.04 kWh	11.3 %	2.0 kWh		
USA City II	4.7 %	0.90 kWh	4.4%	0.86 kWh	9.3 %	1.7 kWh		
FTP72	3.1 %	0.65 kWh	3.2%	0.68 kWh	7.6 %	1.5 kWh		
NEDC	2.2%	0.44 kWh	2.5%	0.49 kWh	7.0 %	1.2 kWh		
WLTP C3	0.8%	0.16 kWh	1.5 %	0.30 kWh	5.4 %	1.0 kWh		
Artemis 130	-1.2%	-0.29 kWh	0.3 %	0.08 kWh	2.8 %	0.6 kWh		
Artemis 150	-1.4%	-0.31 kWh	0.4 %	0.08 kWh	2.9 %	0.6 kWh		

Table 4.5: Improvements of DC voltage shifting solutions and the CHB, compared to the IGBT inverter

Additionally, the two types of DC voltage shifting approaches are also compared with each other. In urban driving cycles, the battery pack switching approach is less effective than the continuous shifting approaches. The reason is that the battery pack switching approach is not able to generate a DC voltage lower than  $u_{\rm DC}/2$ . The DC voltage cannot perfectly adapt to the low speed in urban driving scenarios.

In comprehensive driving cycles, the efficiency improvements of the two DC voltage shifting approaches are similar, in the range of 1-3%. That is because high-speed scenarios and low-speed scenarios are approximately equally encountered in these driving cycles, and the features of the two approaches are not well manifested.

In highway driving scenarios, the efficiency improvement of continuous voltage shifting approaches turns to be negative, because the additional loss on the DC/DC conversion components becomes more significant and deteriorates the system efficiency. The improvements of the battery pack switching approach are still positive, but close to zero, due to the sparsity of the opportunity to reduce the DC voltage. Therefore, these two types of approaches are more appropriate for vehicles designed for urban and comprehensive driving scenarios, while they are not preferred in highway driving scenarios.

To summarize, in all driving scenarios, the efficiency improvement of the CHB is higher than the best-case improvements of the DC voltage shifting approaches. Moreover, the CHB is generally more advantageous, while the applicability of the DC voltage shifting approaches is restricted to urban or comprehensive driving scenarios. Specifically, according to the analysis, the continuous voltage shifting approaches are more suitable for low speed urban driving, while the battery pack switching approach is more appropriate for the comprehensive driving cycle with a mid-level speed.

#### 4.4.3 Comparison to the Low Voltage Si MOSFET Inverter

Compared to the multiphase Si MOSFET inverter with a low voltage DC link [96], [97], the efficiency of the CHB is expected to be similar. That is because both concepts use low voltage Si MOSFETs, and the power handled by each submodule in the two concepts is similar. A detailed explanation is provided below.

First, the submodules in the two inverters are expected to perform similarly in terms of efficiency, as the basic submodules in both inverters are half bridges composed of low voltage Si MOSFETs. The submodule efficiency is mainly defined by the switch characteristics. Second, on the system level, in most cases, the system efficiency of the two concepts is the same as their submodule efficiency. That is because the whole system power is uniformly distributed to each half bridge in both inverters, unless specific control algorithms are implemented to change the power distribution significantly.

The uniform power distribution of the CHB is explained in section 3.2, while the control of the multiphase inverter is introduced in [96]. Therefore, combining the two factors, the two inverters are expected to have a similar system efficiency, when they are controlled by common algorithms. If improved algorithms are implemented to enhance the efficiency of the two inverters, the efficiency difference between the two inverters can slightly increase. Nonetheless, as the efficiency of both inverters is already rather close to 99 %, the expected deviation is limited.

Besides the similarity of the load distribution and submodule performance, the two concepts are also linked in terms of the circuit design. In fact, the concept of multiphase low voltage inverter

can be also deemed as a flattened version of the CHB. By rewiring the motor, inverter and the battery pack, a multiphase system can actually be converted to a CHB system, while the current and voltage of each MOSFET or motor winding are not changed at all.

An example of the rewiring is demonstrated in Figure 4.4. After the rewiring, four phases of a multiphase system are converted into a single-phase CHB system, which has two modules in cascade. The first step is to disconnect the motor and the inverter, and reconnect the star-shape connected windings in series, from Figure 4.4 (a) to (b). The second step is to split the DC link and form two H-bridges with the four half-bridge modules, from Figure 4.4 (b) to (c). The two H-bridges are also connected in series. The last step rearranges the layout of the circuit and obtains the common drawing of one phase of the CHB concept. No rewiring is conducted in this step.

After this rewiring process, at a certain operation point of the motor, each motor winding and each MOSFET still have the same voltage and current in terms of RMS value. Therefore, the two systems theoretically have exactly the same efficiency at all the operational points. The phase angle of the current is inevitably changed by the rewiring process, as the connection of the motor windings is changed from star-shape connection to series connection. Nonetheless, as long as the RMS values are kept the same, the efficiency of the system is expected to be unchanged.



Figure 4.4: Converting a multiphase inverter to a single-phase CHB by rewiring

The differences between the two designs are in terms of their ohmic losses on the DC side and their control strategies. On the one hand, due to the low voltage DC link, the low voltage multiphase solution inevitably has higher ohmic losses on the cables and connectors on the DC side. On the other hand, the multiphase design has more degrees of freedom to control the motor, which can further optimize the efficiency [97]. However, as the two effects counter balance each other, on system level, the two solutions are still expected to have a similar performance in terms of efficiency.

To summarize, a multiphase Si MOSFET inverter with a low voltage DC link should have a rather similar efficiency map, compared to the CHB using the same number of MOSFETs. To conclude which solution is more appropriate for a specific scenario, aspects other than the efficiency need to be considered. As this chapter focuses on the efficiency, the discussion is not extended further.

#### 4.4.4 Influence on Battery Loss and Motor Loss

The previous modelling and discussions focus purely on the efficiency of the inverter. In fact, the change of the inverter design can also slightly influence the losses on the batteries and the motor. As the CHB does not have a DC link and creates ripples in the battery current, the ohmic losses of the batteries could be increased. For the motor, because the CHB results in a lower THD compared to six-pack inverters, the copper loss of the motor caused by the harmonic current tends to be reduced. Therefore, this section investigates the battery loss and motor loss before and after implementing the CHB, in order to understand its impact on the system level efficiency.

First, for a high simulation speed, the ohmic losses of the batteries are not directly simulated in a circuit simulation software. Instead, the ohmic losses are calculated based on the equivalent circuit model (ECM) of battery cells, and the ripple current models of the CHB and the IGBT inverter. The cell ECM is parameterized according to the impedance spectrum of a 35 Ah lithium nickel manganese cobalt oxide (NMC) cell [137], which could better approximate the performance of the large NMC cells used in the reference vehicle. With the ECM, the resistance of the battery cells for current at different frequencies can be obtained.

The current ripples caused by the CHB are assumed not filtered at all. The RMS values of the ripples can be calculated by eq. (4.10), based on the average current of the batteries,  $I_{bat\_ave}$ . It mainly contains ripple components at two frequencies, the switching frequency and the AC frequency. Combining the ripple components with the corresponding battery resistance, the total ohmic losses of the batteries in the CHB are obtained. The switching frequency ripple model is developed by [138].  $I_{bat\_S\_RMS}$  and  $I_{bat\_AC\_RMS}$  are respectively the RMS values of the switching frequency ripples and AC frequency ripples.  $R_{bat\_DC}$ ,  $R_{bat\_fs}$  and  $R_{bat\_AC}$  are respectively the resistance of the batteries for the DC current, the switching frequency ripples, and the AC frequency ripples. To avoid the derivation details, the derivation of the low frequency ripples is given in Appendix A3.

$$\begin{cases}
I_{bat_{RMS}} = \frac{2I_{bat_{ave}}}{\cos\theta} \sqrt{\frac{1 + (1/3)\cos 2\theta}{\pi m_{a}}} \\
I_{bat_{s_{RMS}}} = \frac{2I_{bat_{ave}}}{\cos\theta} \sqrt{\frac{24 - 6\pi m_{a} + (8 - 3\pi m_{a})\cos 2\theta}{24\pi m_{a}}} \\
I_{bat_{s_{RMS}}} = \sqrt{I_{bat_{ave}}^{2} - I_{bat_{ave}}^{2} - I_{bat_{s_{RMS}}}^{2}} \\
I_{bat_{ac_{RMS}}} = \sqrt{I_{bat_{ave}}^{2} - I_{bat_{ave}}^{2} - I_{bat_{s_{RMS}}}^{2}} \\
P_{bat_{ohmic}} = R_{bat_{DC}}I_{bat_{ave}}^{2} + R_{bat_{fs}}I_{bat_{s_{RMS}}}^{2} + R_{bat_{ac}}I_{bat_{ac_{RMS}}}^{2} \end{cases}$$
(4.10)

For the IGBT inverter, only the switching frequency ripples need to be considered. To obtain the RMS value of the ripple current,  $I_{bat_S_RMS}$ , the model in [139] is used to calculate the RMS value of the envelope of voltage ripples,  $\Delta v_{pp}$ , on the DC-link capacitance,  $C_{DC}$  (475 µF for the benchmarked inverter).  $r_{ppIGBT}$  is a factor to determine the envelope of the ripples. For simplification, assuming the ripple current is triangle wave, the RMS value of the ripple current triggered by the ripple voltage can also be obtained eq. (4.11). Together with the corresponding

resistance values of the cells, the formula for the battery pack ohmic loss can be obtained. The details of the derivation are also in Appendix A3. Inserting the two models developed above into the driving cycle simulation framework, the ohmic losses of the batteries can be obtained. The results are in Table 4.6. All the energy values are still converted to kWh/100 km values for the convenience of comparison.

$$r_{\rm ppIGBT} = -1.09m_{\rm a}^{2} + 0.74m_{\rm a}$$

$$\Delta v_{\rm pp} = \frac{\sqrt{2}I_{\rm AC\_RMS}r_{\rm ppIGBT}}{3C_{\rm DC}f_{\rm S}}$$

$$I_{\rm bat\_S\_RMS} = \Delta v_{\rm pp} / R_{\rm bat\_fs} / 3$$

$$P_{\rm bat\_ohmic} = R_{\rm bat\_DC}I_{\rm bat\_ave}^{2} + R_{\rm bat\_fs}I_{\rm bat\_s\_RMS}^{2}$$
(4.11)

Second, the copper loss of the motor caused by the harmonic current is also simulated. The harmonic components in the AC current of the two inverters are calculated using the double Fourier analysis approach in [140] and [141]. The results in different driving cycles are provided in Table 4.6 as well. The harmonic current can indeed deteriorate other losses in the motor as well. Nonetheless, due to the limit of the research scope, only the copper loss on the stator windings is calculated in the discussion.

In the end, adding the ohmic loss of batteries and the harmonic loss of the motor into the overall loss of the inverters, the efficiency improvement of the CHB on system level,  $\Delta \eta_{sys}$ , can be obtained. The combined influence of batteries and the motor on the system efficiency,  $\Delta \eta_{BM}$ , is also calculated. The results are collected in Table 4.6. It is first observed that the efficiency improvement on the inverter level is similar to that on the system level. Except for the USA NECC driving cycle, where the efficiency improvement is decreased by 2.10 %, all the other driving cycles only lead to a difference below 0.3 %. That means the CHB has rather little influence on the total loss of the batteries and the motor. Nonetheless, the insignificance is only on the system level, because the changes of the two types of losses counterbalance each other. When checking each individual type of loss, the influence of the CHB is remarkable.

	IGBT						
Driving cycles	Battery ohmic loss	Harmonic copper loss		Battery ohmic loss	Harmonic copper loss	$\Delta\eta_{ m BM}$	$\Delta \eta_{ m sys}$
USA NECC	0.20 kWh	0.13 kWh		0.46 kWh	0.03 kWh	-2.10%	8.9%
Europe City	0.07 kWh	0.12 kWh		0.15 kWh	0.03 kWh	0.24 %	11.5 %
USA City II	0.09 kWh	0.12 kWh		0.20 kWh	0.03 kWh	-0.16 %	9.1 %
FTP72	0.11 kWh	0.11 kWh		0.23 kWh	0.02 kWh	-0.25 %	7.4%
NEDC	0.11 kWh	0.10 kWh		0.17 kWh	0.02 kWh	0.27 %	7.3%
WLTP C3	0.18 kWh	0.09 kWh		0.26 kWh	0.02 kWh	-0.02%	5.4%
Artemis 130	0.41 kWh	0.07 kWh		0.46 kWh	0.00 kWh	0.07 %	2.9%
Artemis 150	0.35 kWh	0.07 kWh		0.39 kWh	0.00 kWh	0.08%	3.0 %

Table 4.6: Simulated battery losses and the corresponding influence on efficiency improvements

Compared to the IGBT inverter, the CHB almost doubles the battery ohmic losses in all the urban and comprehensive driving cycles. In highway driving cycles, the difference is less significant. The higher ohmic losses in urban driving cycles are caused by the higher amplitude of the current ripples at a low speed. According to ripple formulas in eq. (4.10), the amplitude of the ripple is inversely proportional to the square root of  $m_a$ . Hence, the amplitude of the ripples increases as the speed is lower, which results in a higher battery ohmic loss in low speed driving cycles.

In terms of the copper loss caused by the harmonic current, the CHB outperforms the IGBT inverter, due to the much lower THD of the multilevel voltage waveforms. In all the driving cycle simulations, the harmonic copper loss caused by the IGBT inverter is around 0.1 kWh/100 km, while the CHB can decrease this loss by 0.07 kWh. Such a reduction of the harmonic copper loss corresponds to an efficiency improvement of around 0.5 %.

Based on the simulation results, the CHB is confirmed to have a positive influence on the motor efficiency and a negative influence on the battery efficiency. Nonetheless, as the two effects are not significant and they can cancel each other, the efficiency improvement of the CHB on the system level is approximately the same as the improvement on the inverter level.

However, in practical implementations, the system level improvement of the CHB is expected to be higher. On the one hand, for a lower battery ohmic losses, the high frequency ripples in the CHB can be easily reduced, either via hardware filtering at a low cost, or via control algorithms to suppress ripples [142], [143]. The battery ohmic losses in the simulation rather demonstrate the worst case of the CHB. On the other hand, the loss reduction in the motor caused by the CHB is underestimated in the simulations, because the simulations only consider the copper loss caused by the harmonics. According to the experiments in [144], the iron loss caused by the harmonics is similar to the harmonic copper loss, and it is even more sensitive to the THD [145]. Hence, the simulations roughly underestimate the reduction of the harmonic losses by about 40-50%. Combining the two factors discussed above,  $\Delta\eta_{sys}$  of the CHB in pratical implementations is expected to be 0.5-1% higher than the results in Table 4.6.

To summarize the discussions, the inverter designs using MOSFETs are generally more efficient than the DC voltage shifting approaches, which still use IGBTs. Compared to the SiC MOSFET inverter, the CHB still prevails at a switching frequency of 20 kHz, due to the low DC voltage of the submodules. Compared to the low voltage Si MOSFET multiphase inverter proposed by [96], the CHB is expected to have a similar performance, because of their similarities in terms of the circuit design.

On the system level, the CHB is expected to influence the efficiency of the motor and the batteries slightly. Nonetheless, the summed influence is rather insignificant and could be positive in practical implementations. Therefore, even considering the whole powertrain system, the CHB still outperform most of the existing approaches in terms of efficiency.

However, this chapter only discusses the efficiency of different solutions. To decide if a solution is worth implementing or not, the cost of the solution should also be assessed, as the primary goal of improving the partial load efficiency is to reduce the cost of BEVs. Therefore, the next chapter conducts an investigation on the cost of inverters and powertrain systems.

## 5 Cost

As the fundamental motivation of the research is to reduce the cost of BEVs by improving the inverter efficiency, the costs of the benchmarked IGBT inverter and the CHB are modelled in this chapter. The SiC MOSFET inverter simulated in chapter 4 is also added to the cost comparison to provide a complete analysis. In addition to the costs of the inverters, the influence of the inverters on the system cost is discussed as well, which is the determining factor in this dissertation to decide if a novel inverter concept should be implemented.

For the purposes stated above, this chapter first summarizes previous studies regarding the costs of power electronic systems. Then the model for the cost assessment of BEV inverters is developed based on the existing studies. The costs of the three inverters are obtained based on the models of different components. In the end, the performances of the three inverters in different scenarios are discussed. In this chapter, only the capital costs or purchasing costs of the inverters and BEVs are discussed. The operational costs and the total cost of ownership are not within the scope of the research.

### 5.1 State of the Art

A number of studies discussed in chapter 2 also pointed out a higher efficiency is capable of reducing the system cost of BEVs. However, a detailed cost assessment to verify the claims is only sparsely visible in a few studies.

Among the DC voltage shifting approaches, only the cost of the solution proposed in [71], [72] is calculated. As a continuation of [71], [72], which propose to discontinuously shift the DC voltage by actively switching the battery pack configuration, [146, p. 87] estimates the cost of the proposed approach based on the cost of the prototyping. Besides, a mass-production cost of the solution is also estimated by extrapolating the retail prices on electronic components distribution websites.

The cost of the low voltage Si MOSFET multiphase inverter (proposed by [96]) is discussed in [147]. The costs of connectors, cables and insulations are considered in the assessment. The system cost of the solution is compared to that of a Tesla Model S.

The cost of the SiC MOSFET inverters is investigated by more studies. [78], [83], [148] qualitatively compare the system costs of a SiC MOSFET inverter and an IGBT inverter, without giving specific values of cost. [85] conducts a quantitative comparison, but the comparison only considers the costs of the switches. The retail prices of the switches are also used by the comparison, which tends to overestimate the price difference between a Si IGBT and a SiC MOSFET.

On the system level, [149] models the life cycle costs of a SiC MOSFET circuit, based on a crudely estimated price of switches. The comparison is biased toward the cost of switches. The

possibilities to reduce the costs of cooling and to downsize passive components are neglected. A cost estimation of a SiC MOSFET DC/DC converter is provided in [80], in which the influences on the cooling system and passive components are incorporated. Nonetheless, the cost values are not directly used for the cost assessment. Instead, [80] uses the amount of required materials as a cost indicator, in order to compare a Si IGBT converter and a SiC MOSFET converter.

In the studies discussed above, it is observed that the prices of the components, especially the cost of the semiconductor switches, are obtained via individual surveys and approximations. These values could be still considerably different from the OEM purchasing prices. Moreover, because the individual surveys are possible to include the fluctuations of the market status or the marketing strategies of component distributors, the obtained results could also lack in generality and are only applicable for a certain specification. If the specifications of the solution change, the surveys should be conducted again to verify if the solution is worth implementing.

Therefore, the existing approaches based on individual surveys are not appropriate to calculate the cost of the CHB, as the CHB is proposed as a general concept and could be configured differently in different vehicles. To better simulate the OEM purchasing prices and to develop a general approach to assess the cost of the CHB concept, the cost values should be obtained from cost models.

Fortunately, as cost modelling itself is an active topic, there are a few existing studies focusing on the cost modelling of power electronic systems and components. [150] proposes to model the price of high voltage (650-1200 V) semiconductor switches based on the die size, material type and the packaging type, which well manifests the production procedure of the switches. As a continuation of [150], the costs of passive components and cooling devices of power electronic systems are further modelled by [151]. The cost models are proposed based on the production procedure of each component and verified by the real data. The models developed by [151] are implemented in [135], in order to compare the costs of different photovoltaic converters. Furthermore, based on the component cost models in [150], [151], an approach to holistically model the cost of a high voltage inverter is proposed by [152]. This system cost model takes the costs of casing and assembly into consideration as well. Cost models for low voltage components can be found in [153], but the validation and the economic background of the models are not discussed.

According to [150]–[153], the components that have a significant influence on the inverter cost are given in Table 5.1. The item L/C refers to the passive components in the main circuit, i.e., inductors and capacitors. The item ICs (integrated circuits) refers to the sensors, communication chips and microcontrollers required by the controlling mechanism of the inverter, besides the gate drivers. The coverage of the cost models in the literature is also marked in Table 5.1.

				Coverage of	main cost iten	15				
Cost models	Main cost items of an automotive inverter									
in literature	Switch	Driver	L/C	ICs	Cooling	Manufacturing				
[150]	Х									
[151]	Х		Х	Х	Х	Х				
[152]	х	х	Х	Х		Х				
[153]	х		Х							

Table 5.1: Inverter cost models and their coverage of main cost items

The available cost models in [150]–[153] are able to calculate the cost of any IGBT automotive inverters. For the SiC MOSFET inverter, the model is still usable, but some parameters need to be updated. However, for the CHB, the cost models are not directly applicable anymore. That is because the CHB follows a distributed layout, while the inverter systems assessed in the previous studies all follow a concentrated layout, i.e., the whole system is assembled together in a single casing. The costs of the components in the CHB, e.g., ICs, heatsinks and passive components, should be calculated differently. Hence, a cost model for the CHB should be reconstructed from the component level.

Moreover, it is also worth noting that modelling the cost of the CHB is not simply combining the existing component cost models. The corresponding component models should first be parametrized appropriately according to the performance and specifications of the CHB, before using the component cost models to evaluate the system costs

As a summary, for the cost assessment of the CHB, the studies regarding the efficiency improvement have not provided an approach to generate accurate and generally valid results. The existing cost models are also not directly applicable, due to the structural change of the CHB concept. To obtain the cost of the CHB and assess its influence on the system cost of BEVs, additional modelling efforts are still necessary. The existing cost models and component configuration approaches should be adapted to calculate the cost of the CHB. Such an adapted approach will be explained in the next section.

## 5.2 Approach

In order to compare the costs of the benchmarked IGBT inverter, the SiC MOSFET inverter and the CHB, a cost model for automotive inverters is developed in this section, based on the component models in [150]–[153]. As stated in the previous section, the models [150]–[153] can directly calculate the cost of six-pack IGBT inverters. The purpose of developing a new model is mainly to adapt the cost models to the CHB concept, and update the necessary parameters for the SiC MOSFET inverter. The construction of the cost model mainly consists of two steps. First, the cost models of the components are adapted, i.e., adapting the models of the six main cost items in Table 5.1 for the CHB and SiC inverter. Second, the adapted component models are combined to calculate the system costs.

#### 5.2.1 Component Cost

First, for the switch cost,  $C_{switch}$ , the model in [151] is generally applicable for all types of high voltage switches, eq. (5.1).  $C_{package}$  is the package cost,  $c_{Die}$  is the unit cost of the die, and  $A_{Die}$  is the size of the die inside the switch. For SiC MOSFETs, the model can be directly used, as all the necessary parameters are already given in [151].

$$C_{\text{switch}} = C_{\text{package}} + c_{\text{Die}} A_{\text{Die}}$$
(5.1)

For low voltage Si MOSFETs in the CHB, the model is still reasonable to use, as it is developed based on the production procedure of switches. Nonetheless, the unit price of the dies and the price of packages should be re-parametrized for low voltage Si MOSFETs. Due to the planar structure of low voltage Si MOSFETs and the similarity of price [98], this dissertation uses the unit price of PiN diode dies given in [151] for the Si MOSFET dies. The package cost is

determined mainly by the size of the package [151]. By the regression analysis and extrapolation of the costs of different packages given in [151], the cost of different switches can be obtained using the package sizes given in the datasheets. The Si MOSFET cost model developed by [153] is not adopted in this dissertation, because the verification and the economic background of this model are not as clear as those in [151]. The parameters to use the model are also not provided.

Second, the cost of gate drivers,  $C_{GD}$ , should also be modelled differently for different inverter concepts. The driving circuit of the CHB and the IGBT inverter can be cheaper than that of the SiC MOSFET inverter. That is because Si switches (IGBTs and MOSFETs) usually only require a common supply of ±15 V to turn on and off [154], while SiC MOSFETs require a gate voltage set of +20 V/-5 V [155], [156] for a safe switch on and off. An isolated ±15 V DC source is rather standard and cheap due to the effect of economies of scale. The DC sources with unsymmetrical outputs, however, are mostly only customized for gate driving purposes, and are more expensive, as observed on the website of corresponding manufacturers [157], [158]. The drivers of SiC MOSFETs also require dedicated designs to suppress the EMI. Therefore, in the cost assessment, instead of giving a constant unit price as the output, the cost model of drivers should take the material of the switches as input and alter the unit price of the driver accordingly. Additionally, it is worth noting that the IGBTs work the best with +15 V/-10 V gate voltage [159]–[161], which is also the configuration in most inverters on the market. However, in this dissertation, it is assumed that the IGBTs use the same drivers as the Si MOSFETs do, to form a worst-case scenario for the CHB and examine if the CHB is still advantageous.

The adaption of the capacitor cost model is relatively simple. The SiC MOSFET inverter is assumed to have the same DC-link capacitor as the benchmarked IGBT inverter, a 475  $\mu$ F, 450 V film capacitor, because this capacitance value is already rather low even for the SiC MOSFET inverters and should not be further reduced [37]. Subsequently, using the linear cost model developed by [151], the capacitor cost,  $C_{cap}$ , can be calculated by eq. (5.2).  $U_{cap}$  is the rated voltage of the capacitor.  $C_{DC}$  is the capacitance. The three coefficient,  $\alpha_{cap}$ ,  $\alpha_{Vcap}$  and  $\alpha_{Ccap}$  are given in [151], based on a linear regression.

For the CHB, the cost of the capacitor is zero, as indicated in eq. (5.2), since each H-bridge in the CHB is closely coupled to the battery module and does not need a large DC-link capacitor for voltage stabilization, Figure 3.11. Even considering the filtering capacitors for the current ripples, the cost of capacitors in the CHB is still negligible. As it is impractical to filter the low frequency current ripples [50], the filtering capacitors should only target the switching frequency ripples, and thus have a rather small capacitance. Due to the limited module voltage, the voltage rating of these capacitors is also low. Therefore, compared to the six-pack inverters, the capacitor cost of the CHB is negligible, even considering the filters for switching frequency ripples.

$$C_{\rm cap} = \begin{cases} \alpha_{\rm cap} + \alpha_{\rm Vcap} U_{\rm cap} + \alpha_{\rm Ccap} C_{\rm DC} & \text{if not CHB} \\ 0 & \text{if CHB} \end{cases}$$
(5.2)

Fourth, the cost model of ICs is also adapted. For the SiC MOSFET inverter, the cost of the ICs for circuit control is approximately the same as that of an IGBT inverter, because they both use the six-pack structure. However, for the CHB, the cost of ICs should be recalculated. In addition to the central controller, each H-bridge module also needs an additional controller (usually CPLD, complex programmable logic device) to process the commands from the central controller. Additionally, as the CHB follows a distributed layout, communications via wires could bring large interferences to the control circuit. Hence, a cascaded multilevel inverter like the CHB often uses fiber optic communication for the control of switches and transmission of sensor information.

Considering the factors discussed above, the cost of ICs,  $C_{IC}$ , can be calculated by eq. (5.3).  $C_{CMCU}$  is the cost of the central controller.  $c_{CPLD}$  and  $c_{FBR}$  are respectively the unit cost of the CPLD and the fiber optic communication set. *N* is the number of H-bridge submodules. For sixpack inverters, *N* is zero. The IC costs of the three inverters can be obtained by eq. (5.3).

$$C_{\rm IC} = C_{\rm CMCU} + N(c_{\rm CPLD} + c_{\rm FBR})$$
(5.3)

For the cost of cooling devices,  $C_{\rm HS}$ , only the heatsinks are considered, as automotive inverters are liquid cooled and do not require fans. For the SiC MOSFET inverter, after resizing the heatsink using the model in [162], the heatsink cost model in [151] is directly applicable, as the SiC MOSFET inverter also follows the six-pack structure. For the CHB, because each H-bridge module requires an individual heatsink, the cost model in [151] needs further adaption. First, using the maximum loss per module,  $P_{\rm loss_max}$ , and the models developed in [162], the required volume of the heatsink of each module,  $V_{\rm HS}$ , can be obtained. Then based on  $V_{\rm HS}$ , the cost model in [151] can provide the cost of cooling devices in each module. Multiplying the number of modules with the cooling cost per module, the overall cost of cooling devices in the CHB system can be obtained.

The cooling costs of the three inverters can be calculated by eq. (5.4).  $N_{\rm HS}$  is the number of heatsinks in the inverter. For six-pack inverters,  $N_{\rm HS}$  is always one. For the CHB,  $N_{\rm HS}$  equals the number of submodules, N.  $P_{\rm loss\_max}$  is the maximum power dissipated via each heatsink. The coefficients of the cost model,  $c_{\rm fix HS}$  and  $c_{\rm V HS}$ , are obtained by [151] via a linear regression.

$$\begin{cases} C_{\rm HS} = N_{\rm HS} (c_{\rm fix\_HS} + c_{\rm V\_HS} V_{\rm HS}) \\ V_{\rm HS} = f (P_{\rm loss\_max}) \end{cases}$$
(5.4)

In the end, the manufacturing cost is also considered. In this dissertation, the modular structure of the CHB is assumed not to influence the manufacturing cost, because modular designs have been widely adopted by the current inverters as well. Instead of directly using one high-power switch, the IGBT inverters usually connect several small six-pack inverters in parallel to reach a higher power. An example, Figure 5.1, shows a 100 kW state-of-the-art automotive inverter with two 50 kW modules in parallel, produced by Brusa Elektronik [49]. By changing the number of submodules, products with different power ratings are made available [49].



DC input bus bars of the two modules

Figure 5.1: Internal structure of a modularized 100 kW state-of-the-art IGBT inverter

Therefore, it is reasonable to use the overhead factor 1.25 of IGBT inverters [152] to estimate the manufacturing cost of the CHB as well. For the SiC MOSFET inverter, [152] suggests using 1.1 as the overhead factor to incorporate the manufacturing cost. This overhead not only includes the cost of manufacturing, but also includes the cost of other comparatively cheaper components, e.g., connectors, printed circuit boards (PCB) and housing.

#### 5.2.2 Inverter Cost and System Cost

Summing up the costs of all the components and multiplying the result with the manufacturing overhead factor, the capital cost of the inverter,  $C_{inv}$ , can be obtained, Figure 5.2. Due to the adaptions of the component cost models, the model in Figure 5.2 is applicable for all the three inverters to be compared in this chapter. The parameters of the three inverters are given in Appendix B. For a differently configured CHB or the other two types of inverters, the model in Figure 5.2 is still generally applicable, as long as the selected switch is known and simulated. Therefore, the cost model Figure 5.2 does not rely on individual investigations to calculate the cost of different inverters.



Figure 5.2: Block diagram of the cost model for the SiC MOSFET, CHB and IGBT inverter

Besides the capital cost of the inverter, the system cost is also modelled, to evaluate the influence on the cost of the vehicle. As it is impractical and unnecessary to analyze the cost of each component in the reference vehicle, only the parts that could be influenced by the inverter selection are identified and analyzed.

First, the inverter selection influences the cost of batteries. To reach the nominal range of the reference vehicle (300 km rated by the WLTP C3 driving cycle [163]), a more efficient inverter requires less battery capacity, due to the reduced energy consumption. The battery cost using a

certain inverter can be obtained by multiplying the corresponding energy consumptions for the 300 km range with the battery cost.

Second, the cost of contactors is also influenced by the inverter design. For a six-pack inverter, two high voltage high current contactors are usually necessary, one on the positive side and another on the negative side of the DC link respectively [164]. That is because the battery pack of the six-pack inverter has an always-on high voltage. For safety, the battery pack should be disconnected from other components when the vehicle is deactivated [147]. The necessity of disconnection is regulated in the norm ECE R100 [165].

For the CHB, however, contactors are not certainly necessary, as there is no presence of an always-on high voltage in the system. Even if it is still desired to completely disconnect the battery modules from the H-bridges during idling time, cheap Si MOSFET relays can be used to replace the expensive mechanical contactors, because of the low voltage. Therefore, in general, the cost of contactors in the CHB can be neglected. Nonetheless, to calculate the worst-case cost of the CHB, it is still assumed that each H-bridge is equipped with a low voltage mechanical contactor at the positive output of the battery module. More specifically, nine contactors in total are required for the CHB discussed in this dissertation.

In the end, the cost of the cables or bus bars could also be different for the CHB and the sixpack inverters, due to the structural difference. However, as the difference is not easily quantifiable and the prices of cables and bus bars are comparatively low, this part of the cost is not counted in the system cost. The other components in the powertrain system are assumed not to be influenced by the inverter design.

Based on the former analysis, the system cost used to compare inverter designs,  $C_{\text{sys}}$ , can be calculated by eq. (5.5).  $c_{\text{bat}}$  is the unit price of batteries on the pack level in USD/kWh.  $R_{\text{veh}}$  is the nominal range of the vehicle in kilometer.  $b_{100\text{km,el}}$  is the energy consumption per 100 km in the WLTP C3 driving cycle.  $c_{\text{contactor}}$  and  $N_{\text{contactor}}$  are respectively the unit price and the number of contactors required by the selected inverter design.

$$C_{\rm sys} = c_{\rm bat} R_{\rm veh} b_{100\rm km,el} / 100 + c_{\rm contactor} N_{\rm contactor} + C_{\rm inv}$$
(5.5)

It should be noted that the  $C_{sys}$  obtained in eq. (5.5) is not the overall powertrain system cost or the vehicle cost.  $C_{sys}$  is only the total cost of the parts that can be considerably influenced by the choice of inverters. The absolute value of  $C_{sys}$  is not relevant for the cost assessment. The main purpose of  $C_{sys}$  is to compare the  $C_{sys}$  values of different inverters and thus quantitatively determine whether a solution for efficiency improvement is cost-effective. The cost reduction or increase caused by a certain solution can also be determined based on  $C_{sys}$  values.

### 5.3 Results

Substituting the parameter values in Appendix B into the cost model in Figure 5.2, the capital costs of the three inverters are obtained in Table 5.2. The component costs of the inverters are also included to make the cost analysis more transparent. U/P means the unit price and Qty refers to the quantity of the components used in each inverter. All the currency values are in USD. This result has already been released in a publication [50].

In Table 5.2, it is observed that the higher efficiency of the CHB and SiC MOSFET inverter is also associated with a higher capital cost. Compared to the cost of the IGBT inverter, the CHB is almost 50 % more expensive, while the SiC MOSFET inverter costs more than double. The high price of the SiC MOSFET inverter can be explained by the high cost of the switches, which is two times higher than the cost of the IGBT, four times higher than the cost of the Si MOSFET. The per-current cost of the SiC MOSFET used in Table 5.2 is 0.28 USD/A. This value is already an optimistic estimation of the current price in large quantities, according to a prediction published by Cree [166, p. 24], one of the main SiC MOSFET manufacturers.

The CHB also has a higher cost compared to the IGBT inverter, but the higher cost is not caused by the switches. Although much more switches are used by the CHB, due to the extremely low unit price of the Si MOSFET, the switch cost of the CHB is actually lower than that of the IGBT inverter. The cost of the CHB is mainly increased by the cost of gate drivers and ICs. The unit costs of the gate drivers in the CHB and the IGBT are the same, but the CHB needs much more gate drivers, as the number of individually controllable switches is higher. Hence, the total driver cost of the CHB is six times that of the IGBT inverter. Furthermore, due to the implementation of the fiber optic communication system and CPLDs, the cost of ICs in the CHB is also much higher. A detailed cost break down of the ICs and gate drivers can be found in [50] to jusify the cost values in Table 5.2.

Table 5.2: Capital cost of the IGBT inverter, the SIC MOSFET inverter and the CHB [50]											
Costs	IGBT				SIC MOSFET				СНВ		
	U/P	Qty	Sum U/P Qty Sum U/P		Qty	Sum					
Switch cost	296.6	1	296		28.1	36	1011.6		0.94	216	203.4
Driver cost	6.5	6	39		11	6	66		6.5	36	234
Capacitor cost	30.3	1	30.3		30.3	1	30.3		-	0	0
Heatsink cost	17.3	1	17.3		14.9	1	14.9		1.8	9	16.2
IC cost	150	1	150		150	1	150		300	1	300
Overhead cost			133.3				127.3				188.6
Inverter total sum			666				1400				942

Conital aget of the LCRT investor, the SiC MOSEET investor and the CUR [50]

Due to the higher cost of the CHB and the SiC MOSFET inverter, it cannot be directly decided whether the CHB or the SiC MOSFET inverter is cost-effective. To make the decision, the system cost of the two inverters should also be assessed. Using eq. (5.5), the system cost of the three inverters are calculated and provided in Table 5.3. The cost breakdown of each inverter is also listed in Table 5.3. All the cost values are still in USD. The quantity of the battery is defined by the energy consumption to drive 300 km following the WLTP C3 driving cycle. The value of unit battery cost used in this dissertation is 165 USD/kWh, which is the pack level cost for smaller cells in 2017, estimated by [26]. More scenarios of battery cost are covered in the discussion. The unit cost values of the contactors are the distributor quotation values in large quantities [50].

As already mentioned in the previous section,  $C_{svs}$  is not an indicator of the overall powertrain cost, because it only considers the cost terms that could be influenced by the choice of the inverter. Nonetheless, once the choice of the inverter is changed from the IGBT inverter to
another solution, the change of the  $C_{sys}$  value,  $\Delta C_{sys}$ , is a good indicator for the reduction or increase in the BEV cost. If the BEV cost is reduced,  $\Delta C_{sys}$  will be a positive value, vice versa.

Compared to the benchmarked IGBT inverter, the cost reduction,  $\Delta C_{sys}$ , of the SiC MOSFET inverter is negative, -288 USD. That means implementing the SiC MOSFET inverter in the reference vehicle increases the overall cost by 288 USD. Hence, as of now, the SiC MOSFET inverter is not a cost-effective solution. Although the battery cost is reduced by 507 USD, it is still insufficient to pay off the high price of SiC MOSFETs. To break even with the IGBT inverter in the reference vehicle, the cost per SiC MOSFET needs to decline by 29%, to 20.1 USD, corresponding to a per-current price of 0.20 USD/A. Such a cost could be achieved in the future, if the 6-inch or even larger wafers are used in mass productions [167, p. 30].

. . . . .

Table 5.3: System cost of the three inverters for comparison											
Results generated	IGBT			SIC MOSFET				СНВ			
WLTP C3 cycle	U/P	Qty	Sum		U/P	Qty	Sum		U/P	Qty	Sum
Inverter cost	666	1	666		1400	1	1400		942	1	942
Battery cost	165	38.4	6336		165	35.7	5890		165	35.4	5841
Contactor cost	37	2	74		37	2	74		20	9	180
C <sub>sys</sub>			7076				7364				6936
$\Delta C_{\rm sys}$			0				-288				113

A positive cost reduction is achieved by the CHB. According to the  $\Delta C_{sys}$ , the implementation of the CHB in the reference vehicle could result in a cost reduction of 113 USD. That is because the decrease in the battery cost is similar to that of the SiC MOSFET inverter, while the capital cost of the CHB is much lower.

It is worth noting that the CHB inverter also reduce the weight of the vehicle due to the reduced battery capacity, which can further reduce the energy consumption of the vehicle and thus the system cost. Using the energy density of the battery in the reference vehicle, 175 Wh/kg [168], the CHB reduces the weight of the vehicle by 17 kg. Consequently, the required battery capacity to reach the nominal range of 300 km can be further reduced to 35.1 kWh. Hence, the final cost reduction realized by the CHB is 162.5 USD, 49.5 USD higher than that in Table 5.3. The additional cost reduction due to the weight reduction effect is not incorporated in Table 5.3, in order to demonstrate the improvement of the CHB in the worst case,

Another worst-case assumption for the CHB implemented in Table 5.3 is that each H-bridge submodule is equipped with an expensive mechanical contactor. In practical implementations, the contactor is not necessarily required for the low voltage modules [147]. Additionally, the cost of the IGBT inverter is also estimated rather conservatively. Therefore, when implementing the CHB concept in BEVs, the cost reduction is expected to be even higher.

In this section, the costs of the three inverters are compared in the reference vehicle with a specific battery price. The results can thus only determine that the CHB is worth implementing in this specific scenario. To enhance the generality of the CHB concept and investigate its applicability in more scenarios, a parameter sensitivity analysis is necessary. Another concern regarding the cost values in this section is the accuracy of the efficiency. As observed in Table

5.3, the system cost of the three inverters is highly influenced by the battery cost, which is rather sensitive to the efficiency of the inverters. Hence, it is questionable if the CHB is still able to pay off its capital cost, considering the  $\pm 1$  % error of simulations. The two concerns will be discussed in the next section.

### 5.4 Discussion

To holistically investigate the cost reduction associated with the CHB concept, this section first considers the influence of the possible errors arising from the driving cycle simulations and calculates the cost reduction in an extreme worst-case scenario. This calculation is followed by a parameter sensitivity analysis to evaluate the scenarios with a different battery cost, nominal range, and driving cycles, as these factors highly influence the system costs.

#### 5.4.1 Cost Reductions Considering Efficiency Accuracy

As the cost calculations in Table 5.3 are sensitive to the energy consumption, the accuracy of the efficiency can significantly influence the system cost. Therefore, before choosing the inverter solution based on the  $\Delta C_{sys}$  values in Table 5.3, it is still necessary to consider the possible errors of the efficiency in the simulations.

The efficiency in this dissertation is defined based on the energy throughput of the inverter, as in eq. (2.4). Hence, in driving cycle simulations, the percentage error of the efficiency is the same as the percentage error of the total energy consumption of the BEV. As the error of the simulated efficiency is verified to be within  $\pm 1$  % (in Appendix A2), the maximum and the minimum energy consumptions of each inverter can be obtained by multiplying 1.01 and 0.99 with the corresponding values in Table 5.3. Accordingly, for each inverter, the maximum and the minimum of the system cost can also be determined. The results are provided in Table 5.4.

Results generated	IGBT			SIC MOSFET			СНВ			
WLTP C3 cycle	min	min max		min	nin max		max	min		
Inverter cost	666	666	_	1400	1400		942	942		
Battery cost	6273	6399		5831	5949		5782	5896		
Contactor cost	74	74		74	74		180	180		
C <sub>sys</sub>	7013	7139		7305	7423		6904	7018		

Table 5.4: The maximum and minimum of the system costs for the three inverters in USD

According to the results in Table 5.4, even the minimum cost of the SiC MOSFET system cost is still higher than the maximum of the CHB the IGBT system costs. The SiC MOSFET inverter is thus confirmed surely not a cost-effective choice for the reference, given the current price of SiC MOSFETs. To make the minimum of the SiC MOSFET inverter break even with the supremum of the IGBT inverter, the cost per SiC MOSFET still needs to decrease by 16.5 %, to 23.5 USD. This switch cost corresponds to a per-current price of 0.235 A/USD, which is possible to realize rather recently by choosing the SiC MOSFETs with a lower voltage rating [166] (the implementations of 6-inch wafers would still take some time [167, p. 30]). Therefore, with an

optimal design, the SiC MOSFET inverter might be able to break even with the IGBT inverter in the near future.

As for the CHB, comparing the maximum of the CHB cost and the minimum of the IGBT inverter cost, the CHB system is only 5 USD more expensive than the IGBT inverter system. That means the worst-case CHB is still close to break even with the IGBT inverter, when considering the worst-case errors of the efficiency. Hence, it can be confirmed that the cost reduction of the CHB is not a result of simulation errors.

Additionally, the results in Table 5.4 also indicate that the accuracy is rather important for the studies on efficiency improvement. An efficiency error of 1 % could already considerably change the system cost of the proposed solution, and thus influence the choice of the solution. If the error of efficiency further grows, the system cost intervals of different solutions will increasingly overlap. Consequently, the system costs of different solutions cannot be differentiated anymore, and it will be even more difficult to decide which solution is the most cost-effective.

#### 5.4.2 Parameter Sensitivity Analysis

In the comparisons above, the specifications of the reference vehicle are strictly taken and the CHB is proven to be cost-effective for the specific scenario. However, as shown in Table 5.3, the cost is sensitive to the total cost of batteries, which could be influenced by the nominal range, the battery price and the selected driving cycle for range rating. Therefore, a sensitivity analysis regarding each parameter is necessary, so that the applicability of the CHB can be generally examined in different vehicle concepts and at different battery costs. In the sensitivity analysis, the worst-case assumption of the contactor cost is loosened, to demonstrate a common scenario. The contactors of the three inverters are not included in the system costs in this section.

First, the sensitivity of the system costs to the battery price is analyzed for the three inverters. In Table 5.3, the unit price of the battery is the current cost of small cells on the pack level [26]. As the cost of the battery has been continuously declining, it is reasonable to assume that the price of the battery will be even lower in the future. Moreover, using larger cells in the future can also reduce the battery cost on the pack level [26]. According to the results in [26], by using 60 Ah cells, the battery cost on pack level is expected to reduce to 105 USD/kWh in 2030. Therefore, to simulate the possible changes of the battery cost, the system costs of the three inverters are recalculated by sweeping the battery price value in an even larger interval, from 70 USD/kWh to 220 USD/kWh. The  $C_{sys}$  curves of the three inverters are plotted in Figure 5.3.



Figure 5.3: The system costs of the three inverters when battery unit cost varies

For the reference vehicle, due to the high price of the SiC switches, the SiC MOSFET inverter is constantly more expensive than the benchmarked IGBT inverter, even when the battery price reaches 220 USD/kWh. Therefore, in the future, SiC MOSFETs will be even less preferred in terms of cost, if the SiC MOSFETs cannot become cheaper rapidly.

For the CHB, as long as the battery price is higher than 92 USD/kWh on the pack level, the CHB is a better choice than the benchmarked IGBT inverter for the reference vehicle. If the battery price drops further down in the future, the CHB will not be able to reduce the cost for the reference vehicle anymore. Nonetheless, according to the survey in [26], since the pack-level cost of batteries is not going to reach 92 USD/kWh in the near future, the applicability of the CHB for the reference vehicle will be valid for a rather long time.

In addition, if the cost of batteries declines further in the future, another trend can be foreseen is that the nominal range of the BEVs will increase, instead of being restricted to 300 km. Such a trend will also be in favor of solutions with a higher efficiency. Hence, the sensitivity of the system costs to the nominal range is also worth exploring. The sensitivity analysis regarding the nominal range is conducted by sweeping the nominal range from 100 km to 800 km, rated by WLPT C3 driving cycle. 800 km may seem to be an unnecessarily high value, but it might be preferred in the future, since the range rated by driving cycles is lower than the real range, especially in winter or summer periods with a heavy usage of the HVAC (heating, ventilation, and air conditioning) system [169]–[171]. The result of the range sweep is presented in Figure 5.4. The battery price is kept constant at 165 USD/kWh.



Figure 5.4: The system costs of the three inverters when the rated range varies

As the nominal range increases, the inverters with a high efficiency become more and more preferable, because the reduced battery capacity requirement becomes more significant. For the CHB, as long as the rated range is higher than 167 km, it can break even with the benchmarked IGBT inverter. Hence, the CHB is generally recommendable for different BEVs, because many BEVs nowadays have a nominal range above 200 km. As the nominal range further increases in the future, the improvement of the CHB will become more significant.

For the SiC MOSFET inverter, the threshold range to break even is 494 km. Therefore, given the current price of SiC MOSFETs, the SiC MOSFET inverter should only be used in high-end BEVs with a rather long nominal range. As the SiC material gradually becomes cheaper in the future, the SiC MOSFETs will be applicable for more vehicle concepts.

To better illustrate the results, Figure 5.3 and Figure 5.4 are merged into a map and illustrated in Figure 5.5. In the coordinate of the rated range and the battery cost, each point is marked by

the inverter design that can achieve the lowest system cost. With this map, once the nominal range and the battery cost are given, the most preferable inverter (in terms of the system cost) can be rapidly decided.

In Figure 5.5, the SiC MOSFET inverter does not outperform the other two inverters at any point, due to the currently high price of SiC switches. The benchmarked IGBT inverter can achieve a lower system cost when the WLTP range is lower than 400 km and the cost of the battery is sufficiently low. The CHB prevails in most of area of Figure 5.5. As long as the nominal range is higher than 400 km, in the evaluated range of the battery cost, the CHB is surely able to reduce the cost of the reference vehicle.



Figure 5.5: The prevailing scenarios of IGBT and CHB, SiC not preferred in the whole range

Furthermore, the prevailing area of the CHB also covers almost all the possible scenarios in the future. On the one hand, a nominal range above 400 km could be rather common for BEVs in the future. Even nowadays, the nominal range of many BEV models has already surpassed this value. On the other hand, the cost of the battery on the pack level is unlikely to become lower than 70 USD/kWh in the nearby decades [26]. Due to the increasing costs of the raw materials, even optimistic predictions are not foreseeing a battery cost lower than 70 USD/kWh costs. Therefore, the CHB is expected to be generally preferable in the future.

Another factor worth discussing is the driving cycle to rate the nominal range. In the discussions above, all the nominal range values are rated by the WLTP C3 driving cycle, which is the standard driving cycle to quantify the nominal range of BEVs [163]. Nonetheless, it is still possible that different vehicle concepts rate the nominal range with other driving cycles. Therefore, as the last part of the sensitivity analysis, the influence of driving cycles is also discussed. The system costs of the three inverters are recalculated based on the 300 km energy consumption in different driving cycles, following the same approach as used for the WLTP driving cycle in Table 5.3. The cost of the battery is still kept at 165 USD/kWh. The obtained system costs are plotted in a bar chart, Figure 5.6.

When using the four driving cycles with a lower average speed, i.e., from USA NECC cycle to FTP 72 cycle on left side of Figure 5.6, to rate the range, the SiC MOSFET inverter and the CHB are both able to reduce the overall cost, because more partial load operations are involved in these driving cycles. In the other four driving cycles with a higher speed, the SiC MOSFET inverter cannot achieve cost reductions anymore.

In comparison, the system cost reductions of the CHB inverter are visible in all driving cycles, due to the low capital cost and the high efficiency improvement. Even when rating the range with

the two highway driving cycles, the CHB is still able to reduce the cost for the reference vehicle. One reason is the considerable efficiency improvement of the CHB in highway driving cycles. The relatively high battery price used to obtain Figure 5.6 also partly contributes to the cost reductions in highway driving cycles. Considering the lower battery price in the future, the CHB might not be able to reduce the cost for vehicle concepts that rate their ranges with high-speed driving cycles. However, as discussed in [172], the majority of vehicles in the future will still be driving in urban environments. It is highly unlikely that the highway driving cycles will be widely implemented to rate the range of BEVs.



Figure 5.6: System costs for the three inverters using the energy consumption of different cycles [50]

To summarize this section, considering the analysis of the simulation error and the parameter sensitivity, the general applicability of the CHB is proven. Even in the worst case, by improving the efficiency, the CHB is still able to reduce the system cost for a variety of vehicle concepts.

Moreover, it is worth noting that the configuration of the CHB used in this chapter is not optimal. In practical implementations, it is necessary to search for the optimal configuration for the targeted vehicle concept, e.g., the optimal number of modules and the optimal choice of MOSFETs, in order to achieve the highest cost reduction for the system. Besides, the cost assessment in this chapter does not consider the reduced energy cost as well, which could be more significant than the reduced battery cost in the long run. The optimization of the circuit parameters and the operation cost are not within the scope of this research. Nonetheless, they are main subtopics in the dissertation of Mr. Felix Roemer, a Ph.D. candidate from the same institute. The optimally configured CHB for the reference vehicle and its influence on the total cost of ownership can be found in this dissertation.

After the investigations in chapter 4 and 5, it can be concluded that the main goals of the research, i.e., improving the partial load efficiency and reducing the cost of BEVs, are achieved by the CHB concept. However, before practical implementations, there are still several concerns regarding the CHB concept. First, as mentioned in the discussion of chapter 4, the battery current in the CHB contains large ripples, because of the change in the circuit structure. Besides the slightly increased ohmic losses, it is unknown whether the current ripples could accelerate the aging of the batteries. Second, the reliability of the CHB could also be questionable, as a much higher number of components, especially switches, are used in the CHB. These two concerns will be investigated in detail in the next two chapters.

## 6 Influence on Battery Aging

A typical current waveform of one battery cell in the CHB is depicted in Figure 6.1, where positive current implies the discharge of the battery cell. The current of the batteries contains low frequency ripples and switching frequency ripples, as mentioned in the discussion of chapter 4. The reason for the low frequency ripples is that the battery modules in the CHB are only providing power for a single phase [173], [174]. The switching frequency ripples in the current are generated by the PWM process, because the batteries are directly connected to the switches. Both types of ripples might be able to accelerate the aging of lithium batteries.



Figure 6.1: Measured current waveform of one cell in the CHB when the power factor is 0.8

First, from a conventional point of view, the switching frequency ripples might be able to accelerate the aging, because of their high C-rate, which is identified as one of the driving factors for battery aging in multiple studies [173], [174]. In Figure 6.1, the average discharge current is only 2.4 A, but the peak value of the switching frequency ripples is 9.09 A. Such a peak value is only instantaneous. However, it is not certain if the repetitive high C-rate of the switching frequency ripples is harmful to battery cells.

Second, if the power factor is not strictly 1.0, due to the phase lag of the AC current, the battery cells in the CHB will be temporarily charged while the CHB is driving the motor. As the temporary charge happens twice in each AC period, they are referred to as double-frequency ripples [173]. Compared to the cells discharged by DC current, the double-frequency ripples create micro charge and discharge cycles, and thus increase the charge throughput of cells. As the total charge throughput is proven to be one of the most significant driving factors for the aging of batteries, the double-frequency ripples are also suspected to be harmful to batteries. The cycle

life of battery cells might be consumed much faster in the CHB, due to the existence of the double-frequency ripples.

Due to the concerns over the two types of current ripples, it is necessary to investigate whether the current waveform of the CHB really accelerates the aging of lithium batteries. If identified to be significantly harmful to lithium batteries, the CHB concept should be reconsidered, as the batteries have the highest cost among all the components in a BEV.

## 6.1 State of the Art

In previous studies, the switching frequency ripples and the double-frequency ripples are mostly deemed as harmful to the battery cells. This can be proven by the availability of literature focusing on the suppression of the current ripples in single-phase power supply systems, e.g., on-board chargers [175]–[184]. In a single-phase system, if not filtered at all, the current waveform of batteries will be the same as in Figure 6.1. The studies regarding the ripple suppression have not experimentally verified that the ripples can damage batteries. Instead, the damages of ripples are mostly only claimed in the introduction part, by quoting the assertions in other studies.

However, after extensive investigations on the directly cited studies in [175]–[184], it is found out that most supporting studies are not supported by experimental investigations, either. Even tracing back to the most original sources quoted in these studies, only [185]–[187] are found to have conducted experiments with ripple current. Nonetheless, in [185], [186], the ripple current was implemented on lead-acid batteries or fuel cells. Hence, the obtained results are not applicable for the CHB to be used in BEVs, which adopts lithium-ion batteries.

Among the original sources, [187] is found to have tested lithium battery cells with ripple current. In [187], the experiment measures the electrochemical efficiency and the temperature of the cells, when the cells are tested by current ripples. The results indicate that the differences caused by ripples is rather minimal. No long-term test is conducted to investigate the influences of the ripples on the battery aging. Therefore, the damages of the ripple current to lithium batteries claimed in [175]–[184] are not concretely supported by experimental results.

If not restricting the shape of the current ripples to be exactly the same as Figure 6.1, a few more studies are found to have generally investigated the influence of ripple current in long-term battery aging experiments [188]–[193]. The ripple current waveforms in these studies are formed by superimposing a ripple current to a constant DC current.

[188] tests 2 Ah lithium cobalt oxide (LiCoO2) cells with square wave current in float charging state. The square waves have an amplitude of  $\pm 1$  A and the frequencies of the waveforms vary from 1 Hz to 10 kHz. In the experiment that lasted 147 days, if the frequency of the current waveform is 100 Hz or higher, the ripples show no impact on the battery aging. For cells tested by ripple with a frequency of 10 Hz or even lower, an additional capacity loss of about 7 % is observed. Therefore, [188] concludes that ripples are not harmful to the batteries, as long as the frequency is higher than a corner value. In the case of [188], the corner frequency is 10 Hz.

[189] investigates the influence of 120 Hz half sinewave ripples [189]. In each cycle, the tested cells are charged by the ripple current until the SOC is 80 %, and discharged by constant DC current until the SOC equals 30 %. After 250 test cycles, compared to the cells only tested by the constant DC current, the capacity losses of the cells charged by ripple current are on average

0.55 % higher. However, as the difference is low, the study does not confirm any concrete impact of the current ripples.

An aging test is conducted in [190] using the same ripple current waveform as in [189]. In each cycle, lithium battery cells are charged by ripple current, and then discharged on a resistor until 2.8 V. After 2000 cycles, the capacity losses of the DC-charged cell and the ripple-charged cell are respectively 15.1 % and 16.3 %. An additional capacity loss of 1.2 % is attributed to the ripple current. However, [190] deems this additional capacity loss as acceptable. As only two cells are tested, the generality of the conclusion could also be limited.

[191] tests the influence of switching frequency ripples in a DC/DC converter [191]. Using two filter configurations, two 8 kHz ripple waveforms with different amplitudes, 37.5 A and 1 A respectively, are generated. The two current waveforms are applied on two 40 Ah battery packs. A slightly higher capacity loss is observed on the pack tested by the higher ripples. Nonetheless, [191] concludes the difference is not directly caused by the ripples, but by the increased cell temperature, which could have been eliminated with an improved cooling. [191] explains the finding with the intrinsic equivalent double-layer capacitors (EDLC) of the batteries, which can effectively filter the switching frequency ripples.

[192] superimposes sinusoidal ripples at different frequencies onto a constant DC current to test the influence on the battery aging. The frequencies of the ripples are respectively 10 Hz, 55 Hz, 254 Hz and 14.8 kHz. Their amplitudes are fixed at 0.6 C. Based on the experimental results, [192] concludes that the capacity fade and the impedance increase become more significant, as the frequency of the ripples grows.

The most recent result regarding the influence of ripples is published by Brand et al. in late 2018 [193]. NMC cells are tested, and the waveforms of the ripple current are generated by superimposing a sinusoidal current of  $\pm 0.2$  C onto a 0.225 C DC current. In the experiment, an additional capacity loss is observed on the ripple-tested cells. However, the difference is within 1 %. The difference starts to appear after the first 50 cycles, and does not increase further as the test goes on. Therefore, Brand et al. suggests that battery cells can tolerate the current ripples.

Besides the direct experimental investigations, [193] also systematically summarizes and compares the results in previous studies, especially the experimental results in [188]. [193] reveals that the battery aging is not significantly influenced by ripples, as long as the temperature is kept the same as that of the cells tested by DC current. The contradictions with [188] are mainly explained by the difference in the method of cell capacity measurement.

The configurations and conclusions of experiments in [188]–[193] are summarized in Table 6.1. In the column of conclusions, neutral means no influence identified, while negative means negative influences of the ripple current are concluded. The features of the current waveform in Figure 6.1 are also added to the last row for comparison. It is observed that the test configurations and the conclusions of existing studies are rather inconsistent. [193] indicates that the inconsistency of conclusions is caused by the thermal management and measurement methods in different experiments, and that current ripples are generally not harmful to batteries.

Nonetheless, due to the differences between the ripple waveform in [193] and the ripple waveform in the CHB, the conclusions in [193] are not directly applicable for the batteries in the CHB, although its analysis is detailed and convincing. First, compared to the sinusoidal ripples with a single frequency in [193], the ripple current in the CHB is a compound of multiple frequencies, as visible in Figure 6.1. An additional compound effect of different frequencies is still possible.

Second, the peak value of the ripples in the CHB is much higher than those in [188]–[193]. It is not easy to confirm if the conclusion in [193] still holds, when the amplitude of the ripples becomes higher.

Third, the most significant difference is that the battery current in the CHB crosses zero frequently, and hence forms a large amount of micro cycles. Similar micro cycles do not exist in the waveforms of the previous studies, except for [188], as visible in Table 6.1. That means the ripples in [189]–[193] do change the charge throughput, which is one of the most important driving factors of the battery aging. In the analysis of [193], however, this factor is only briefly mentioned when explaining the contradictions with [188].

Hence, due to the difference in ripple waveforms, the findings in [193] cannot be directly applied for the batteries in the CHB. As a concrete conclusion cannot be drawn based on previous experimental studies, a specific investigation for the ripple current in the CHB is still necessary.

Table 6.1:	The configurations of experiments in previous studies regarding the influence of ripples									
	Configurations of experiments									
Experiments	Shape	Micro cycles	Frequency	Maximum ripple amplitude C-rate	Waveform mean C-rate	Conclusion				
[188]	square	Х	1 Hz-10 kHz	0.5	0	negative				
[189]	half sine		120 Hz	0.25	0.3	neutral				
[190]	half sine		120 Hz	0.52	0.67	neutral				
[191]	triangle		8 kHz	1	0.75	neutral				
[192]	sine		10 Hz-14.8 kHz	0.6	0.8	negative				
[193]	sine		1 Hz-30 kHz	0.2	0.225	neutral				
Figure 6.1	compound	Х	200 Hz&10 kHz	2.5	0.8	-				

Additionally, for the investigation on the ripple current in the CHB, the existing battery aging models [194]–[197] are not capable of generating a concrete conclusion, due to the limit of the time resolution and modelling approach. Existing battery aging models in [194]–[197] are parametrized by regressing the measured capacity and impedance in aging tests. The time resolution is limited to the cycle level. The obtained models are not able to incorporate the influence of high frequency ripples. Furthermore, in an aging simulation, the conventional ECM [47] is often used to provide inputs to the cell aging models. However, according to the experimental results in [193], the ECM tends to neglect the filtering effect of the battery cells and significantly overestimate the aging.

As a dedicated investigation is not possible to be conducted via simulations, an experimental investigation for the CHB is necessary, so that the long-term influences of the current waveform in the CHB can be monitored. In the next section, the configurations of such a long-term experiment of battery cells will be introduced, including the design of the testing hardware and the parameters of the waveforms.

## 6.2 Approach

To enable the experimental investigation, a test rig is designed, due to the lack of commercial testing equipment to generate the desired high frequency current waveforms. After introducing the design of the testing hardware, the configurations of the aging experiment are specified. The purposes of the experimental configurations are further explained.

#### 6.2.1 Design of the Testing Hardware

To test the aging behavior of the batteries in the CHB, there are three important requirements for the testing hardware. First, the hardware must be able to change the current rapidly according to the command, so that an undistorted high frequency current waveform can be generated to resemble the waveform in Figure 6.1. Second, the generated waveform must be accurate. Otherwise, the results might be influenced by the inaccuracy of the current waveform. Third, the hardware must be able to do the cycling test automatically and stay thermally stable. As the experiment is expected to last several months, manual interference in every cycle must be avoided.

However, after a thorough search, no commercial equipment is able to meet the requirements, particularly the requirement of high frequency compatibility. The high frequency current generator only supports sinewaves with a low amperage [198, p. 173], which is specifically designed for the impedance tests instead of aging tests. Furthermore, the commercial equipment cannot generate the micro cycles in the current waveform, due to the lack of bidirectional output capability. Hence, the high frequency current waveform in Figure 6.1 cannot be generated by commercial equipment. A set of specifically designed hardware is thus required.

Nonetheless, to design a dedicated test rig, it is not wise to put cells directly in H-bridges and discharge to a load resistor. On the one hand, since the accuracy of the current is determined by the accuracy of the load resistor, it is difficult to meet the requirement of accuracy. On the other hand, as this configuration needs additional power sources to charge the tested cell, test automation is also difficult to realize. Therefore, in this dissertation, a set of testing hardware is designed using power analog circuit. A simplified schematic of the design is in Figure 6.2, the detailed schematic is provided in Appendix C.

The circuit is mainly composed of three parts, a digital to analog conversion (DAC) circuit, a main circuit composed of two power operational amplifiers (opamp), and a feedback analog circuit. The directions of signals are also marked in Figure 6.2.

The DAC circuit is composed of a DAC chip and a reference voltage generator (REF0525 from Texas Instrument, TI) to generate an accurate 2.5 V reference voltage,  $V_{\text{REF}}$ , for the DAC chip and the power opamp circuit. The DAC circuit receives commands from the micro-controller unit (MCU) and generates the input voltage,  $V_{\text{IN}}$ , for the power opamp circuit.

Once  $V_{\rm IN}$  is shifted away from  $V_{\rm REF}$ , a current can be generated for the tested cell. Via a 0.1  $\Omega$  sampling resistor,  $R_{\rm Sample}$ , the value of the current is sent to the feedback analog circuit to generate an appropriate feedback signal. This feedback signal is then sent to the power opamp circuit to form a negative feedback loop. In this way, the current of the tested cell can be stabilized. Hence, the command given by the MCU can be converted to the desired current value,  $I_{\rm cell}$ , for the tested battery cell. There is no feedback signal sent to the MCU. The closed-loop control of the current is only realized by the analog components in the circuit.



Figure 6.2: Simplified schematic of the testing hardware to generate high frequency current

Assuming all the opamps are ideal, i.e., their open-loop gains are infinite, the conversion from  $V_{\rm IN}$  to  $I_{\rm cell}$  can be calculated by eq. (6.1).  $K_{\rm AMP}$  is the amplification ratio determined by the design of the feedback analog circuit.  $K_{\rm AMP}$  is set to be 4.  $V_{\rm IN}$  can be shifted in two directions to change the direction of  $I_{\rm cell}$ .

$$\begin{cases}
I_{cell} = K_{AMP}(V_{IN} - V_{REF}) \\
V_{cell} = (V_{P} - V_{N}) \\
V_{REF} = (V_{P} + V_{N}) / 2
\end{cases}$$
(6.1)

In eq. (6.1) and Figure 6.2,  $V_{\rm P}$  and  $V_{\rm N}$  are respectively the cathode voltage and anode voltage of the tested cell, referencing to the ground of the analog circuit. Connecting the average value of  $V_{\rm P}$  and  $V_{\rm N}$  back to the power opamp network, due to the virtual short circuit property of ideal opamps, the average value of  $V_{\rm P}$  and  $V_{\rm N}$  is forced to equal  $V_{\rm REF}$ , i.e., 2.5 V. Hence, the output voltage swing of the two opamps can be limited in a safe range. Using  $V_{\rm cell}$  to represent the voltage of the tested cell, the values of  $V_{\rm P}$  and  $V_{\rm N}$  can be obtained by solving the two equations in eq. (6.1). Hence, it is confirmed that the circuit can safely generate the desired current. The basic functionality for the test is realized.

To meet the three requirements, the components in the circuit should be carefully selected. A high-speed DAC chip must be used, in order to meet the requirement of high frequency. Hence, the DAC TLV5616 from TI is selected.

To meet the requirement of high accuracy and avoid waveform distortions during transients, the opamps in the circuit are required to have high open-loop gains in a wide range of frequency. Considering the non-ideal open-loop gains of opamps, i.e. the gain is not infinite, the error of the current,  $I_{dev}$ , with regard to the desired value is calculated in eq. (6.2).

$$I_{\rm dev} = \frac{K_{\rm AMP}V_{\rm IN}}{(G_{\rm F}+1)R_{\rm Sample}} - \frac{K_{\rm AMP}V_{\rm REF}}{G_{\rm P}+R_{\rm S}K_{\rm AMP}} + \frac{K_{\rm AMP}V_{\rm BAT}}{2(G_{\rm P}+R_{\rm Sample}K_{\rm AMP})}$$
(6.2)

 $G_{\rm F}$  is the open-loop gain of the feedback analog circuit.  $G_{\rm P}$  is the open-loop gain of the power opamp circuit. Substituting the sampling resistance value of 0.1  $\Omega$ , to limit the error of current within 0.01 A in all possible situations,  $G_{\rm F}$  must be higher than 3000 at the desired high frequency.  $G_{\rm P}$  should be higher than 200. To meet this requirement, the power opamp OPA569 is selected

for the power opamp circuit, and the opamp OPA890 is selected for the feedback circuit. The two opamps are both from TI. Even at 100 kHz, which is ten times the maximum frequency of the ripples to be tested, their open-loop gains are still higher than the minimum requirement [199], [200]. Therefore, the accuracy of the current is ensured.

The last requirement, the automation of the cycling test, is relatively simple to meet, as the circuit has the bidirectional output capability. By programming the MCU appropriately, this function can be realized. Hence, the hardware design is able to meet the three requirements.

The picture of the hardware implementation is shown in Figure 6.3(a). Its maximum current is  $\pm 2$  A, limited by the maximum current of the power opamp OPA569. To generate a higher current in the test, multiple modules should be paralleled to form a test rig. The digital signal interfaces of the modules are paralleled as well, so that all the modules receive identical commands from the same micro controller and behave identically. As a result, after the parallelization, the three requirements can still be met by the test rig.

An example of the assembled testing rig for one cell is in Figure 6.3(b). The wiring details are excluded. Four modules are vertically inserted in a larger PCB. The larger PCB at the bottom is only serving as a bus bar board paralleling the digital and power interfaces of the modules. The bus bar PCB can parallel up to six modules in total and generate a maximum current of  $\pm 12$  A to test one cell.



(b) Assembled test rig for one battery cell

Figure 6.3: Pictures of the designed hardware

Additionally, before the experiment, it is also necessary to ensure the thermal stability of the hardware in long-term experiments, because the discharging process involves energy dissipation and could create potential problems. Specifically for the circuit design in Figure 6.2,

the energy of the battery is dissipated on the power opamps. Hence, it is necessary to verify if the opamps are able to endure the possible high temperature during discharge.

The thermal images of one module during maximum current charge and discharge are respectively depicted in Figure 6.4(a) and (b). The images are taken after the circuit has been continuously operating at the maximum current, 2A, for more than 15 min. The ambient temperature is 25 °C and the circuit does not have active cooling. Hence, the measurements in Figure 6.4 are conducted in the thermal steady state. The maximum and minimum temperatures are marked by the temperature scale of the images. Due to the automatic calibration of the thermal camera, the color scale in the two thermal images is different.



(a) Thermal image during charge

(b) Thermal image during discharge

Figure 6.4: Thermal stability tests in charge and discharge process

In Figure 6.4(a) and (b), the two bright rectangles correspond to the two power opamps in Figure 6.3(c). In the maximum current charge test, Figure 6.4(a), the measured temperature of the opamp is 50.5 °C, which is a safe temperature for semiconductors. The temperatures of the two opamps are also similar. Hence, the thermal stability during maximum current charge is verified.

In the maximum current discharge test, Figure 6.4(b), as the energy of the battery is only dissipated on the opamp on the right side, its temperature is significantly higher than that on the left side. That is visible via the brightness and the size of the bright area. The measured temperature of the right opamp is 98.5 °C, much higher than the temperature in the charge test, but there is still a safety margin of 26.5 °C to reach the maximum operation temperature, 125 °C. Therefore, in the experiment, by applying forced-air cooling to the opamps, the thermal stability of the circuit can be well ensured.

As a summary of this section, the proposed hardware design can safely and automatically cycle the battery cells with the desired ripple current waveform in Figure 6.1. Following the introduction of the hardware, the configurations of the experiment are explained in the next section.

#### 6.2.2 Configurations of the Experiment

The configurations of the experiment are introduced in three steps. First, the battery cells used in the experiment are introduced. Then the parameter settings of the ripple current waveform for each cell are explained. In the end, the procedures of the experiment are also stated.

For the aging experiment, Panasonic NCR18650BD cells are used. The cathode material of these cells is NMC and the gravimetric energy density is 217 Wh/kg. The NCR18650BD cell has been released to the market for more than four years and is not a state-of-the-art model. Nonetheless, due to its limited cycle life, the total time of the experiment can be significantly reduced. According to the datasheet [201], the full cycle life of the cell is only 500. After 500

charge/discharge cycles, with a cycle depth of 100% (corresponding to cycling between 4.15V and 2.5V), the cells are expected to lose 20% of their original capacity.

It is also worth noting that the NCR18650BD cells used in the experiment were obtained in 2014, came from an official distributor in a large quantity. The authenticity of the cells can be ensured. Since the acquisition, these cells were kept untouched for three years. The storage environment had a constant temperature of 25 °C. Before the aging experiment in the fourth quarter of 2017, the cells were taken out for initial characterization. Nonetheless, compared to the typical values of brand new cells in the datasheet [201], no significant calendar aging was identified in the measurements. Therefore, these cells were considered as new cells for the aging experiment.

A possible explanation for the limited calendar aging during such a long time is that the cells are kept at an ideal SOC and temperature. According to the aging model in [197], keeping the cells at 25 °C and 3.3 V (the open circuit voltage of the cells when taken out for initial characterization, corresponding to around 15 % SOC), the calendar aging for three years is only expected to cause a capacity reduction less than 2 %. The expected impedance increase is limited to 4 %. Hence, even after a long-time storage, the degradation is still not significant. Furthermore, according to the aging model in [197], the expected calendar aging is only equivalent to the effect of four to five full cycles. Hence, the conditions of the cells are still acceptable for the experiment to last 500 full cycles.

After verifying the feasibility of the cells, in total eight cells are taken for the aging experiment. Each cell is numbered and tested in one test rig shown in Figure 6.3. The parameters of the current waveforms are listed in Table 6.2. These current waveforms are only used for discharging the cells. The charging is still conducted by the DC current.

				9	9					
Cell	Parameters of the current waveform									
Number	DC or ripple	Switching frequency	Power factor	AC frequency	Average C-rate					
Cell 1	DC	-	-	-	0.8 C					
Cell 2	DC	-	-	-	0.8 C					
Cell 3	Ripple	2 kHz	0.8	100 Hz	0.8 C					
Cell 4	Ripple	5 kHz	0.8	100 Hz	0.8 C					
Cell 5	Ripple	10 kHz	0.8	100 Hz	0.8 C					
Cell 6	Ripple	10 kHz	0.8	100 Hz	0.8 C					
Cell 7	Ripple	10 kHz	0.9	100 Hz	0.8 C					
Cell 8	Ripple	10 kHz	0.7	100 Hz	0.8 C					

Table 6.2:	The parameters of the current waveforms used for cell aging test
------------	--

First, all the current waveforms have the same discharge C-rate, 0.8 C, in case that the difference in the average C-rate could potentially distort the results. To ensure the evenness of the average C-rate, before the experiment, the output current waveforms of all the test rigs are measured by the current probe Rohde & Schwarz HZO51 and the oscilloscope HMO724. The average values of all the output current waveforms are within 2.4±0.02 A, i.e., the error is within 1 %. Hence, the experiment cannot be distorted by the inaccuracy of the average C-rate.

The current waveforms are differentiated from each other by four other parameters. The first parameter is whether the current is DC or contains ripple. Cell 1 and cell 2 are tested by the DC current to form the control group. The other six cells are tested by different ripple current waveforms in the aging test, and they form the experimental group.

The second parameter is the switching frequency. The frequency of the switching frequency ripples is varied, but the amplitude of the ripples and the micro cycles stay constant. Hence, comparing the aging results of cell 3 to cell 6, the influence of high frequency ripples can be identified, as the current waveforms only differentiate from each other by the switching frequency. The experiments on cell 3 to cell 6 are similar to the experiments in [188]–[193], where the influence of frequency is the focus.

Another parameter is the power factor,  $\cos\theta$ . As demonstrated in Figure 6.1, when  $\cos\theta$  is not 1.0, the battery current contains double-frequency ripples. If  $\cos\theta$  decreases (phase lag increases), the negative part of the waveform will expand, because the zero cross point of the AC voltage moves further to the left and the current is flipped to negative earlier. As a result, the depth of the micro cycles increases. At a given average C-rate, to compensate for the increased negative current, the peak value of the current should also be increased. Therefore, as  $\cos\theta$  decreases, the peak value of the current and the depth of micro cycles increase accordingly, which could deteriorate the battery aging. The experimental group for  $\cos\theta$  is composed of cell 5 to cell 8. The power factor is shifted from 0.8 to 0.7 and 0.9. The other parameters are not changed.

The influence of AC frequency is not tested in this experiment, because its potential influences could be partially observed in the experimental group for the power factor. When the AC frequency changes, the maximum C-rate and switching ripples all stay the same. The depth of one micro cycle changes with the AC frequency, due to the change of the micro cycle duration.

After introducing the discharging current waveforms, the test profile of one test cycle is demonstrated in Figure 6.5. The profile is applicable for all the cells, regardless of the discharge waveform settings.



Figure 6.5: Test profile of the aging experiment

As visible in the voltage curve (the dotted curve, corresponding to the right Y-axis), every test cycle starts from a cell voltage of 4.15 V. In each cycle, the cells are first discharged by the

corresponding 0.8 C current waveforms in Table 6.2, illustrated by the ripple indicator and the current curve (solid curve, corresponding to the left Y-axis). A positive current value refers to discharge. The discharge continues, until the terminal voltage of the battery decreases to 2.5 V, and the charge immediately starts.

The charge of all the battery cells follows the common CC-CV scheme. No ripple is injected during the charging for all the cells. The scheme starts with 3 A CC charging (1 C charging) and switches to CV charging, once the terminal voltage reaches 4.15 V. When the charge current is lower than 100 mA, the charging process stops.

In the end, after the cells are fully charged, a relaxation time of 15 min is provided to the cells, before entering the next testing cycle. The cycle depth of this testing profile is thus 100 %. One cycle for a brand new cell takes almost three hours.

After every 50 cycles, the cells are taken out from the testing rigs to measure their capacity (1 C discharge capacity) and inner resistance (200 ms DC resistance at 80 % SOC) manually. Due to the inaccessibility of the commercial testing equipment, the cells are manually measured by a device built in-house [202], and an electronic load Agilent N3300A. Nonetheless, the accuracy of the measurement can still be ensured, because the accuracy of the electronic load is 0.1 %, according to the datasheet [203]. As the setup only has one channel, the measurement of eight cells takes up to several days. Hence, including the measurements, the aging experiment in total lasted more than three months. The results of the aging experiment are discussed in the next section.

It is worth noting that the results will also contain calendar aging, because of the long time of the experiment. Nonetheless, as the primary goal of the experiment is only to answer if the CHB accelerates the degradation of batteries or not, and the cyclic aging is much more significant, the two types of aging mechanisms are not explicitly differentiated in the analysis in the following sections.

## 6.3 Result

First, the capacity reductions of the eight cells are discussed. The measured capacity reductions of the cells are in Table 6.3. The results are not plotted together in one figure, because the reduction curves will intertwine significantly in the figure, which could cause difficulties for the comparison. Therefore, in this section, necessary curves are only plotted in individual figures for each analysis.

In the results, it is first observed that the capacity reduction curves of cell 4, cell 6 and cell 8 are abnormal. The corresponding three columns are also marked in Table 6.3. After 500 cycles of aging test, their residual capacity is still around 85 % of their initial capacity. This value is much higher than the expected value, 80 %, in the datasheet [201]. From the 200th cycle to the end of the experiment, the three abnormal cells only loose about 5 % of their capacity, while the capacity reduction of the other five cells is around 10 %.

The capacity reductions of the three abnormal cells are lower than the cells tested by DC current, so a negative conclusion for the CHB cannot be formed based on them. However, as these three capacity reduction curves are significantly in favor of the CHB, in order to evaluate the CHB concept more critically, the three curves are excluded from the analysis below.

Moreover, because the aim of this chapter is only to determine whether the ripples in the CHB is harmful to lithium batteries or not, and the three curves are in favor of the CHB, the three abnormal curves do not influence the generality of the obtained conclusion. The possible reasons for the three abnormal capacity reduction curves are briefly discussed in the next section.

The experience of the calls measured over the whole

	he capacity of the cens measured over the whole aging experiment								
Number of finished	The capacity normalized to the initial capacity of each cell								
cycles	Cell 1	Cell 2	Cell 3	Cell 4	Cell 5	Cell 6	Cell 7	Cell 8	
0	100 %	100 %	100 %	100 %	100 %	100 %	100 %	100 %	
50	92.7 %	92.6 %	92.4%	93.9%	92.2 %	92.9%	92.5 %	93.3%	
100	89.7 %	89.5%	89.2%	91.4 %	88.9%	89.9%	89.4 %	90.6 %	
200	88.3%	87.4%	88.3%	90.4%	85.4 %	91.8%	86.8%	89.8%	
250	86.2%	85.9%	86.3%	89.1 %	82.8%	91.5%	85.0%	89.5 %	
300	84.4%	84.8%	86.3%	87.2%	81.8%	90.4%	84.4 %	87.8%	
350	85.1 %	82.7%	83.7%	88.6%	80.4 %	89.9%	83.2%	89.9%	
400	82.9%	81.9%	82.4%	87.9%	80.6 %	87.3%	81.7 %	89.2 %	
450	82.5 %	82.6%	81.6%	86.7%	78.9%	86.3%	80.2%	86.5%	
500	79.8%	80.2%	78.6%	85.1%	77.5%	85.1%	77.6%	86.2%	

Excluding the three abnormal curves, the average capacity reductions of the cells with and without current ripples are compared, Figure 6.6. The solid curve depicts the average capacity reduction of the two cells tested by the DC current, i.e., cell 1 and 2. The dotted curve depicts the average capacity reduction of cell 3, cell 5, and cell 7, which are tested by different current ripples.



Figure 6.6: Average capacity reduction curves of the cells tested by DC and ripple current

As illustrated in Figure 6.6, in the first 100 cycles, there is no visible difference between the cells tested by DC current and ripple current. Nonetheless, after the 200th cycle, a small difference

around 2 % is established. From then on, the average capacity loss of the ripple-tested cells is constantly around 2 % higher than that of the DC-tested cells. At the end of the experiment, the DC-tested cells still have a capacity of 80.0 % on average, while the average residual capacity of the ripple-tested cells is 77.9 %.

In the experiment, the ripple current is identified to cause an additional capacity loss of 2.1 % on average. However, this additional loss is small, and it could be overestimated, due to the randomness of the aging behavior and the limited number of samples. Besides, the additional capacity loss appears after 100-200 full cycles, and does not develop further, corresponding well to the result in [193], which only measured an additional capacity loss lower than 1 %. As an increase in the aging speed is not observed, and the additional capacity loss is small and could be overestimated, the CHB remains a valid concept.

Moreover, the small additional capacity loss does not influence the validity of the cost assessments in chapter 5. First, the small additional capacity loss only appears when the battery is cycled by 100-200 full cycles. Hence, it does not influence the calculation of the initial purchasing cost. Second, since the CHB has the capability to actively balance the capacity of modules, especially for aged and thus nonhomogeneous batteries, the small additional capacity reduction could be compensated by the increased usable capacity on the pack level [114]–[117]. Consequently, the CHB does not require additional battery capacity to counterbalance the possible additional capacity loss, and hence does not cause a higher cost even in the long term.

Besides the comparison on the average level, to investigate the influence of the power factor and the switching frequency, the aging curves of cell 3, 5 and 7 are also compared to each other in Figure 6.7. In the first 100 cycles, almost no difference can be identified between the three curves. The difference starts to appear from the 200th cycle. From the 200th cycle, the residual capacities of cell 3 and cell 7 are constantly higher than that of cell 5. However, from the 400th cycle until the end, the difference of the three curves converges. Cell 3, cell 5 and cell 7 even have almost the same residual capacity in the end. After 500 full cycles of tests, no significant difference is caused by the different switching frequencies or the different power factors.

A divergence of the capacity reduction is observed from the 200th cycle to the 400th cycle. However, due to the limited number of samples and the convergence at the end of the experiment, it is difficult to attribute the divergence to the difference in switching frequencies or power factors. It is more likely that the divergence is a result of the stochastic property of the battery aging behaviors, which were reported in previous studies as well [204]–[207].



Figure 6.7: Three normal aging curve of the cells tested by different ripple current waveforms

Besides the capacity reduction curves, the records of the inner resistance are also analyzed. The aging curves of the 200 ms DC resistance of the cells are plotted in Figure 6.8. The assertions based on the capacity reductions curves are further supported by the aging curves of the inner resistance.

It is observed that the ripples do not influence the battery aging in terms of the inner resistance. Except for cell 6, which constantly has the lowest resistance, the resistance values of the other seven cells are rather close to each other over the whole experiment. Excluding cell 6, it is also observed that the spread of the resistance values is only doubled (from  $10 \text{ m}\Omega$  to  $20 \text{ m}\Omega$ ) after 500 cycles of test. This extent of inhomogeneity growth is also observable in the aging tests that use identical DC current to test all the cells [194]–[197], [204]. Therefore, except for cell 6, the other cells cannot be differentiated from each other by the difference in resistance growth. Hence, the resistance curves further prove that the ripple current in the CHB does not significantly influence the aging of NMC batteries, regardless of the ripple parameters.



Figure 6.8: 200 ms DC resistance of the cells over the aging test

In addition, the resistance curves of the cells are more consistent than the capacity curves. The three abnormal cells (cell 4, 6 and 8, marked by dotted lines) still have the lowest inner resistance at the end of test, but they are not as recognizable as they are in the data of capacity reductions. Hence, the resistance curves can form a stronger proof for the harmlessness of the ripple current in the CHB.

Based on the experimental results and the analysis above, a conclusion can be drawn that the CHB does not significantly influence the aging of NMC battery cells. In the tested range, the switching frequency and the power factor are also confirmed not to be influential for the aging behaviors. The CHB might be able to cause an additional capacity loss of 1-2 % at the end of life of batteries, but the additional capacity loss is small and could be counterbalanced by the pack level balancing capability of the CHB. The effect of the balancing capability will be quantitatively calculated in the dissertation of Mr. Felix Roemer, considering different types of cells and different extent of aging. Therefore, even considering the possible additional capacity loss caused by the CHB, this concept remains preferable. The conclusion is supported by the records of the capacity and the inner resistance.

The validity of the conclusion is not restricted to the CHB, but can be generalized to all the singlephase power supply systems using lithium batteries, where the current ripples have exactly the same patterns as the ripples in the CHB. Besides the cascaded multilevel automotive inverters [114]–[117], this type of systems includes onboard chargers and household energy storage systems. Therefore, in these systems, the efforts and costs to suppress battery current ripples could be reduced for future designs. A possible explanation to that phenomenon is that the equivalent double layer capacitor of the cell could filter the current ripples significantly [188].

In the next section, the experimental results are further analyzed. By comparing the results in this section to those in the previous studies, an overview of the potential influences of the ripple current can be formed. Based on the overview, the conclusion of the experiment can be generalized accordingly.

## 6.4 Discussion

In this section, first, the possible reasons for the three abnormal capacity reduction curves are briefly discussed. Second, the conclusion obtained from the experiment is compared to the conclusions of the previous studies. The similarities and the contradictions are explained. In the end, based on the explanations, the influence of the CHB on the battery aging is confirmed to be generally insignificant in practical implementations.

#### 6.4.1 Possible Explanations of the Unexpected Curves

The first section of discussion aims to provide brief explanations for the three unexpected capacity reduction curves. The three capacity reduction curves are illustrated in Figure 6.9. The average capacity reduction of the three normal ripple-tested cells (the ripple-tested curve in Figure 6.6) is also added to Figure 6.9 as a reference.



Figure 6.9: Capacity reduction curves of the three abnormal cells

The three unexpected curves diverge from the normal curve since the 50th cycle, the first measurement after the experiment starts. Therefore, the first possible explanation is that these

three cells are not cycled by a depth of discharge (DOD) of 100 %, so that the aging of the three cells is much slower than the other five cells. The error of DOD could be mainly caused by occasional faults of the cell voltage measurement, which are not identified or eliminated during the verifications of the test rigs.

Besides the problem of the program, another explanation is that these three cells are not well isolated from the forced-air cooling of the test rigs. As the three cells could have been actively cooled during the test and have a lower temperature, the speed of aging could naturally be decreased.

It is also possible that the three unexpected curves are caused by a deterministic mechanism that is not considered in the experiment design, e.g., the capacity recovery effect reported in [208]–[211], which could be triggered by the longer relaxation period provided to the three cells in each manual measurement operation. To investigate and confirm the real reason for the three abnormal curves, a dedicated long-term experiment would still be required.

However, as the aim of this chapter is only to determine whether the CHB is harmful to lithium batteries, and the three abnormal curves in favor of the CHB do not influence the conclusion obtained in the last section, such an experiment is not within the scope of the research. Because of the same reason, the possible explanations for the three unexpected curves are also only briefly discussed without further analysis.

#### 6.4.2 Explanation of Similarities and Contradictions

In this chapter, the ripples in the CHB are experimentally proven to have a negligible influence on the aging of lithium batteries, which is similar to the conclusions in [189]–[191], [193], although the ripples in the CHB have much higher peak values and contain micro cycles of charge and discharge. However, the conclusion of this chapter is contradicting the conclusion of [188], which also implemented micro cycles in the aging test of lithium batteries. Therefore, in the second part of the discussion, the similarities and the contradictions among different studies are explained based on a detailed analysis of the waveforms, in order to establish an aligned perception of the influence of ripple current.

First, this section explains why the results of the experiment in this chapter are similar to those in [189]–[191], [193]. The similarities within [189]–[191], [193] are noticed and summarized by [193], with electrochemical explanations provided. Based on the explanation, [193] further indicates that the current ripples influence the aging via its influence on two stress factors, the temperature increase and the total charge throughput. As long as these two factors are kept unchanged, the ripples are not supposed to cause any influence on the aging. Therefore, to explain the similarity between the experiment in this dissertation and the experiments in [189]–[191], [193], the temperature increase and the charge throughput of the cells in the CHB need to be quantitatively assessed.

The temperature increase is estimated by the RMS value of the battery current, because it is linked directly to the heat generation in the cells. Without filtering, the RMS value of the battery current,  $I_{\text{bat}_RMS}$ , in the CHB can be calculated using eq. (6.3).

In eq. (6.3),  $I_{\text{bat}_{RMS}}$  is determined by the average current,  $I_{\text{bat}_{ave}}$ , the power factor  $\cos\theta$ , and the modulation index  $m_a$ . Once  $I_{\text{bat}_{RMS}}$  is obtained, the RMS value of ripples  $I_{\text{ripple}_{RMS}}$  can be calculated accordingly by the second equation of eq. (6.3). Using the typical experimental settings in eq. (6.3), i.e.,  $\cos\theta$  and  $m_a$  are both 0.8, the value of  $I_{\text{ripple}_{RMS}}$  equals  $0.31I_{\text{bat}_{ave}}$ .

That means the RMS value of the ripples is only 31 % of the DC current. Changing  $\cos\theta$  to 0.7 or 0.9, the percentage value becomes respectively 48 % and 16 %.

$$I_{\text{bat}_{RMS}} = \frac{2I_{\text{bat}_{ave}}}{\cos\theta} \sqrt{\frac{\left(1 + \frac{1}{3}\cos 2\theta\right)}{\pi m_{a}}}$$

$$I_{\text{ripple}_{RMS}} = \sqrt{I_{\text{bat}_{AMS}}^{2} - I_{\text{bat}_{ave}}^{2}}$$
(6.3)

According to the features of the ripples summarized in Table 6.1, the RMS values of the ripples in the CHB are, in fact, comparable to the RMS values of the ripples in [189]–[193]. Hence, the battery cells in the CHB are expected to have a similar temperature increase, compared to the battery cells tested in the previous studies. Therefore, the aging effect of the ripples in the CHB is not much different from the ripples in the previous studies. The peak value of the ripples in the CHB is indeed much higher, due to the switching frequency pulses. However, as the pulses at switching frequency only last a short time, the corresponding RMS values are significantly lower than the peak values.

Besides the RMS value of the current, the charge throughput of the batteries in the CHB is also assessed. In [189]–[191], [193], as the battery current never crosses zero, the charge throughput of the ripple-tested cells is expected to be the same as the throughput of DC-tested cells. However, for the CHB, due to the micro cycles in the current waveform, the charge throughput of the cells is increased. The rate of the additional charge throughput caused by micro cycles,  $I_{Q_Mcycle}$ , is defined in eq. (6.4). The unit of  $I_{Q_Mcycle}$  is Coulomb per second, instead of directly Ampere, as this value does not describe a real current in the circuit. An analytical solution of  $I_{Q_Mcycle}$  is provided in eq. (6.4).

$$I_{\text{Q_Mcycle}} = \frac{\int_{0}^{I_{\text{AC}}} |i_{\text{bat}}|}{T_{\text{AC}}} - I_{\text{bat_ave}} = \frac{2I_{\text{bat_ave}}}{\pi} (\tan \theta - \theta)$$
(6.4)

When  $\cos\theta$  is 0.8 or 0.9,  $I_{Q_Mcycle}$  equals respectively  $0.069I_{bat_ave}$  or  $0.021I_{bat_ave}$ . That means the micro cycles can only increase the charge throughput by 6.9% or 2.1%, on top of the necessary charge throughput. This extent of increase is rather insignificant. According to the aging model in [197], after 500 full cycles, the additional capacity loss caused by the 6.9% additional charge throughput is estimated to be less than 2%.

When  $\cos\theta$  is 0.7, the charge throughput is correspondingly increased by 14.3%. If all the increased charge throughput would have an influence on the aging, the expected additional capacity loss would be 6% at the end of the experiment [197]. Nonetheless, such a significant deterioration is not observed. The only explanation is that the real additional charge throughput seen by the cells is not as high as predicted, due to the filtering effect of the EDLC in the battery cells.

The filtering effect is proven in [188], [193], and a corner frequency of 10 Hz is identified. As the micro cycles of the experiment in this chapter have a frequency of 200 Hz, the effective additional charge throughput of the cells is much less than the value predicted by eq. (6.4). Therefore, the effective charge throughput of the cells in the CHB is not much different from those in [189]–[191], [193], although the CHB triggers micro cycles in the current waveforms. Due to the similarities in terms of the temperature increase and the charge throughput, the similarities of the results in this chapter and in [189]–[191], [193] can be naturally understood.

Second, after explaining the similarity, the contradiction with the conclusion in [188] is also discussed. In [188], all the cells are working in float charging status and tested by ripples at different frequencies. The results are shown in Figure 6.10.

The residual capacities of the cells tested by different frequencies are recorded in Figure 6.10. The three curves are obtained respectively after 50 days, 80 days and 147 days of continuous tests. At the end of the experiment, the cells that are tested by low frequency ripples experience an additional capacity loss of 7 %, while the capacity loss of the cells tested by high frequency ripples shows no difference, compared to the DC-tested cells. Such a significantly accelerated aging caused by the low frequency ripples is not visible in other studies or in this chapter. [193] suggested this contradiction is mainly due to the method of capacity measurement. However, after analyzing the test configurations of [188], the significant difference can be better explained by the charge throughput caused by the ripples.



Figure 6.10: The capacity reductions in the aging experiment of [188]

In the experiment of [188], the cells are working in float charging status. The current waveforms injected to the cells only contain micro cycles ( $\pm$ 1 A square waves). Average values of the current waveforms are zero, and the cells are not cycled by any load. Hence, in the experiment of [188], the charge throughput caused by the micro cycles is the only determining factor for the aging.

Moreover, as the ±1 A square waves are continuously injected to the 2 Ah NMC cells during the test, at the terminal of each battery cell, the accumulated charge throughput is significant. After 147 days of test, the accumulated charge throughput of each cell is equivalent to 882 full cycles. In comparison, for the CHB, even if the power factor is 0.7, after 500 cycles of test, the charge throughput caused by micro cycles is only equivalent to 35 full cycles, because the throughput is increased by 14.3%, only in discharge process. The charge throughput caused by the micro cycles in [188] is 24 times higher than that in the CHB. Hence, even a small difference in the filtering effect can cause a rather large impact on the aging of the cells in [188].

For micro cycles at higher frequencies, because the large amount of additional charge throughput can be removed completely, no extra aging is observed on the cells. That explains the consistent aging behaviors of the cells tested by the ripples at 100 Hz or a higher frequency. For the micro cycles at lower frequencies, because the throughput can only be partially filtered, a significant impact on the aging can be expected, which explains the 7 % extra capacity loss.

In fact, according to the aging model in [197], the 7 % extra capacity loss corresponds to 180 effective full cycles. That means around 80 % of the additional throughput at the terminal is removed by the filtering effect. However, the remaining effective charge throughput is still sufficient to cause a significant extra capacity loss.

Therefore, the conclusion in [188] is also reasonable. The contradiction is mainly attributed to the amplified impact of the micro cycles, which is caused by the configuration of float charging in the experiment and the continuous exposure to micro cycles. In [189]–[191], [193] and the experiment of this chapter, however, the impact of micro cycles is rather restricted.

In the end, after confirming the negative conclusion in [188] regarding the ripples is also reasonable, two preconditions for a ripple current waveform to be harmful can be summarized. First, the ripples should contain micro cycles, i.e., the charge throughput must be increased. Otherwise, as long as a sufficient cooling is provided, the ripples have no impact on the aging. Second, the micro cycles must have a frequency lower than 10 Hz and contribute a large amount of charge throughput, so that the extra charge throughput caused by the micro cycles can effectively cause extra degradations.

By checking the two preconditions, it can be generally confirmed if the current ripples in a certain system are harmful to batteries. Therefore, to generalize the conclusion regarding the CHB in this chapter, instead of restricting to the configurations of the experiment, the two preconditions are examined in the next section.

#### 6.4.3 Generalization of the Conclusion

In the CHB, when the double AC frequency is lower than 10 Hz, the two preconditions obtained in the last section are indeed possible to be met. However, the possibility to meet the two preconditions is extremely low. The associated additional charge throughput is rather limited.

First, to make the frequency of micro cycles below 10 Hz, the AC frequency must be lower than 5 Hz. However, as this frequency corresponds to an extremely low speed (0.8 km/h for the reference vehicle), it is rarely encountered. Even in rather mild urban driving cycles, such a low speed is still invisible with a time resolution of one second.

Second, the increased charge throughput in the CHB is limited, because the power factor of the motor in BEVs is often high and only results in small micro cycles. For the reference vehicle, which uses a PSM, the power factor is almost constantly close to 1.0. In a WLTP C3 driving cycle simulation, the power factor is usually higher than 0.95, Figure 6.11. According to eq. (6.4), with such a high power factor, the charge throughput can only be increased by 0.71 % at the terminals of cells. Considering the filtering effect of batteries, the effective charge throughput caused by micro cycles is negligible.



Figure 6.11: The histogram of power factor values in the reference vehicle (tested by WLTP C3 cycle)

For an ASM, the power factor is relatively lower, but still stays constantly above 0.65 in BEVs [52], [212]. The corresponding increase in the charge throughput at the terminals of cells is thus limited to 20 % in the worst case, according to eq. (6.4). Additionally, according to the results of [188], for micro cycles at 10 Hz or lower frequencies, the filter effect is still able to remove 80 %

of the additional charge throughput. Therefore, even if the ASM would be constantly operating at a power factor of 0.65 and a frequency under 5 Hz, the effective increase in the charge throughput would still be limited to 4 %, which is expected to cause an additional capacity loss below 2 % after 500 full cycles, using the aging model in [197]. Therefore, realistically, even when driving an ASM, the influence of the CHB on the battery aging is still negligible.

As a summary, although the two predictions are possible to occur in the CHB, the additional aging caused by the ripples is still expected to be negligible, due to the low possibility to encounter low frequencies and the limited effective charge throughput caused by the micro cycles. Therefore, the CHB can be concluded to be generally unharmful to lithium batteries in BEVs.

Via the experimental investigation and the discussions, this chapter resolves the concern that the CHB could accelerate the aging of the batteries. In the next chapter, the reliability of the CHB is modelled and quantitatively assessed by simulations, in order to resolve the other concern that the CHB could be unreliable due to the high number of components.

# 7 Reliability

Another concern regarding the CHB is its reliability. Because of the adoption of low power semiconductor switches, the CHB inevitably has a higher number of switches and driving circuits, compared to the benchmarked IGBT inverter. Moreover, due to the distributed structure, the CHB also has a large number of components for control and communications. Based on the much higher number of components in the CHB, the concern regarding its reliability naturally arises. Especially for automotive applications, where the reliability of components is crucial, the reliability of a new technology must be assessed before any practical implementation.

In this chapter, the reliability of the CHB for the reference vehicle is modelled and evaluated in a fatigue analysis. The simulation uses models developed by previous studies. The results are compared to the results of the benchmarked IGBT inverter, in order to identify if the reliability is deteriorated. However, as it is financially and physically impractical for this dissertation to verify the results of the fatigue simulation experimentally, the conclusions obtained in this chapter should be rather taken as a reference, instead of a strict quantitative prediction of the reliability.

## 7.1 State of the Art

In this section, the state-of-the-art studies regarding the reliability of power electronic systems are discussed. First, the overall approaches to assess the reliabilities are compared. With the overall approach selected, the studies following this approach are then summarized. It is identified that a study investigating the system reliability of the CHB or similar circuits is not yet available. Hence, a reliability model still needs to be constructed for the reliability assessment.

#### 7.1.1 Approaches for Reliability Assessment

The previous studies on the reliability of power electronic mainly use three different approaches for the assessment [213]–[216]. The first possible approach calculates the mean time between failures (MTBF) of the system, using the failure rate values of different components in handbooks, e.g., the Military Handbook [217]. This approach is easy to understand and implement for different systems. However, as most handbooks were published decades ago, technology advancements have made the failure rates in these documents outdated. Additionally, even with up-to-date failure rate values, the approach is still not able to predict the MTBF accurately, because the influence of mission profiles on the system cannot be considered in this approach. Therefore, nowadays researchers have suggested to abandon this approach for reliability assessments [218], [219].

The second possible approach is to assess the reliability in experiments. [220]–[224] assess the lifetime of different components by testing them with practical thermal or mechanical stress profiles. To reduce the duration of the experiment, [225]–[227] develop methods to accelerate

the test. As the targeted systems or components are directly tested in the expected environments, the experimental assessment is able to accurately predict the lifetime of the system and reveal the flaws of the design. Such an experiment is also generally mandatorily required as a final step to verify the reliability of products [228], [229].

However, the time and the cost of these experiments could be rather high. To create the desired environments or stresses, the required testing equipment could be expensive, e.g., shakers and climate chambers. It is also often the case that a reliability experiment tests multiple samples of the targeted system simultaneously, in order to identify the reliability in different environments [222], [227]. Hence, multiple sets of the expensive equipment are required. In addition, even though a number of studies have proposed methods to reduce the testing duration, a reliability experiment can still easily last for months. Therefore, despite the advantages of experimental assessments, it is not feasible for the reliability assessment of this dissertation. Even for industrial projects, due to the high cost in terms of time and funding, such an experiment is also unacceptable in the early phase of the development, as a quick and rough validation of concepts is sufficient [172].

The third possible approach is the fatigue analysis, which has been widely implemented for different power electronic systems and components [230]–[232]. Similar to the first approach, this approach is based on the failure rates of components. Hence, it is simple to understand and implement. Nonetheless, as this approach calculates the failure rates based on the simulated stress profiles and fatigue models, instead of relying on fixed values in handbooks, the influence of mission profiles can be well incorporated. As the fatigue analysis is a good compromise between convenience and accuracy, this approach is the most appropriate to assess the reliability of the CHB concept.

#### 7.1.2 Fatigue Analysis of Power Electronic Components & Systems

Fatigue analysis is not a novel approach for reliability analysis. It has been used to calculate the MTBF of different systems in previous studies. The main challenge of implementing this approach is to establish the failure rate models. Furthermore, as it is not practical to model every detail of the targeted system, the fragile components and influencing stress factors in the system should be identified first.

Specifically for power electronic systems, according to the field surveys in [233]–[235], more than 90 % of the system failures of industrial inverters can be attributed to semiconductor switches, DC-link capacitors and the solder joints on PCBs [233], and their contributions to the failures of industrial power electronic systems are visualized in Figure 7.1. The failure of the PCB means failure of the PCB solder joints. The failure of switches means the failure of bond wire joints or the failure of solder joints connecting the die and the substrate. Therefore, this section starts with a review of the reliability models of these components, to select applicable models for the reliability assessment. Then the existing models for the system reliability are also discussed.

First, the switch reliability has been extensively modelled in different studies. [230], [231] determine the reliability of IGBT modules based on the simulated profiles of the junction temperature. In a switch, the failure of the semiconductor itself is sparse to encounter, the main reason of the switch failure is the lift-off of bond wires [230]. Bond wire lift-off means the weld joint on the die fails, which is caused by the temperature swing and thermal expansion mismatch of different materials. The bond wire lift-off is also related to the operational current and voltage

of the switch. [236] develops and parametrizes a reliability model for bond wire joints in IGBT modules based on experimental data.



Figure 7.1: Fragile components and their contributions to failures in industrial applications [233]

In addition to the lift-off of the bond wire, the second most significant failure mechanism of switches is the failure of the die attachment [232], [237]–[240]. Die attachment is the solder joint connecting the die and the substrate. If the die attachment fails, the die will be not attached to substrate of the switch anymore. The die is thus expected to fail rapidly due to thermal run away [238]. The reliability models of the die attachment can be found in [232], [241], [242].

To better incorporate the influence of mission profiles in the model, [243]–[246] implement more detailed thermal models. The rain flow counting algorithm is also implemented to convert the simulated temperature profile into thermal stress cycles, which are the inputs of the reliability models. In this way, the cycle life of the components can be more accurately estimated. Rain flow counting is an algorithm used in fatigue analysis to count stress cycles in a stress profile obtained in experiments or simulations. The swing, mean value and the duration of each identified stress cycle are calculated by the algorithm simultaneously. A detailed introduction of the rain flow counting algorithm is provided in [247].

Besides the switches, the DC-link capacitors also significantly contribute to the system failure. Hence, the reliability models for capacitors are available as well. A capacitor reliability model is introduced in [248], taking the voltage and temperature of the capacitor into consideration. [110] further considers the influence of the humidity. [249] uses the model developed by [110] in simulations and introduced the approach to obtain the required stress factors.

The last significant factor for system failures is the failure of PCB solder joints. As most products are required by law to use the lead-free solder in the production, the reliability of PCB solder joints becomes one of the major concerns for electronic industry [250]. [250], [251] mainly model the reliability of PCB solder joints in mechanical vibrations. The developed models are validated by experimental data. [252]–[255] investigate the influence of thermal stress on the reliability of solder joints. The thermal stress is generated by altering the current flowing through the solder joints. [252]–[254] construct the models empirically based on the experimental data, while the model in [255] is obtained via a detailed analysis of the thermal expansion of different materials. Therefore, the model in [255] is more universally applicable. [256] further studied the effect of concurrent power and vibration loads. The results indicate that two concurrent factors can influence the reliability more significantly than each individual factor. A model is also constructed by [256] to describe joint effect.

In addition to the models of component reliability, the system reliability is investigated in different studies. [257] models the reliability of a DC/DC converter, considering the fatigue of switches

and capacitors in power cycles. [258] compares the reliability of different inverter designs for BEVs. However, the model used in [258] only considers the thermal reliability of the switches. Other factors are neglected. [259] evaluates the reliability of a high voltage single-phase inverter using the H-bridge circuit. The reliability of capacitors and switches is included in the model, but the reliability of PCB solder joints is not considered. [260], [261] calculate the system reliability with a broader coverage of components. However, as the calculations in [260], [261] use fixed reliability values instead of fatigue models, they are not possible to assess the system reliability in different mission profiles.

A more holistic approach is introduced in [262]. In order to obtain a well-rounded model for the system reliability, [262] pointed out the necessity to consider PCBs, capacitors and switches simultaneously. However, as [262] is a literature review, a system reliability model is not constructed. The approach to obtain the necessary inputs is also not provided. Furthermore, the reliability model for the PCB solder joints suggested by [262] only considers the vibrations. The influence of thermal stress is not included, which is also of importance. The reliability of PCB solder joints could be overestimated.

In the literature review above, it is observed that the component reliability models are available, but the studies on the system reliability are mostly biased toward switches and capacitors. The reliability of the PCB solder joints is often neglected. The existing studies on system reliability are also biased toward the influence of electrical and thermal stress factors. The influence of mechanical vibrations is often not considered at all. For stationary power electronic systems, excluding the influence of vibrations is still reasonable. For the two automotive inverters to be assessed in this chapter, the influence of mechanical vibrations could be significant.

Therefore, the existing models on the system level are not appropriate for the reliability assessment in this dissertation. To conduct a more holistic assessment for the CHB and the benchmarked IGBT, in the next section, a system reliability model is constructed based on the reliability models of different components introduced in this section.

## 7.2 Approach

For automotive inverters, an approach to calculate the system reliability is not directly available, but existing studies have proposed different models to calculate the reliability of each fragile point in the inverter. Based on the discussion in the previous chapter, four types of fragile points, die attachments, bond wire joints, PCB solder joints and DC-link capacitors can be identified. The corresponding stress factors are also summarized and demonstrated in Figure 7.2.



Figure 7.2: Weak points and corresponding stress factors in an automotive inverter

The reliability of the die attachment is mainly influenced by junction temperature [237]–[242]. The reliability of the bond wire joints depends on the temperature swing, the working current and the working voltage of the switch [232], [236]. The joints of bond wires are assumed not influenced by mechanical vibrations, due to its limited significance compared to the temperature swing. Moreover, as the bond wires in a switch module are emerged in the silica gel, the influence of mechanical vibrations can be damped [230]. The lifetime of DC-link capacitors is determined by the voltage stress and the temperature [110]. For automotive inverters, the humidity is not necessary to consider, because the casings of all automotive inverters are required to be moisture-resistant [263]. In the end, the stress factors for the solder joints on PCBs are the temperature swing and mechanical vibrations.

With the stress factors of each fragile point obtained, by combining the corresponding reliability models, an approach to calculate the system reliability can be obtained, Figure 7.3. The approach is mainly composed of four steps.



Figure 7.3: Structure of the inverter reliability model

The first step is to calculate the stress profiles required by the component reliability models. The temperature profile of the semiconductor junction can be obtained in the driving cycle simulations introduced in chapter 2 and 4. The simulation still uses the assumption that the heatsink temperature is constantly 30 °C. After obtaining the temperature profile of the junction, the temperature of the PCB solder joints is estimated using the assumed thermal resistance between the PCB and the semiconductor junctions.

For the CHB, since the aluminum base PCBs are often used for MOSFET inverters [264], the thermal resistance between the MOSFET junctions and the solder joints is assumed to be 1.5 K/W. This value is estimated by summing the thermal resistance from the MOSFET junctions to the aluminum base and the thermal resistance from the aluminum base to PCB solder joints [265]. For the IGBT inverter, the thermal resistance between the IGBT junctions and PCB solder joints is much higher, because the PCB only contacts the IGBT module via its ceramic casing. Hence, the thermal resistance between the junctions and the PCB solder joints is assumed 30 K/W for the IGBT inverter.

The thermal resistance values in this chapter only describe the thermal connectivity between the PCB solder joints and the switches. They are assumed not to dissipate any heat for the switches, and hence these thermal resistance values do not influence the junction temperature. In the simulation, the junction temperature is only determined by the total loss of the inverter and the junction to heatsink thermal resistance, which is obtained in the corresponding datasheet of the switch [49], [99], as demonstrated in Figure 2.3.

The electrical stress profiles, the AC voltage profile and the AC current profile, can also be obtained in driving cycle simulations. For the DC-link capacitor, the current and voltage profile is further converted to the ripple current profile using the approach in [249]. Then the ripple current profile can be converted to temperature profile of the DC-link capacitor following the approach introduced in [110].

To incorporate the influence of the mechanical stress on the reliability of PCB solder joints, the worst-case value recorded in [266] is used. That is because the driving cycle simulations in this dissertation are not capable of generating mechanical stress profiles.

After obtaining all the stress profiles, in the second step, the temperature profile and the electrical stress profiles are converted to stress cycles by applying the rain flow counting algorithm [247]. In this way, the influence of the stress profiles can be accurately incorporated by the fatigue models of the fragile points.

In the third step, using the inputs generated by the previous step, the reliability models are used to calculate the failure rate of different fragile points. The model in [241] is used to calculate the cycle life of one die attachment,  $N_{\rm fDie}$ , in the IGBT inverter and the CHB, eq. (7.1).  $\Delta T_{\rm J}$  is the swing of the temperature junction in a thermal cycle.  $T_{\rm Mean}$  is the average temperature of the junction in the thermal cycle. The thermal cycles are obtained by the rain flow counting algorithm in the previous step.  $A_1$ ,  $A_2$  and  $\alpha$  are coefficients provided in [241].

$$N_{\rm fDie} = A_{\rm I} \Delta T_{\rm I}^{\alpha} e^{A_2/T_{\rm Mean}} \tag{7.1}$$

For the bond wire joints in the IGBTs and MOSFETs, the empirical model developed by [236] is selected, eq. (7.2). The model is obtained via a large number of experiments, but it can also take the stress cycles as inputs. Therefore, this empirical model is selected to estimate the reliability of automotive inverters. In eq. (7.2),  $t_{on}$  is the on time of the switch.  $D_{Bond}$  is the diameter of the bond wire.  $I_{Bond}$  is the current per bond wire. V is the voltage rating of the switch. K is a constant value provided in [236].

$$N_{\rm fBond} = K\Delta T_{\rm J}^{-4.416} e^{1285/T_{\rm Mean}} t_{\rm on}^{-0.463} I_{\rm Bond}^{-0.716} V^{-0.761} D_{\rm Bond}^{-0.5}$$
(7.2)

The cycle life of one PCB solder joint can be influenced by thermal stress and mechanical stress. In a certain thermal cycle, for the thermal cycle life of the PCB solder joint,  $N_{\rm fTSolder}$ , the model in [253] is used, eq. (7.3).  $\alpha_{\rm Copper}$  and  $\alpha_{\rm Solder}$  are the coefficients of thermal expansion (CTE) of the two materials connected by the solder joint, copper and solder. Together with the maximum and the minimum temperatures of the thermal cycle,  $T_{\rm max}$  and  $T_{\rm min}$ , the ratio of mismatch,  $\Delta\gamma$ , at one joint can be calculated. *l* is the length of the solder joint, and *h* is the height of the joint [253]. After  $\Delta\gamma$  is obtained, based on the mean temperature and the frequency of the thermal cycle,  $T_{\rm mean}$  and  $f_{\rm cycle}$ ,  $N_{\rm fTsolder}$  can be calculated. The constant coefficients in eq. (7.3) are also obtained in [253]. The model in eq. (7.3) is an empirical model and its constant values could be a bit outdated. However, as the model manifests the fact that the failure is triggered by the mismatch of thermal expansions, it is still selected for the reliability simulation.

$$\Delta \gamma = \frac{l}{\sqrt{2h}} (\alpha_{\text{Copper}} - \alpha_{\text{Solder}}) (T_{\text{max}} - T_{\text{min}});$$

$$c = -0.442 - 0.0006 T_{\text{Mean}} + 0.174 log (1 + f_{\text{cycle}})$$

$$N_{\text{fTSolder}} = 0.5 (\Delta \gamma / 7)^{\binom{1}{c}}$$
(7.3)

The cycle life of one PCB solder joint under mechanical stress,  $N_{\rm fMSolder}$ , is calculated using the model in [251], eq. (7.4). Using the worst-case acceleration of the vibration,  $a_{\rm Vibration}$ , provided in [266], and the natural resonance frequency of the PCB board,  $f_{\rm nPCB}$ , the deformation of the board,  $D_{\rm PCB}$ , can be calculated. With  $D_{\rm PCB}$  obtained, using the logarithmic linear model developed by [266], eq. (7.4),  $N_{\rm fMSolder}$  can be obtained.

$$D_{\text{PCB}} = \frac{a_{\text{Vibration}}}{4\pi^2 f_{\text{nPCB}}}$$

$$N_{\text{FMSolder}} = e^{\frac{0.812 - D}{0.0215}}$$
(7.4)

The reliability of the DC-link capacitor is calculated by the model in [110], which has been verified and used in different studies, eq. (7.5).  $t_{nominal}$ ,  $T_n$  and  $V_n$  are respectively the nominal lifetime, nominal temperature and nominal voltage of the capacitor.  $T_{test}$  and  $V_{test}$  are the temperature and the voltage seen by the capacitor in the reliability test.  $\alpha_T$  and  $\alpha_V$  are two constants provided in [110]. With these values, the lifetime of the capacitor,  $t_{fC}$  can be calculated by eq. (7.5). Furthermore, using the duration of the driving cycle,  $t_{cycle}$ ,  $t_{fC}$  can also be converted to cycle life,  $N_{fC}$ , with regard to the driving cycle. This model is only used for the IGBT inverter, because the CHB does not require a DC-link capacitor.

$$\begin{cases} t_{fC} = t_{nominal} e^{-\alpha_{T}(1/T_{test} - 1/T_{n})} e^{-\alpha_{V}(V_{test} - V_{n})/V_{n}} \\ N_{fC} = t_{fC}/t_{cycle} \end{cases}$$
(7.5)

The last step of the approach is to calculate the cycle life of the whole inverter system. As it is often assumed that the failure of the fragile points follows the Poisson process, the cycle life of the whole inverter system,  $N_{\text{finv}}$ , can be calculated by eq. (7.6). The cycle life values of different fragile points are combined to form the cycle life of the inverter system, according to the number of each fragile points.  $n_{\text{Die}}$ ,  $n_{\text{Bond}}$ .  $n_{\text{Solder}}$  and  $n_{\text{C}}$  are respectively the number of dies, the number of bond wire joints, the number of PCB joints and the number of capacitors. Multiplying  $N_{\text{finv}}$  with the distance of the driving cycle, the mileage life of the inverter can be obtained as well. All the necessary parameters of the formulas discussed above are provided in Appendix D.

$$N_{\text{finv}} = \frac{1}{n_{\text{Die}} / N_{\text{fDie}} + n_{\text{Bond}} / N_{\text{fBond}} + n_{\text{Solder}} (1 / N_{\text{fTSolder}} + 1 / N_{\text{fMSolder}}) + n_{\text{C}} / N_{\text{fC}}}$$
(7.6)

Before introducing the results, several assumptions implied in the model should be noted. First, due to availability reasons, the parameters used by the models are mostly obtained from studies focusing on industrial applications. Hence, the parameters manifest the performance of industrial grade components, instead of automotive grade components with a higher reliability. The cycle life of the system could be underestimated for the CHB that uses automotive grade components. Second, the ambient temperature of the simulation is set constantly 30 °C, which could be mild compared to realistic environments a BEV could encounter. This assumption tends to overestimate the reliability of the inverters.

The failure predicted by the model is defined by the situation when any fragile point fails, regardless if the failed point causes a system breakdown. This definition of failure is implied when combining the expected cycle life of all fragile points in eq. (7.6). Additionally, due to the adoption of multiple empirical models and assumptions, the results generated by the model might not be an accurate estimation of the reliability of the two inverters. Nonetheless, by comparing the results of the two inverters, it is sufficient to identify if the reliability of the CHB is significantly lower than that of the IGBT inverter.

## 7.3 Results

The three comprehensive driving cycles, i.e., FTP72, NEDC and WLTP C3, are used for the reliability simulations, in order to compare the reliability of the CHB and the benchmarked IGBT. The obtained values of the mileage life of the two inverters are illustrated in Figure 7.4.

First, in all the comprehensive driving cycles, the mileage life of the CHB is longer than that of the benchmarked IGBT inverter. However, the mileage life values of the two inverters are in the same order of magnitude. For a reliability assessment based on fatigue analysis, such a difference is not significant enough to make a concrete judgment which design is more reliable, because empirical formulas are used in the model.

Second, according to the simulation results, both inverters have a mileage life in the level of million kilometers in all three driving cycles. Such a mileage life is much higher than the mileage life of the mechanic components in other subsystems, e.g., HVAC system, transmission etc. According to the data collected by [267], the mileage per replacement of these components is around 100,000 to 150,000 kilometers. Hence, in general the inverter does not form a bottleneck for the reliability of BEVs. Even if the CHB would have a slightly shorter mileage life, the reliability of the BEV or powertrain system would not be deteriorated. Therefore, the simulation results resolve the concern regarding the reliability of the CHB.



Figure 7.4: Mileage life of the two inverters in different synthetic driving cycles

Comparing the mileage life values across different driving cycles, another observation is that the driving cycle has a significant influence on the predicted mileage life. For both inverters, the mileage life values in FTP72 cycle are significantly lower. Additionally, for the CHB inverter, the mileage life in NEDC cycle is much higher. The decrease in mileage life observed in the FTP72 cycle is explained by the temperature curves. Figure 7.5 compares the junction temperature curves of the IGBT in different driving cycles. Compared to the other two driving cycles, because FTP72 cycle contains more starts and stops in the same distance, large temperature swings are

observed more often. As a result, all the fragile points influenced by the temperature swings have a lower cycle life, which eventually causes a shorter mileage life for the inverter.

The shorter mileage life of the CHB in FTP72 cycle can be explained similarly, because the temperature curves of the CHB in different driving cycles have the same difference, as shown in Figure 7.6. Since the CHB has a much higher efficiency in the partial load area, the maximum junction temperature of the MOSFETs in the CHB is significantly lower. However, a higher number of large temperature swings cycle can still be clearly seen in FTP27 cycle.



Figure 7.6: Junction temperature curves of the MOSFETs in the CHB

The much longer mileage life of the CHB in NEDC cycle can be explained by the driving behavior as well. Compared to the other two driving cycles, the NEDC cycle has a more smooth speed curve. Therefore, the NEDC cycle results in a smooth temperature curve, while the temperature curves of the other two driving cycles have a large amount of ripples. In the fatigue analysis, these ripples are deemed as temperature swings. Although the amplitude of these swings is low, due to their large amount, the influence is significant. As the NEDC cycle does not trigger these small swings, the corresponding mileage life is naturally much higher.

However, for the IGBT inverter, a longer mileage life is not observed in the NEDC cycle. That is because the mileage life of the IGBT is bottlenecked by the life of the DC-link capacitor. The influence of the switch temperature is not visible anymore. Moreover, as the NEDC cycle triggers higher current ripples on the DC-link capacitor due to its lower speed [268], the DC-link capacitor is expected to have a higher temperature and thus a shorter mileage life. Therefore, compared to WLTP C3 cycle, the IGBT inverter even turns out to have a shorter mileage life in the NEDC cycle.

To make the explanations above clearer, the contributions of each failure mechanism in both inverters are illustrated in the pie charts in Figure 7.7, when the inverters are tested by WLTP C3 cycle. For the failure of the PCB solder joints in the CHB, the contributions of mechanical vibrations and temperature swings are differentiated. For the IGBT inverter, the DC-link capacitor is the dominating failure mechanism in WLTP C3 cycle, while the influence of temperature explains only about 20 % of the failure. The DC-link capacitor forms the bottleneck of the reliability. Therefore, when shifting to NEDC cycle, the deterioration of the capacitor reliability overrides the reliability improvements caused by less temperature swings. The distribution is significantly different from that of industrial inverters in Figure 7.1, which could be explained by the difference in application scenarios and the possible errors in the fatigue analysis models.

For the CHB, the dominant failure mechanism is the thermal failure of PCB solder joints. When the test cycle shifts from WLTP C3 to NEDC, the mileage life increases, due to the reduced temperature swings.



Figure 7.7: The contribution of each failure mechanism in the two inverters

In addition to the assessment with common comprehensive driving cycles, the two inverter are also assessed in a maximum acceleration simulation, in order to investigate the reliability in the extreme case. The test starts with a full-pedal acceleration for 10 s. According to the datasheets [49], [99], this short period is sufficient for the junction temperature to reach steady state. Then the inverter is immediately idled for another 10 s, so that the junction temperature converges back to the ambient temperature (heatsink temperature). The convergence in 10 s is possible, because the thermal capacitance of switches is limited. The thermal time constant of the switch
is about 2 s [49]. Therefore, when the switch is actively cooled, the junction temperature is almost only determined by the total loss of the switch, with a limited time delay.

Such a test profile generates the maximum temperature swing that is possible to encounter in the reference vehicle, and thus is one of the most challenging scenarios for the reliability of switches. However, as the test only lasts 20 s, components outside the switches, e.g., PCB solder joints and the DC-link capacitor, do not experience the swing. The simulated results of the test are listed in Table 7.1. The expected cycle life is given without converting to the mileage values, because the mileage is not an appropriate metric for the reliability in extreme scenarios.

Inverter Type	Temperature swing	Maximum junction temperature	Expected cycle life	
IGBT	75 °C	105 °C	85,161 cycles	
СНВ	26 °C	56 °C	133,817 cycles	

Table 7.1: Reliability of the two inverters in maximum acceleration test

According to the results in Table 7.1, the IGBT is expected to last about 85,000 before the first fragile point fails. The cycle life of the CHB is higher, more than about 133,000 cycles. That is because the temperature swing of the MOSFETs in the CHB is much lower during the maximum acceleration test, due to the higher efficiency of the CHB. Nonetheless, as the cycle life values of the two inverters are still in the same order of magnitude, it cannot be concretely judged if one inverter in more reliable. Moreover, the result of the IGBT in Table 7.1 roughly matches the power cycling test result of state-of-the-art automotive inverters [269]. According to [269], with a temperature swing of 75 °C, a state-of-the-art automotive inverter is supposed to survive around 100,000 temperature cycles before breakdown. Hence, the result of the IGBT inverter generated by the reliability model is reasonable. Other results generated by the model are thus expected to be in a reasonable range as well.

Based on the simulation results and the analysis, it is observed that the reliability of the CHB is not a problem, although the CHB has more components. The reliability of the CHB is in fact similar to that of the IGBT inverter. In the next section, the results are further explained and discussed.

# 7.4 Discussion

This section first aims to explain why the expected lower reliability of the CHB is not observed. Then mileage until breakdown of the two inverters is discussed based on the results in the previous section. The fault tolerance operation of the CHB is also briefly introduced.

### 7.4.1 Explanation of the Results

Although the CHB has more components, especially more switches in the system, its reliability is in the same order of magnitude as an IGBT inverter. The similarity of the reliability can be explained in two aspects. First, because of the high efficiency, the thermal stress of the MOSFETs in the CHB is much lower than that of the IGBT. That is obvious by comparing the junction temperature curves in Figure 7.5 and the curves in Figure 7.6.

Second, the six-pack IGBT module of the benchmarked inverter is also composed of multiple smaller switches. Opening up the module, Figure 7.8(a), 24 IGBT dies and 24 diode dies can be found [37]. Compared to the 216 MOSFET dies used in the CHB, 48 is not a significantly lower value to change the reliability fundamentally. The difference in the number of bond wire joints is even smaller. In the CHB, there are five bond wire joints per MOSFET [270], and in total 1080 joints. In the IGBT module, only counting the joints on the dies, excluding those connected to copper bars (due to weak thermal connectivity to the dies), there are 17 joints on each die of IGBT and 8 joints on each die of diode, according to Figure 7.8(b). In total, the IGBT module has 600 bond wire joints on the dies. The number of fragile points in the IGBT module is not significantly lower than that in the MOSFETs of the CHB. The IGBT module is only much more integrated.

Moreover, due to the reduced stress, the dominating failure mechanism of the CHB is actually not the failures inside MOSFETs. The contribution of switch related failures is negligible, according to the percentage contribution of each failure mechanism illustrated in Figure 7.7. The dominating driving factor for the failure of the CHB is the failure of PCB solder joints. That phenomenon is caused by two reasons. First, the CHB is assumed to have a much higher number of PCB solder joints. In the simulation, the CHB is estimated to have 500 solder joints on each PCB, and 4500 solder joints in total in the system. This estimation includes solder joints of switches, drivers, controllers, small passive components and redundant joints etc. Second, all the PCB solder joints are assumed closely coupled to the junctions of the MOSFETs, via a thermal resistance of 1.5 K/W. As a result, all the PCB solder joints are exposed to the temperature swings of the semiconductors. The two factors together make the failure of PCB solder joints the most dominating reason for the system failure of the CHB.









### 7.4.2 Realistic Mileage Life of the Two Inverters

In the previous sections, comparisons are conducted based on the mileage until one fragile point fails, regardless if the failure of this point could cause a breakdown of the inverter or not. Therefore, based on the results obtained in previous sections, the realistic mileage life of the two inverters is discussed. The realistic mileage life means the mileage an inverter can operate continuously without compromising its functionality. The value of the realistic mileage life could manifest the reliability from the perspective of the users.

For the CHB, the failure predicted by the model does not certainly lead to a fatal error of the system, because the predicted failure is most probably the failure of a PCB solder joint, and many solder joints on the PCB have no significant influence on the operation of the system.

These solder joints include the solder joints of redundant decoupling capacitors, redundant connectors, and unused pins of ICs. Therefore, the realistic mileage life of the CHB should be longer than the prediction generated by the model.

In contrast, the main failure mechanisms of the IGBT inverter are the failure of DC-link capacitor and the failure of bond wire joints, Figure 7.7. These failures usually lead to the breakdown of the inverter. If a bond wire joint fails, the current rating of the switch will be reduced. In this case, once a high current is demanded, the still functional joints will also fail due to overcurrent. For IGBT modules with multiple dies in parallel, the failure of a bond wire joint is possible to cause current imbalance and eventually break the switch due to thermal runaway [271]. If the DC-link capacitor fails, regardless if it enters open circuit or short circuit state, the inverter cannot operate normally anymore. Hence, the realistic mileage life of the benchmarked IGBT inverter should be consistent with the value predicted by the model.

In addition to the failure mechanism, the predicted mileage life of the CHB is also significantly influenced by the assumption that all the PCB solder joints are thermally coupled to MOSFET junctions, with a thermal resistance of 1.5 K/W. This assumption is only a worst-case assumption. On the one hand, in a realistic scenario, not every solder joint on a PCB board can be so closely coupled to the MOSFET junctions. On the other hand, there are different approaches to make most of the PCB solder joints thermally isolated from the MOSFETs and significantly improve the reliability. The approaches will be introduced in the next chapter. Therefore, the reliability of the CHB tends to be underestimated in the simulations of this chapter.

Combining the discussions regarding the failure mechanism and the assumptions, the realistic mileage life of the CHB is expected to be longer than the predicted value, while the realistic mileage life of the IGBT inverter should be consistent with the prediction. Therefore, the CHB is further confirmed not to have any disadvantages in terms of reliability. Realistically, the CHB is even more reliable than the IGBT inverter.

Moreover, the CHB and other multilevel inverters also have the capability to operate continuously, even if one or several submodules completely break down. Such a fault-tolerance operation can be realized by bypassing the fault modules with the switches [124], [272]–[276]. In this case, the maximum power of the CHB is reduced [124], but the vehicle is still drivable. When one module in the CHB breaks down, the BEV does not necessarily require an immediate repair. The expected available time (availability) of the BEV using the CHB is much longer than that using the IGBT inverter.

According to an estimation in [124], a multilevel inverter is supposed to have the same availability as the IGBT inverter, if the two inverters should provide at least 93 % of their maximum power. If the power requirement is reduced to 90 % of the maximum power, the availability of the multilevel inverter will become more than ten times higher than that of the IGBT inverter [124]. Therefore, considering the continuous operation at a lower power, the CHB tends to be significantly more reliable than the benchmarked IGBT inverter. Different control algorithms to conduct fault-tolerance operations are extensively explained in [124], [272]–[276]. Hence, the details of the algorithms will not be discussed in this section.

To summarize this chapter, the simulations prove that reliability of the CHB and the benchmarked IGBT inverter is in the same level. The reliability of the CHB concept is generally not a problem, although a higher number of components are used. The reliability of inverters generally does not form a bottleneck for the reliability of BEVs. Due to the assumptions and the failure mechanisms of the two inverters, the realistic mileage until breakdown of the CHB could be even higher than that of the IGBT inverter. Furthermore, because of the fault-tolerance capability of the CHB, in

comparison to the benchmarked IGBT inverter, the CHB is expected to result in a longer available time in practical implementations. Therefore, even considering reliability, the CHB concept is still a preferable concept for BEVs.

After resolving the concerns over the CHB concept, the next chapter discusses several aspects that are not covered by dedicated investigations. Some guidelines for practical implementations are provided. In the end, the limitations of the concept and the overall research of the dissertation are also discussed.

# **8 Discussion and Outlook**

In the previous four chapters, the proposed CHB concept is investigated in terms of efficiency, cost, battery aging and reliability. The assessments of efficiency and cost confirm that the targets of design are successfully met. The latter two chapters resolve the two concerns regarding the CHB concept. Hence, the CHB concept is proven to be a generally appropriate concept to improve the performance of electric powertrains.

However, as the CHB concept is proposed for BEVs, its weight, volume and EMI should also be discussed. On the system level, due to the structural change, there are also several challenges associated with the CHB concept. Therefore, this chapter first covers these considerations via a discussion. Then based on results and discussions in previous chapters, the most appropriate vehicle concepts to implement the CHB are identified.

In addition to the conceptual discussions, this chapter also introduces the technical guidelines to realize the predicted improvements in practical implementations. The guidelines are summarized based on the prototyping experience and the analysis in the previous chapters. In the end, the limit and the outlook of the research are discussed. Further possible improvements of the CHB concept are enumerated as possible topics for future studies.

# 8.1 Additional Considerations

For automotive applications, besides the four investigations, there are still several additional aspects to be considered. First, on the component level, the weight, volume and EMI are also important criteria. Second, due to the elimination of the DC link, the challenges associated with the CHB concept are also discussed.

## 8.1.1 Weight, Volume and EMI of the CHB Concept

First, compared to IGBT inverters using six-pack topology, the CHB inevitably has a higher weight, as more components are used. However, as the additional components are limited to ICs, switches or driving circuits, the added weight is limited within several kilograms. Besides, since the CHB reduces the required battery capacity, the reduced weight of the batteries could counterbalance the increased weight of the inverter. Therefore, the CHB is not expected to increase the weight of BEV. For BEVs with a longer nominal range, as the weight reduction of batteries is more significant, the CHB can even help to reduce the curb weight of the vehicle.

Second, the CHB may bring challenges to the volume of the battery pack. Since the CHB is electrically connected to batteries, to avoid a complicated wiring process, the optimal method is to integrate the H-Bridges horizontally within the battery modules. However, via an optimized packaging and board design, the volume of the battery pack does not necessarily increase after

the integration of the CHB. Even in the worst case, only the height of the battery pack casing is expected to increase by 1-2 cm, due to the integration of the CHB.

As most high power MOSFETs have a planar package, the height of the H-bridge modules can be restricted within 1-2 cm, determined by the height of the connectors, which is usually the tallest component on a MOSFET board. Such a height is close to the height of a slave BMS board. Therefore, by optimizing the size and the shape of the H-bridge modules, or even integrating the slave BMS boards into the H-bridge modules, the modules can be inserted into the packaging space reserved for the slave BMS boards, which is necessary as well for the conventional powertrain architecture. Such an optimization of the H-bridge module is often feasible, due to the limited maximum power and the limited heat dissipation of a single module. In this case, the CHB does not change the size of the battery pack casing at all, and hence has no influence on the vehicle packaging. Moreover, due to the integration, the packaging space reserved for the IGBT inverter is made available. The packaging of the vehicle could be even simplified.

Nonetheless, the situation in the previous chapter may not be always feasible. In the worst case, when the optimally designed H-bridge modules still cannot fit in the packaging space of slave BMS boards, the alternative solution is to attach the H-bridge modules horizontally on top of the battery modules. The height of the battery pack casing will be increased by 1-2 cm. Because battery packs are often installed either under the floor/seats for passenger vehicle [277] or on the roof for buses [278, p. 21], and considering the saved space originally occupied by the IGBT inverter, such an increase in height is not expected to significantly influence the packaging design, the weight or the air resistance coefficient of the vehicle. Therefore, even in the worst case, following the planar design approach, the CHB is still not expected to cause a significantly problem in terms of packaging.

Third, the EMI level is also an important criterion to evaluate inverters. To estimate the EMI of an inverter, a straightforward approach is to calculate the speed of voltage shifting during the turn-on or turn-off transient of the switch, usually marked as dv/dt [90], for which the duration of the switching transient and the DC voltage blocked by the switches are necessary.

The switching transient time of an IGBT,  $t_{\text{trans}\_IGBT}$ , is usually around 5 times that of a MOSFET in the CHB,  $t_{\text{trans}\_CHB}$ , [79, p. 12]. However, in a CHB, the DC voltage switched by the MOSFETs is much lower. For a CHB with *N* modules per phase and an IGBT inverter with the same voltage output capability, the voltage blocked by MOSFETs,  $u_{\text{DC}\_CHB}$  is only 1/2*N* of the voltage blocked by the IGBT,  $u_{\text{DC}\_IGBT}$ . Hence, the dv/dt of the CHB and that of the IGBT have a relationship in eq. (8.1). When *N*≥3, the case in most studies [116], [125]–[130], the dv/dt of the CHB is lower. Therefore, the CHB concept is expected not to have severe problems in terms of EMI.

$$\frac{(dv/dt)_{\text{CHB}}}{(dv/dt)_{\text{IGBT}}} = \frac{u_{\text{DC_CHB}}}{u_{\text{DC_IGBT}}} \cdot \frac{t_{\text{trans_IGBT}}}{t_{\text{trans_CHB}}} = \frac{5}{2N}$$
(8.1)

Based on the discussions above, it observed that the CHB concept does not have significant problems in terms of weight, volume or EMI. Therefore, the CHB remains a valid concept, even when broadening the aspects of considerations.

## 8.1.2 Challenges on System

The previous section further proves that the CHB concept does not have problems on the component level. However, it does not indicate that the CHB concept is perfect. In fact, the main

challenge associated with the CHB is the influence on the overall system design. In this section, the two problems introduced by the CHB concept, i.e., the power supply for auxiliaries and the compatibility with multiple motors, are discussed. However, due to their solvability, the two problems do not affect the plausibility of the CHB concept. They are only deemed as challenges associated with the concept.

#### **Auxiliaries Power Supply**

The first challenge associated with the CHB is the power supply of the auxiliaries, which is usually a low DC voltage (e.g., 12 V or 24 V) required by the auxiliary loads in BEVs. In a conventional electric powertrain structure, the power of auxiliaries is supplied by a DC/DC converter, which converts the varying high voltage of the DC link to a stable low voltage. However, for the CHB, due to the elimination of the high voltage DC link, the conventional solution is not feasible anymore. In this case, to generate the low voltage for the auxiliaries, a straightforward solution is to integrate a small DC/DC converter in each H-bridge module. The converters are then paralleled, so that enough power is provided to supply the auxiliary load.

Another possible solution is to equip only one or several modules with a DC/DC converter, in order to reduce the total number of converters. This solution is also proposed by [279]. Such a solution could have a lower cost. However, it also causes the imbalance of the load distributions among different submodules, which brings additional challenges to the SOC balancing. The SOC balancing algorithms are shortly introduced in section 3.2.2, but it is still necessary to verify if the balancing capability of the standard algorithms is sufficient to correct the unevenly distributed auxiliary load.

For the CHB concept, the power of auxiliaries can be supplied by different approaches. The two possible approaches discussed above are only two examples. To come up with the optimal solution for a certain scenario, dedicated investigations are still necessary. Limited by the scope of research, these investigations are not conducted in this dissertation.

#### **Multi-Motor Compatibility**

Another problem of the CHB concept is its compatibility with the powertrains with multiple motors. In order to achieve high performance and further improve the motor efficiency, high-end BEVs are often equipped with two [280]–[282] or even more motors [283], [284]. In the conventional powertrain system, the high voltage DC link serves as a central power supply, so that multiple inverters can be connected to control multiple motors. In contrast, in the CHB, as the inverter and the batteries are integrated, the central power supply does not exist anymore. Driving multiple motors becomes a more difficult task.

A possible solution is to install multiple sets of isolated CHB systems in the vehicles, and each CHB system is powered by an individual set of batteries. In this case, every motor can be controlled by an individual CHB. However, it is challenging to charge or balance the batteries in several sets of batteries. As the number of motor further increases, the challenge of having multiple sets of batteries becomes even more severe. Therefore, this solution is generally not appropriate.

A possible alternative is demonstrated in Figure 8.1(a). Instead of adding another set of batteries into the vehicle, this solution connects two or more H-bridges to a single battery module, and then cascade the H-bridges to form multiple sets of CHBs using one set of batteries. Following this approach, the multiple CHB systems can be powered by the same batteries, Figure 8.1(a). Then each CHB can be used to control one motor.



Figure 8.1: A possible solution to control multiple motors with the CHB concept

However, in this case, for the second set of H-bridges, the power supplies of the modules are not isolated anymore, because the first set already establishes certain electrical connections among the batteries. Therefore, the control strategy and the PWM algorithms of the two CHBs should be carefully designed and well synchronized. Otherwise, it is possible to short the battery modules in certain switch statuses.

One example is demonstrated in Figure 8.1(b). The two CHB systems are seemingly normal individually. The CHB1 is generating  $2u_{DC}$  as the output, while the CHB2 is supplying  $-u_{DC}$  to the load. However, in this case, a route to short circuit the lower battery module is created between the two systems, as highlighted in Figure 8.1(b). Therefore, to implement this solution to drive a BEV with multiple motors, the appropriate PWM algorithms should be specifically investigated.

As a summary, it is possible to make the proposed CHB concept compatible with multi-motor powertrain architectures. However, the control algorithms to control multiple motors still requires further research.

# 8.2 Most Appropriate Scenarios for the CHB

Based on the results in previous chapters and the additional considerations, it is observed that the CHB concept is generally more preferable than a conventional IGBT inverter for different vehicle concepts. Nonetheless, in several scenarios, the advantages of the CHB can be maximized. To identify the most appropriate scenarios to implement the CHB concept, the features making the CHB concept more competitive are summarized first. Then the most appropriate scenarios for the CHB are identified accordingly.

First, to fully utilize the high efficiency of the CHB, vehicle concepts should be more toward urban driving scenarios. That is because the efficiency improvement of the concept is more significant in the partial load area, according to the efficiency analysis in chapter 4. The corresponding cost reduction effect is also more significant.

Second, according to the cost assessment in chapter 5, to maximize the cost reduction effect of the CHB, the rated capacity of the battery pack should be high enough. A high capacity of the battery pack is a result of either a high nominal range, or a high weight of the vehicle (leading to

a high consumption). Hence, in terms of the cost reduction, the CHB concept should be implemented in BEVs with a long range or high weight.

The results in chapter 6 do not provide suggestions for vehicle concept selection. The results of the reliability assessment in chapter 7 indicate that the CHB has a longer mileage until breakdown. The CHB also has the possibility to conduct fault-tolerance operations by limiting the maximum power. Therefore, if BEVs are required to be continuously available, regardless of the driving performance, the CHB is also more preferable.

In the end, the main challenge associated with the CHB concept is the difficulty to control multiple motors. The CHB concept is more straightforward to implement in vehicle concepts that use one or two motors in the powertrain system. Therefore, for BEVs pursuing extreme driving performance by equipping more than two motors, the CHB concept is not recommended. The CHB concept is more suitable when the high driving performance is not a crucial factor.

Summarizing the features discussed above, the most appropriate scenarios for the CHB concept can be obtained. Several examples are enumerated below.

First, urban electric buses and electric taxis are appropriate to implement the CHB concept, because the two types of vehicles exclusively drive in urban scenarios, where the cost reduction effect of the CHB is more significant. As the two types of vehicles are used in cost-sensitive scenarios, the cost reduction effect of the CHB is also more beneficial. Furthermore, as the two types of vehicles are used for public services, the fault-tolerance capability of the CHB can significantly improve the service quality. The disadvantage of the CHB can be avoided, because an extreme driving performance is not the key requirement of these vehicles, and one or two electric motors are usually sufficient to drive the vehicle. Nonetheless, as these two scenarios do not necessarily need dedicated inverter design, they may not be an ideal market entrance for the CHB concept.

Second, for entry-level personal BEVs, e.g., the reference vehicle, the CHB concept is also preferred. On the one hand, the entry-level BEVs are cost-sensitive. The cost reduction effect of the CHB is rather important for these vehicles. On the other hand, such a BEV also does not require an extreme acceleration, so that the CHB only needs to drive one motor. The challenge of multi-motor compatibility does not exist. Additionally, due to potentially large market size, entry-level personal BEV might be an ideal scenario for the CHB to enter the market.

It is worth noting that the CHB concept is generally more advanced than the conventional IGBT inverter, as proven in the previous chapters. The examples in this section only indicate several scenarios where the benefits of the CHB concept can be maximized. The feasibility of the CHB concept is not restricted within the scenarios enumerated above. An example is that the CHB can also be used in high-performance vehicles for efficiency improvement, but the performance is not achieved by increasing the number of motors. To reach a high driving performance with the CHB concept, a more feasible approach is to use motors with higher voltage. That is because the CHB can easily reach higher voltage by cascading more modules. In addition, different from six-pack inverters, the partial load efficiency of the CHB does not decrease with the increasing system voltage, as its switching loss is only related to the module voltage. Hence, even for a high voltage CHB, the efficiency is still expected to be much higher than that of a 400 V IGBT inverter. As a result, the CHB can also be used in sporty BEVs to improve the efficiency.

# 8.3 Guidelines for Practical Implementations

In the previous discussions, it is observed that the CHB is capable of reducing the system cost in a number of scenarios, due to its improved efficiency. To realize the predicted efficiency improvement and cost reduction, this section provides the technical guidelines for the practical implementations of the CHB. The guidelines are obtained from the experience of constructing a functional prototype. The prototype is built to demonstrate the functions and the advantages of the CHB, when the CHB is implemented in an electric bus concept. The electric bus concept is designed for the future public transport system in Singapore [285].

Different from the switch selection introduced in chapter 3, the prototype of the CHB uses five IPT015N10N5 (maximum current 300 A [286]) MOSFETs in parallel at each switch position. With forced-air cooling, the prototype can handle a maximum current of 500 A and provide ±150 V AC voltage output, which is sufficient to drive a minibus. However, as the battery modules in the prototype are recycled from another project and significantly aged, the maximum charge and discharge current of the modules is limited to 15 A, less than 0.3 C for the 48 Ah battery modules. Therefore, for the safety, the CHB prototype is only tested by discharging to load resistors at a low current. Based on the considerations of the design, the problems identified in tests and the possible approaches for further improvements, the guidelines for practical implementations are obtained. The guidelines are mainly about the selection of the MOSFETs and the cooling design.

## 8.3.1 MOSFET Selection

When selecting a MOSFET for the CHB, the on-state resistance should not be the only criterion. The parasite capacitance should also be checked carefully [287, p. 73]. That is because the MOSFETs with an extremely low resistance tend to have a high parasitic capacitance. When the parasitic capacitance of MOSFET is high, voltage oscillations could happen during the switching-off of the MOSFET.

In the prototype, each of selected MOSFET IPT015N10N5 has an on-state resistance of 1.5 m $\Omega$ , but meanwhile a high parasitic capacitance (1800 pF according to datasheet [286]). As a result, an intense oscillation of the voltage is observed, Figure 8.2. Such a high oscillation not only forms a high EMI for other electronic components in the system (due to the much higher dv/dt), but also has the potential to break down the MOSFETs, due to the overshoot of the voltage (60 % overshoot in Figure 8.2). Therefore, snubber circuits must be used to damp the oscillations.



Figure 8.2: Voltage oscillation measured during the turning-off of a MOSFET

However, if the parasitic capacitance of the selected MOSFET is too high, the additional switching loss caused by the snubber circuit will significant. For the prototype, to damp the oscillations in Figure 8.2, the resistor-capacitor snubber circuits can theoretically increase the average switching loss by about 120 % in a WLTP C3 driving cycle. According to the efficiency analysis in Table 4.4, such an increase in the switching loss corresponds to an efficiency decrease of 1 %. Therefore, to realize the predicted improvement of the efficiency, besides optimizing the parasitic parameters of the circuit, it is also important to reduce the intrinsic oscillation by selecting appropriate MOSFETs for the CHB.

To reduce the total parasite capacitance of switches, sometimes it is more recommendable to parallel multiple smaller MOSFETs, instead of using a single MOSFET rated at a much higher current. That is because an extremely low on-state resistance could be associated with a rather high parasite capacitance. For example, for the prototype, by replacing the five paralleled IPT015N10N5 MOSFETs with ten paralleled IRF100B201 MOSFETs, the overall on-state resistance of the CHB is not changed, but the parasitic capacitance can be reduced by 30 % [286], [288]. Accordingly, the additional switching loss caused by the snubber circuits can also be reduced approximately by 30 % [289].

In addition, for an optimal efficiency of the CHB, the switch modules could be more preferable than the discrete MOSFETs, as the parasite parameters of the switch modules have mostly been optimized. Although the whole dissertation analyzes the CHB that is composed of discrete components, it does not form a recommendation to use discrete components in practical implementations. The purpose of using discrete components is only to simplify the modelling of the efficiency and the cost. For practical implementations, switch modules and driving circuit modules could be better choices in terms of the efficiency.

## 8.3.2 Cooling Design

In the cost analysis, the cost of heatsinks is included in order to demonstrate the worst-case scenario of the CHB. However, for practical implementations, the dedicated heatsinks are not certainly necessary. Since the heat generated by the Si MOSFETs is much lower than the cooling power required by the fast charging of batteries, without causing any problem, the H-bridge modules can share the heatsinks of the batteries, which is required and generally rather efficient in terms of cooling.

Moreover, as H-bridge modules using Si MOSFETs are usually built on aluminum base PCBs, the integration of the heatsinks is also generally feasible in terms of packaging. The aluminum base of the PCBs can be conveniently attached to the heatsinks of the battery modules, so that the switches are also cooled by the same heatsinks. Such a layout is also planned in the prototype, Figure 8.3 (only to demonstrate the layout, the heatsink is not yet connected to the H-bridge module in the figure). The heatsink of the battery module is horizontally installed on the battery cells. By simply attaching the H-bridge PCB horizontally on top, the heat of the MOSFETs can be dissipated via the same heatsink. The heatsink cost of the CHB can thus be eliminated.

The cooling design also has an influence on the reliability of the CHB, and thus influences the total cost of the ownership of the BEV. Therefore, the cooling design should also consider the reliability. According to the analysis in chapter 7, to improve the reliability of the CHB, the MOSFETs should be thermally decoupled from other components. Hence, in practical implementations, it is not wise to put all the components of the submodule on one aluminum base PCB, like in the prototype in Figure 8.3. Instead, it is recommendable to put the power

components (MOSFETs, drivers) on the aluminum base PCB, and the other components on a separate common PCB. According to the model in chapter 7, such a thermal isolation is expected to improve the mileage life of the CHB by factor 5-10.



Figure 8.3: One H-bridge and its battery module in the CHB prototype

Such a thermal isolation design has already been commonly implemented in automotive products, including low voltage six-pack MOSFET inverters [290], and BMSs with MOSFET relays [264]. Even in the IGBT inverter in Figure 5.1 and in the benchmarked inverter, the control boards and the power modules are also thermally decoupled [37], [49] This approach of design not only has the potential to improve the reliability, but also slightly reduces the cost, as the material cost of aluminum base PCBs is higher.

In the end of this section, it is worth noting that the prototype in Figure 8.3 does not correctly demonstrate the height of the CHB in practical implementations. Since the fast prototyping was adopted, the modules are connected by stiff cables recycled from previous projects. The slave BMSs are also not well integrated in the modules. In practical implementation, even following the prototype layout, the height of the CHB can be restricted around 1 cm, by using customized flat bus bars and optimizing the integration of the slave BMS boards.

# 8.4 Limitations of the Research & Outlook

This dissertation proposed and verified the CHB concept. Nonetheless, the research still has a few restrictions. Moreover, as the scope of the research is limited to proposal and verifications of the concept, the potentials of the CHB concept are not fully exploited. These potentials will be introduced as the outlook of this research.

## 8.4.1 Limitations of the Research

As this dissertation mainly conducts four investigations for the CHB concept, the limitations of the research are also summarized accordingly. In each aspect, the limitations in terms of the methodology and the research scope are discussed.

#### Efficiency

In the efficiency assessment, all the other models are verified by full-scale experimental results, except for models of the CHB and the SiC MOSFET inverter. For the CHB, a full power prototype

is constructed, but its efficiency is not directly tested, because the battery modules of the prototype are recycled from a previous project, and are unsafe to run at high power. The efficiency model of the SiC MOSFET inverter is also only verified by ANSYS Simplorer, as it is impractical to build up a full power SiC MOSFET.

Another limitation is that only the reference vehicle is modelled. The improvements in other vehicles are not simulated. The reason is that the research of efficiency requires a high accuracy, and the motor parameters of other vehicles are not available. The detailed motor parameters of the reference vehicle is obtained, because the institute in Singapore coincidentally possesses a motor from the same series.

In the end, this dissertation does not compare the CHB with possible solutions that mix IGBTs and SiC MOSFET. A publication of the author [41] proves that mixing SiC MOSFETs and IGBTs in a single inverter is not cost effective. However, for a dual-motor BEV, using a SiC MOSFET inverter to control a small PSM, and an IGBT inverter to control a high-power ASM, a higher efficiency could be achieved at an acceptable cost. Due to the limit of the scope of the research, these solutions are not further modelled or discussed in this dissertation.

#### Cost

The system costs of the three inverters are estimated based on their energy consumptions and the capital costs. The capital cost is further obtained via a cost model. This model is generally better than using the large-bundle retail prices online, but the results are still rather difficult to verify. On the one hand, the OEM purchasing prices of different inverters and components are not available. On the other hand, the model still implements a few empirical factors, e.g., the manufacturing overhead, which could considerably vary case by case. Hence, the predicted cost reductions could still be inaccurate.

Regarding the scope of the research, another limitation of the cost assessment is that the cost associated with the system challenges (discussed in section 8.1.2) are not incorporated. For the reference vehicle, as only one motor is used, this is not a major problem. For vehicle concepts with multiple motors, the scope of the cost comparison needs to be broadened.

#### **Influence on Battery Aging**

First, the main limit of this part of research is that the number of the testing channels is limited to eight. The number of channels further limits the sample size of the test cells, which makes the experiment results potentially influenced by the randomness in the aging process. No more channels are constructed for the experiment, because all the test rigs are soldered and constructed in-house, which is a rather time-consuming process.

Second, the three unexpected aging curves form another limit of the research. The three curves do not change the conclusion of the research, but they are still worth further investigations. Due to the limit of the scope of research, only several possible explanations are provided in the dissertation. To determine the real reason, dedicated investigations are still necessary.

#### Reliability

As already mentioned in chapter 7, it is physically not feasible for this research to verify the results of reliability on the system level. The reliability model is only indirectly verified via literature research. For implementations in BEVs, a long-term test with multiple full-scale prototypes is still necessary to investigate the realistic reliability of the concept. The reliability research in this dissertation only indicates directionally that the CHB is not expected to deteriorate the reliability of BEVs.

## 8.4.2 Outlook for Further Improvements

As this research is limited to the proposal and verification of the concept, the potentials of the CHB concept are not fully exploited. In fact, via circuit optimization and improved control algorithms, the efficiency of the CHB could be further improved. These two topics are not covered in dissertation, but they are dedicatedly investigated in the dissertation of Mr. Felix Roemer, a Ph.D. candidate from the same institute. Besides the efficiency and cost, on system level, the concepts also have other advantages that could be further explored in the future.

### Optimization

In this dissertation, the CHB is arbitrarily configured to match the specification of the benchmarked IGBT inverter. However, for an optimal efficiency or cost, the parameters of the circuit can still be optimized. These parameters include the number of submodules per phase, the nominal DC voltage of each submodule and the selection of MOSFETs. Besides the optimization of the parameters, it is also worth investigating whether the H-bridge is the optimal submodule. In fact, for modular multilevel inverters aiming at other applications, the optimal submodule circuit is an active topic of research [104], [113]. The developed methods could also be feasible for automotive inverters.

### **Control Algorithms**

Through an improved control algorithm, the efficiency of the CHB can also be further enhanced. First, via an improved SOC balancing algorithm, more energy in the batteries could be used to drive the BEV, instead of being dissipated on the BMSs. Second, according to eq. (6.3), the RMS value of the ripples is related to the AC voltage of each submodule. Therefore, by carefully controlling the reference voltage of each submodule, the battery ohmic losses caused by the ripple current can also be reduced. In the end, due to the multilevel feature of the AC voltage waveforms, it is questionable whether the CHB still needs a rather high switching frequency to realize a low THD. To further reduce the switching loss, which accounts for approximately 50 % in the total loss of the inverter, the optimal switching frequency at each operational point should be searched for.

#### System Level Advantages

First, due to the balancing capability of the concept, new battery modules and aged battery modules could be mixed in the system. Therefore, when some battery modules reach end of life or break down, it is not necessary to replace the whole battery pack. The operation cost of the BEVs could thus be further reduced.

Second, the aged modules are more convenient for second life usage. Since each battery module has an integrated H-bridge on it, by cascading the aged modules, they can be directly connected to the AC power grid. Due to the balancing capability of these modules, the measurement and re-matching of the aged modules are not necessary either. Nonetheless, to realize the potential advantage, more studies should be conducted.

In the end, due to the AC interface of the CHB, no charging station is required anymore for high power charging of the batteries. The CHB can be directly charged by the three-phase 400 V AC power grid. Hence, the cost of infrastructures for a number of applications can be reduced. To realize the AC charging, further investigations regarding the control strategies and the system designs should be conducted.

# 9 Summary

Motivated by the possibility to reduce the cost of BEVs via a higher efficiency, this dissertation starts with driving cycle simulations to identify the efficiency of a benchmarked IGBT inverter. In the simulation, it is noticed that the benchmarked IGBT inverter has a rather low efficiency in the partial load area, which is mainly attributed to the intrinsic characteristics of IGBTs. As BEVs are not always driving at high speed, the low partial load efficiency of the IGBT inverters significantly deteriorates the average efficiency of electric powertrains.

Therefore, with the aim to improve the partial load efficiency, the dissertation conducts a literature research and categorizes the existing methods into three types, i.e., active DC link voltage control, SiC MOSFET inverter, and low voltage Si MOSFET inverter. By summarizing the existing studies, the dissertation identifies two key factors to solve the partial load problem at an acceptable cost. First, the switches of the inverter should work at a lower voltage, to reduce the switching loss at low speed. Second, Si MOSFETs should be used, so that the high losses of IGBTs and the high cost of SiC MOSFETs can be avoided.

Combining the two key factors, while considering the high voltage requirement associated with fast charging, this dissertation proposes to use the CHB as the general concept to solve the partial load efficiency problem. Such a circuit has been used for decades in industrial applications, but for automotive applications, its potential for efficiency improvement has not been evaluated yet. To verify the advantages of the concept, the efficiency and the cost of a specific CHB are examined, using a reference vehicle as an evaluation platform.

First, based on verified efficiency models, the CHB is proven to be capable of improving the efficiency significantly in all driving scenarios. In comprehensive driving cycles, the efficiency improvement is around 6 %. The improvement of efficiency is also proven to be more significant than that of the existing approaches, even when considering the influence of the CHB on the batteries and the motor.

Second, the system cost of the CHB is evaluated. The CHB indeed has a higher capital cost in the worst case, but the system cost can be effectively reduced, due to the reduced requirement of the battery capacity. Even in the worst-case scenario, CHB is still capable of reducing the system cost by 113 USD, which could be a significant cost reduction for mass-produced vehicles. A parameter sensitivity analysis further proves that the CHB concept is generally cost-effective for different BEVs.

The two verifications confirm that the proposed concept successfully meets the target of design, i.e., to reduce the cost via a higher efficiency. Compared to the existing approaches, especially the SiC MOSFET inverter, the CHB concept is also proven to be more effective.

Nonetheless, before practical implementations, there are still two concerns regarding the CHB concept. First, because of the ripples in the current waveform, the CHB is suspected to be harmful to lithium batteries. Second, since a much higher number of components are used in the

CHB, the reliability could also be questionable. To resolve the two concerns, dedicated investigations are conducted in the second half of the dissertation.

In order to investigate the influence of the current ripples on the battery aging, an aging experiment with eight battery cells is conducted, with a set of specifically designed hardware. According to the experimental results, the ripples in the CHB are harmless for lithium batteries, although three cells generate low capacity losses. An extensive discussion on previous studies further identifies two pre-conditions for the current ripples to become harmful. Nonetheless, the two conditions can be rather rarely met in the CHB. Therefore, the concern regarding the batteries is resolved.

To resolve the concern of reliability, the reliability of the CHB and the benchmarked IGBT inverter is modelled. The model is a combination of the fatigue models of the identified fragile points. The results indicate that the CHB should be at least as reliable as the IGBT inverter. Considering the dominant failure mechanism and the capability of the CHB to work during a fault, the CHB could be even more reliable than predicted.

According to the results obtained from the four investigations, the CHB concept is confirmed to be capable of outperforming the IGBT inverters. The advantages and disadvantages in other aspects are roughly discussed in the end. Several scenarios recommended for the CHB are also enumerated. Based on the experience gained from a prototype, the dissertation further provides suggestions for practical implementations.

As an overall conclusion, the CHB concept is proven to be generally promising for BEVs, in terms of efficiency and cost. This conclusion holds particularly before SiC MOSFETs become much cheaper.

However, to implement the CHB concept in BEVs, it is still necessary to search for the optimal solution to supply the power for auxiliaries, and the optimal solution to drive multiple motors in the powertrain. Moreover, to exploit the advantages of the CHB, an optimization of the concept is still recommended. Higher improvements are still possible by improving controlling algorithms and optimizing the specifications of the circuit. Additionally, further investigations should also be conducted to evaluate the efficiency improvement realized by mixing Si IGBTs and SiC MOSFETs. Especially for two-motor-driven BEVs, this solution could also improve the powertrain efficiency significantly. Nonetheless, whether this solution is cost-effective or not still requires further research.

# **List of Figures**

Figure 2.1:	Conventional architecture of an electric powertrain4
Figure 2.2:	The driving circuit for an IGBT5
Figure 2.3:	Thermal model the IGBT to calculate the junction temperature [50]7
Figure 2.4:	Block diagram of the driving cycle simulation to quantify the powertrain efficiency [50]8
Figure 2.5:	Simulated and measured efficiency maps of the IGBT inverter in the reference vehicle9
Figure 2.6:	Comparison of the simulated battery current waveform and the measured waveform [50]9
Figure 2.7:	Using a DC/DC converter to improve the partial load efficiency for BEVs12
Figure 2.8:	A Z-source inverter to improve the partial load efficiency for BEVs12
Figure 2.9:	The 48V high power MOSFET inverter and the motor for BEVs [97]14
Figure 2.10:	Structure of the dissertation16
Figure 3.1:	Fast charging possibilities enabled by the 800 V DC link [101]19
Figure 3.2:	Three level neutral point clamped (NPC) circuit, one phase, output $+uDC/2$ , 0, and $-uDC/2$
Figure 3.3:	Three level flying capacitor circuit, one phase, output $+uDC/2$ , 0 and $-uDC/2$
Figure 3.4:	Five level cascaded H-bridge circuit, one phase, output $\pm u$ DC, $\pm u$ DC/2, and 021
Figure 3.5:	General three phase configuration of a CHB powered by battery modules21
Figure 3.6:	Circuit of one H-bridge22
Figure 3.7:	PWM process of one H-bridge23
Figure 3.8:	AC output voltage of one phase in the CHB following the naive PWM approach
Figure 3.9:	Phase-shifted carrier PWM of one phase in CHB24
Figure 3.10:	AC output voltage of one phase in the CHB following Phase-shifted carrier PWM24
Figure 3.11:	The configuration of the CHB to be used for further analysis26
Figure 4.1:	Efficiency map and the map of efficiency improvement of the CHB35

Figure 4.2:	Efficiency map and the map of efficiency improvement of the SiC MOSFET inverter	
Figure 4.3:	Motor speed distribution of different driving cycles [50]	
Figure 4.4:	Converting a multiphase inverter to a single-phase CHB by rewiring42	
Figure 5.1:	Internal structure of a modularized 100 kW state-of-the-art IGBT inverter51	
Figure 5.2:	Block diagram of the cost model for the SiC MOSFET, CHB and IGBT inverter	
Figure 5.3:	The system costs of the three inverters when battery unit cost varies57	
Figure 5.4:	The system costs of the three inverters when the rated range varies58	
Figure 5.5:	The prevailing scenarios of IGBT and CHB, SiC not preferred in the whole range	
Figure 5.6:	System costs for the three inverters using the energy consumption of different cycles [50]60	
Figure 6.1:	Measured current waveform of one cell in the CHB when the power factor is 0.861	
Figure 6.2:	Simplified schematic of the testing hardware to generate high frequency current	
Figure 6.3:	Pictures of the designed hardware67	
Figure 6.4:	Thermal stability tests in charge and discharge process	
Figure 6.5:	Test profile of the aging experiment70	
Figure 6.6:	Average capacity reduction curves of the cells tested by DC and ripple current72	
Figure 6.7:	Three normal aging curve of the cells tested by different ripple current waveforms73	
Figure 6.8:	200 ms DC resistance of the cells over the aging test74	
Figure 6.9:	Capacity reduction curves of the three abnormal cells75	
Figure 6.10:	The capacity reductions in the aging experiment of [188]78	
Figure 6.11:	The histogram of power factor values in the reference vehicle (tested by WLTP C3 cycle)	
Figure 7.1:	Fragile components and their contributions to failures in industrial applications [233]83	
Figure 7.2:	Weak points and corresponding stress factors in an automotive inverter84	
Figure 7.3:	Structure of the inverter reliability model85	
Figure 7.4:	Mileage life of the two inverters in different synthetic driving cycles	
Figure 7.5:	Junction temperature curves of the IGBT89	
Figure 7.6:	Junction temperature curves of the MOSFETs in the CHB89	
Figure 7.7:	The contribution of each failure mechanism in the two inverters	

Figure 7.8:	The internal structure of the IGBT module used for the reference vehicle [37]
Figure 8.1:	A possible solution to control multiple motors with the CHB concept
Figure 8.2:	Voltage oscillation measured during the turning-off of a MOSFET100
Figure 8.3:	One H-bridge and its battery module in the CHB prototype102

# **List of Tables**

Table 2.1:	Driving cycle simulation results of the IGBT inverter in the reference vehicle [50]10
Table 2.2:	Summary of the existing solutions to the partial load efficiency problem15
Table 3.1:	Switch state of the H-Bridge and corresponding voltage values23
Table 3.2:	Specifications of the three inverters to be compared27
Table 4.1:	Summary of the studies on the efficiency Si MOSFET multilevel inverters31
Table 4.2:	Driving cycle simulation results and efficiency improvements of the CHB37
Table 4.3:	Driving cycle simulation results and efficiency improvement of the SiC MOSFET inverter
Table 4.4:	Switching and conduction losses of the three inverters in different driving cycles
Table 4.5:	Improvements of DC voltage shifting solutions and the CHB, compared to the IGBT inverter40
Table 4.6:	Simulated battery losses and the corresponding influence on efficiency improvements
Table 5.1:	Inverter cost models and their coverage of main cost items48
Table 5.2:	Capital cost of the IGBT inverter, the SiC MOSFET inverter and the CHB [50]
Table 5.3:	System cost of the three inverters for comparison55
Table 5.4:	The maximum and minimum of the system costs for the three inverters in USD
Table 6.1:	The configurations of experiments in previous studies regarding the influence of ripples
Table 6.2:	The parameters of the current waveforms used for cell aging test69
Table 6.3:	The capacity of the cells measured over the whole aging experiment72
Table 7.1:	Reliability of the two inverters in maximum acceleration test91

# Bibliography

- [1] G. P. Peters, R. M. Andrew, T. Boden, J. G. Canadell, P. Ciais, C. Le Quéré, G. Marland, M. R. Raupach, C. Wilson, C. Le Quéré, G. Marland, M. R. Raupach, C. Wilson, C. Le Quéré, G. Marland, M. R. Raupach, C. Wilson, C. Le Quéré, G. Marland, *et al.*, "The challenge to keep global warming below 2 °C," *Nat. Clim. Chang.*, vol. 3, pp. 1–3, Dec. 2012.
- [2] A. Hsu, N. Höhne, T. Kuramochi, M. Roelfsema, A. Weinfurter, Y. Xie, K. Lütkehermöller, S. Chan, J. Corfee-Morlot, P. Drost, P. Faria, A. Gardiner, D. J. Gordon, T. Hale, N. E. Hultman, J. Moorhead, S. Reuvers, J. Setzer, N. Singh, *et al.*, "A research roadmap for quantifying non-state and subnational climate mitigation action," *Nat. Clim. Chang.*, vol. 9, no. 1, pp. 11–17, Jan. 2019.
- [3] G. Santos, "Road transport and CO2 emissions: What are the challenges?," *Transp. Policy*, vol. 59, no. November 2015, pp. 71–74, Oct. 2017.
- [4] X. Tian, H. Dai, Y. Geng, J. Wilson, R. Wu, Y. Xie, and H. Hao, "Economic impacts from PM 2.5 pollution-related health effects in China's road transport sector: A provincial-level analysis," *Environ. Int.*, vol. 115, pp. 220–229, Jun. 2018.
- [5] T. Gordon, K. Balakrishnan, S. Dey, S. Rajagopalan, J. Thornburg, G. Thurston, A. Agrawal, G. Collman, R. Guleria, S. Limaye, S. Salvi, V. Kilaru, and S. Nadadur, "Air pollution health research priorities for India: Perspectives of the Indo-U.S. Communities of Researchers," *Environ. Int.*, vol. 119, pp. 100–108, Oct. 2018.
- [6] E. Shafiei, J. Leaver, and B. Davidsdottir, "Cost-effectiveness analysis of inducing green vehicles to achieve deep reductions in greenhouse gas emissions in New Zealand," *J. Clean. Prod.*, vol. 150, pp. 339–351, May 2017.
- [7] E. Chemali, M. Preindl, P. Malysz, and A. Emadi, "Electrochemical and Electrostatic Energy Storage and Management Systems for Electric Drive Vehicles: State-of-the-Art Review and Future Trends," *IEEE J. Emerg. Sel. Top. Power Electron.*, vol. 4, no. 3, pp. 1117–1134, Sep. 2016.
- [8] J. Serrano, "Imagining the Future of the Internal Combustion Engine for Ground Transport in the Current Context," *Appl. Sci.*, vol. 7, no. 10, pp. 1–5, Sep. 2017.
- [9] A. Beltramo, A. Julea, N. Refa, Y. Drossinos, C. Thiel, and S. Quoilin, "Using electric vehicles as flexible resource in power systems: A case study in the Netherlands," in *2017 14th International Conference on the European Energy Market (EEM)*, 2017, pp. 1–6.
- [10] J. Meckling and J. Nahm, "The politics of technology bans: Industrial policy competition and green goals for the auto industry," *Energy Policy*, vol. 126, no. November 2018, pp. 470–479, Mar. 2019.
- [11] L. Jian, H. Zechun, D. Banister, Z. Yongqiang, and W. Zhongying, "The future of energy storage shaped by electric vehicles: A perspective from China," *Energy*, vol. 154, pp. 249– 257, Jul. 2018.
- [12] P. G. Pereirinha, M. González, I. Carrilero, D. Anseán, J. Alonso, and J. C. Viera, "Main Trends and Challenges in Road Transportation Electrification," *Transp. Res. Procedia*, vol. 33, pp. 235–242, 2018.
- [13] M. Möhner, "Driving ban for diesel-powered vehicles in major cities: an appropriate penalty for exceeding the limit value for nitrogen dioxide?," *Int. Arch. Occup. Environ.*

Health, vol. 91, no. 4, pp. 373–376, May 2018.

- [14] S. Matteson and E. Williams, "Learning dependent subsidies for lithium-ion electric vehicle batteries," *Technol. Forecast. Soc. Change*, vol. 92, pp. 322–331, Mar. 2015.
- [15] J. Du and D. Ouyang, "Progress of Chinese electric vehicles industrialization in 2015: A review," *Appl. Energy*, vol. 188, pp. 529–546, Feb. 2017.
- [16] P. Lienert, "Global carmakers to invest at least \$90 billion in electric vehicles," *Reuters*, 2019. [Online]. Available: https://www.reuters.com/article/us-autoshow-detroitelectric/global-carmakers-to-invest-at-least-90-billion-in-electric-vehiclesidUSKBN1F42NW. [Accessed: 04-Jan-2019].
- [17] T. Edward and E. David, "Volkswagen says last generation of combustion engines to be launched in 2026," *Reuters*, 2018. [Online]. Available: https://www.reuters.com/article/usvolkswagen-emissions-combustion/volkswagen-says-last-generation-of-combustionengines-to-be-launched-in-2026-idUSKBN103206. [Accessed: 04-Jan-2019].
- [18] International Energy Agency, "Global EV outlook 2018: towards cross-model electrification," International Energy Agency, France, Tech. Report., 2018.
- [19] J. D. Stoll and A. Roberts, "Car Sales to Top 90 Million Globally for First Time," Wall Street Journal, 2018. [Online]. Available: https://www.wsj.com/articles/car-sales-to-top-90million-globally-for-first-time-1514920642. [Accessed: 04-Jan-2018].
- [20] G. Masiero, M. H. Ogasavara, A. C. Jussani, and M. L. Risso, "Electric vehicles in China: BYD strategies and government subsidies," *RAI Rev. Adm. e Inovação*, vol. 13, no. 1, pp. 3–11, Jan. 2016.
- [21] N. Wang, L. Tang, W. Zhang, and J. Guo, "How to face the challenges caused by the abolishment of subsidies for electric vehicles in China?," *Energy*, vol. 166, pp. 359–372, Jan. 2019.
- [22] B. Propfe, M. Redelbach, D. Santini, and H. Friedrich, "Cost analysis of Plug-in Hybrid Electric Vehicles including Maintenance & amp; Repair Costs and Resale Values," World Electr. Veh. J., vol. 5, no. 4, pp. 886–895, Dec. 2012.
- [23] ADAC, "Wie rentabel sind Elektroautos?," 2016. [Online]. Available: https://www.adac.de/\_mmm/pdf/Wie rentable sind Elektroautos\_2\_262963.pdf. [Accessed: 07-Jan-2019].
- [24] B. Cárdenas and S. D. Garvey, "Load optimization for reducing the cost of an electric vehicle's battery pack," *J. Energy Storage*, vol. 20, no. August, pp. 254–263, Dec. 2018.
- [25] EV-Rater, "The Electric Vehicle List," 2019. [Online]. Available: https://evrater.com/evs. [Accessed: 04-Jan-2019].
- [26] F. Michael, K. Mathias, S. Rohr, S. Schickrama, M. Sinninga, and M. Lienkamp, "An Overview of Costs for Vehicle Components, Fuels, Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Total Cost of Ownership Update 2017," no. February, pp. 1–19, 2017.
- [27] E. Arfa Grunditz and T. Thiringer, "Characterizing BEV Powertrain Energy Consumption, Efficiency, and Range During Official and Drive Cycles From Gothenburg, Sweden," *IEEE Trans. Veh. Technol.*, vol. 65, no. 6, pp. 3964–3980, Jun. 2016.
- [28] S. Williamson, M. Lukic, and A. Emadi, "Comprehensive drive train efficiency analysis of hybrid electric and fuel cell vehicles based on motor-controller efficiency modeling," *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.*, vol. 21, no. 3, pp. 730–740, May 2006.
- [29] S. S. Williamson, A. Emadi, and K. Rajashekara, "Comprehensive Efficiency Modeling of Electric Traction Motor Drives for Hybrid Electric Vehicle Propulsion Applications," *IEEE Trans. Veh. Technol.*, vol. 56, no. 4, pp. 1561–1572, Jul. 2007.
- [30] Y. Okazaki, W. Kawamura, M. Hagiwara, H. Akagi, T. Ishida, M. Tsukakoshi, and R.

Nakamura, "Experimental Comparisons Between Modular Multilevel DSCC Inverters and TSBC Converters for Medium-Voltage Motor Drives," *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.*, vol. 32, no. 3, pp. 1805–1817, Mar. 2017.

- [31] A. Reger, M. Hamacher, J. Bohner, T. Kestler, and R. Steinhilper, "Analyzing the active power of variable frequency drives in manufacturing plants," in *2014 4th International Electric Drives Production Conference (EDPC)*, 2014, pp. 1–8.
- [32] H. Tanabe, T. Kojima, A. Imakiire, K. Fuji, M. Kozako, and M. Hikita, "Comparison performance of Si-IGBT and SiC-MOSFET used for high efficiency inverter of contactless power transfer system," in *2015 IEEE 11th International Conference on Power Electronics and Drive Systems*, 2015, pp. 707–710.
- [33] K. Muehlbauer and D. Gerling, "Improvement of energy efficiency in power electronics at partial load," in *IECON 2011 37th Annual Conference of the IEEE Industrial Electronics Society*, 2011, pp. 2775–2779.
- [34] E. Knischourek and D. Gerling, "Analysis of electric vehicle driving cycles for inverter efficiency improvement at partial load," in 2015 IEEE 11th International Conference on Power Electronics and Drive Systems, 2015, pp. 503–508.
- [35] E. Knischourek, K. Muehlbauer, and D. Gerling, "Power losses reduction in an electric traction drive at partial load operation," in *2012 IEEE International Electric Vehicle Conference*, 2012, pp. 1–6.
- [36] United States Evironmental Protection Agency (Office of Energy Efficiency and Renewable Eenrgy), "The official US goverment source for fuel economy information," 2019. [Online]. Available: http://www.fueleconomy.gov/feg/evsbs.shtml. [Accessed: 08-Jan-2019].
- [37] M. Olszewski, "Annual Progress Report for the Power Electronics and Electric Machinery Program", Oak Ridge National Laboratory, United States, Tech. Report., Oct. 2016.
- [38] M. Brand, S. Glaser, J. Geder, S. Menacher, S. Obpacher, A. Jossen, and D. Quinger, "Electrical safety of commercial Li-ion cells based on NMC and NCA technology compared to LFP technology," in 2013 World Electric Vehicle Symposium and Exhibition (EVS27), 2013, pp. 1–9.
- [39] H.-M. Fischer and L. Dorn, "Voltage Classes for Electric Mobility," German Electrical and Electronic Manufacturers' Association (ZVEI), 2013. [Online]. Available: https://www.zvei.org/fileadmin/user\_upload/Presse\_und\_Medien/Publikationen/2014/apr il/Voltage\_Classes\_for\_Electric\_Mobility/Voltage\_Classes\_for\_Electric\_Mobility.pdf. [Accessed: 26-Apr-2019].
- [40] Linfeng Zheng, Jianguo Zhu, and Guoxiu Wang, "A comparative study of battery balancing strategies for different battery operation processes," in *2016 IEEE Transportation Electrification Conference and Expo (ITEC)*, 2016, pp. 1–5.
- [41] F. Chang, O. Ilina, O. Hegazi, L. Voss, and M. Lienkamp, "Adopting MOSFET multilevel inverters to improve the partial load efficiency of electric vehicles," in *2017 19th European Conference on Power Electronics and Applications (EPE'17 ECCE Europe)*, 2017, pp. 1–13.
- [42] D. Sticea, M. Albu, and G. Chiriac, "Laboratory board for studying the half-bridge power electronic converters," in *2017 International Conference on Electromechanical and Power Systems (SIELMEN)*, 2017, pp. 506–511.
- [43] T. Sawa and T. Kume, "Motor drive technology history and visions for the future," in 2004 IEEE 35th Annual Power Electronics Specialists Conference, 2004, pp. 2–9.
- [44] A. Emadi, Young Joo Lee, and K. Rajashekara, "Power Electronics and Motor Drives in Electric, Hybrid Electric, and Plug-In Hybrid Electric Vehicles," *IEEE Trans. Ind. Electron.*, vol. 55, no. 6, pp. 2237–2245, Jun. 2008.

- [45] R. M. Pindoriya, B. S. Rajpurohit, R. Kumar, and K. N. Srivastava, "Comparative analysis of permanent magnet motors and switched reluctance motors capabilities for electric and hybrid electric vehicles," in 2018 IEEMA Engineer Infinite Conference (eTechNxT), 2018, pp. 1–5.
- [46] A. M. Lulhe and T. N. Date, "A technology review paper for drives used in electrical vehicle (EV) & hybrid electrical vehicles (HEV)," in 2015 International Conference on Control, Instrumentation, Communication and Computational Technologies (ICCICCT), 2015, pp. 632–636.
- [47] F. Chang, F. Roemer, M. Baumann, and M. Lienkamp, "Modelling and Evaluation of Battery Packs with Different Numbers of Paralleled Cells," *World Electr. Veh. J.*, vol. 9, no. 1, p. 8, Jun. 2018.
- [48] A. Anthon, Z. Zhang, M. A. E. Andersen, G. Holmes, B. McGrath, and C. Teixeira, "Comparative evaluation of the loss and thermal performance of advanced three level inverter topologies," in 2016 IEEE Applied Power Electronics Conference and Exposition (APEC), 2016, pp. 2252–2258.
- [49] Infineon Technologies AG, "Technical information IGBT module FS800R07A2E3," FS800R07A2E3 datasheet, 2014.
- [50] F. Chang, O. Ilina, M. Lienkamp, and L. Voss, "Improving the Overall Efficiency of Automotive Inverters Using a Multilevel Converter Composed of Low Voltage Si MOSFETs," IEEE Trans. Power Electron., vol. 34, no. 4, pp. 3586–3602, Apr. 2019.
- [51] J. Lemmens, P. Vanassche, and J. Driesen, "PMSM Drive Current and Voltage Limiting as a Constraint Optimal Control Problem," *IEEE J. Emerg. Sel. Top. Power Electron.*, vol. 3, no. 2, pp. 326–338, Jun. 2015.
- [52] M. Tschumper, *Technical Data and Start-up of Brusa Motors*, BRUSA Elektronik AG, 2014.
- [53] A. Yao, T. Sugimoto, S. Odawara, and K. Fujisaki, "Core losses of a permanent magnet synchronous motor with an amorphous stator core under inverter and sinusoidal excitations," *AIP Adv.*, vol. 8, no. 5, pp. 1–6, May 2018.
- [54] Advanced Powertrain Research Facility (APRF) at Argonne National Laboratory, "Test Summary Sheet of BMW i3 BEV," Argonne, France, Tech. Report, 2014.
- [55] J. Aurich and T. Barucki, "Fast dynamic model family of semiconductor switches," in 2001 IEEE 32nd Annual Power Electronics Specialists Conference (IEEE Cat. No.01CH37230), 2001, vol. 1, pp. 67–74.
- [56] Fang Wang, S. Kher, T. Fichtner, and J. Aurich, "A new power MOSFET model and an easy to use characterization tool using device datasheet," in *2013 IEEE 14th Workshop on Control and Modeling for Power Electronics (COMPEL)*, 2013, no. 1, pp. 1–5.
- [57] Rongjun Huang and S. K. Mazumder, "A Soft Switching Scheme for Multiphase DC/Pulsating-DC Converter for Three-Phase High-Frequency-Link Pulsewidth Modulation (PWM) Inverter," *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.*, vol. 25, no. 7, pp. 1761–1774, Jul. 2010.
- [58] S. K. Mazumder and A. K. Rathore, "Primary-Side-Converter-Assisted Soft-Switching Scheme for an AC/AC Converter in a Cycloconverter-Type High-Frequency-Link Inverter," *IEEE Trans. Ind. Electron.*, vol. 58, no. 9, pp. 4161–4166, Sep. 2011.
- [59] In-Hwan Oh and Myung-Joong Youn, "A simple soft-switched PWM inverter using source voltage clamped resonant circuit," *IEEE Trans. Ind. Electron.*, vol. 46, no. 2, pp. 468–471, Apr. 1999.
- [60] W. Guo, T. Mingxing, and R. Enen, "Structure design and its parameter optimization of output filter in current balance compensation inverter for electrified railway," in *The 2nd*

International Symposium on Power Electronics for Distributed Generation Systems, 2010, pp. 791–795.

- [61] X. Chen and J. Melia, "Inverter size optimization for grid-connected concentrator photovoltaic (CPV) plants," in 2011 37th IEEE Photovoltaic Specialists Conference, 2011, pp. 991–993.
- [62] Z. Wei, L. Hongpeng, and W. Wei, "Harmonic suppression strategy for voltage-controlled grid-connected inverter based on parameter optimization," in 2017 IEEE Transportation Electrification Conference and Expo, Asia-Pacific (ITEC Asia-Pacific), 2017, pp. 1–5.
- [63] J. O. Estima and A. J. Marques Cardoso, "Efficiency Analysis of Drive Train Topologies Applied to Electric/Hybrid Vehicles," *IEEE Trans. Veh. Technol.*, vol. 61, no. 3, pp. 1021– 1031, Mar. 2012.
- [64] R. Karimi, D. Kaczorowski, A. Zlotnik, and A. Mertens, "Loss optimizing control of a multiphase interleaving DC-DC converter for use in a hybrid electric vehicle drivetrain," in 2016 IEEE Energy Conversion Congress and Exposition (ECCE), 2016, pp. 1–8.
- [65] W. Deng, Y. Zhao, and J. Wu, "Energy Efficiency Improvement via Bus Voltage Control of Inverter for Electric Vehicles," *IEEE Trans. Veh. Technol.*, vol. 66, no. 2, pp. 1063–1073, Feb. 2017.
- [66] M. Roche, W. Shabbir, and S. Evangelou, "Voltage Control for Enhanced Power Electronic Efficiency in Series Hybrid Electric Vehicles," *IEEE Trans. Veh. Technol.*, vol. 9545, no. c, pp. 1–1, 2016.
- [67] H. Chen, H. Kim, R. Erickson, and D. Maksimovic, "Electrified Automotive Powertrain Architecture Using Composite DC–DC Converters," *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.*, vol. 32, no. 1, pp. 98–116, Jan. 2017.
- [68] A. Battiston, E. Miliani, S. Pierfederici, and F. Meibody-Tabar, "Efficiency Improvement of a Quasi-Z-Source Inverter-Fed Permanent-Magnet Synchronous Machine-Based Electric Vehicle," *IEEE Trans. Transp. Electrif.*, vol. 2, no. 1, pp. 14–23, Mar. 2016.
- [69] Qin Lei, Dong Cao, and Fang Zheng Peng, "Novel Loss and Harmonic Minimized Vector Modulation for a Current-Fed Quasi-Z-Source Inverter in HEV Motor Drive Application," *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.*, vol. 29, no. 3, pp. 1344–1357, Mar. 2014.
- [70] P. Liu and H. P. Liu, "Permanent-magnet synchronous motor drive system for electric vehicles using bidirectional Z-source inverter," *IET Electr. Syst. Transp.*, vol. 2, no. 4, p. 178, 2012.
- [71] P. Wacker, J. Adermann, B. Danquah, and M. Lienkamp, "Efficiency determination of active battery switching technology on roller dynamometer," in 2017 Twelfth International Conference on Ecological Vehicles and Renewable Energies (EVER), 2017, pp. 1–7.
- [72] P. Wacker, L. Wheldon, M. Sperlich, J. Adermann, and M. Lienkamp, "Influence of active battery switching on the drivetrain efficiency of electric vehicles," in 2017 IEEE Transportation Electrification Conference and Expo (ITEC), 2017, pp. 33–38.
- [73] P. Wacker, J. Adermann, L. Wheldon, M. Lienkamp, A. Tashakori, and A. Kapoor, "Operating Strategy of an Active Battery Switching System in Electric Vehicles," in 2017 IEEE 85th Vehicular Technology Conference (VTC Spring), 2017, pp. 1–6.
- [74] A. Merkert, T. Krone, and A. Mertens, "Characterization and Scalable Modeling of Power Semiconductors for Optimized Design of Traction Inverters with Si- and SiC-Devices," *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.*, vol. 29, no. 5, pp. 2238–2245, May 2014.
- [75] J. A. Anderson, C. Gammeter, L. Schrittwieser, and J. W. Kolar, "Accurate Calorimetric Switching Loss Measurement for 900 V 10 m Omega SiC mosfets," *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.*, vol. 32, no. 12, pp. 8963–8968, Dec. 2017.
- [76] X. Wen, T. Fan, P. Ning, and Q. Guo, "Technical Approaches Towards Ultra-High Power

Density SiC Inverter in Electric Vehicle Applications," CES Trans. Electr. Mach. Syst., vol. 1, no. 3, pp. 231–237, 2017.

- [77] F. Xu, T. J. Han, D. Jiang, L. M. Tolbert, F. Wang, J. Nagashima, S. J. Kim, S. Kulkarni, and F. Barlow, "Development of a SiC JFET-Based Six-Pack Power Module for a Fully Integrated Inverter," *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.*, vol. 28, no. 3, pp. 1464–1478, Mar. 2013.
- [78] H. Zhang, L. M. Tolbert, and B. Ozpineci, "Impact of SiC Devices on Hybrid Electric and Plug-In Hybrid Electric Vehicles," *IEEE Trans. Ind. Appl.*, vol. 47, no. 2, pp. 912–921, Mar. 2011.
- [79] V. Vodovozov, Introduction to Power Electronics. Elsevier, 1998.
- [80] J. Biela, M. Schweizer, S. Waffler, and J. W. Kolar, "SiC versus Si—Evaluation of Potentials for Performance Improvement of Inverter and DC–DC Converter Systems by SiC Power Semiconductors," *IEEE Trans. Ind. Electron.*, vol. 58, no. 7, pp. 2872–2882, Jul. 2011.
- [81] S. Hazra, A. De, L. Cheng, J. Palmour, M. Schupbach, B. Hull, S. Allen, and S. Bhattacharya, "High Switching Performance of 1700V, 50A SiC Power MOSFET over Si IGBT/BiMOSFET for Advanced Power Conversion Applications," *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.*, vol. 31, no. 7, pp. 1–1, 2015.
- [82] M. Su and C. Chen, "Prospects for the application of SiC power devices in hybrid electric vehicle drive systems," in *IEEE Workshop on Wide Bandgap Power Devices & Applications*, 2016, pp. 1–22.
- [83] M. Su, C. Chen, S. Sharma, and J. Kikuchi, "Performance and cost considerations for SiC-based HEV traction inverter systems," in 2015 IEEE 3rd Workshop on Wide Bandgap Power Devices and Applications (WiPDA), 2015, pp. 347–350.
- [84] F. Shang, A. P. Arribas, and M. Krishnamurthy, "A comprehensive evaluation of SiC devices in traction applications," in 2014 IEEE Transportation Electrification Conference and Expo (ITEC), 2014, pp. 1–5.
- [85] S. Ozdemir, F. Acar, and U. S. Selamogullari, "Comparison of silicon carbide MOSFET and IGBT based electric vehicle traction inverters," in 2015 International Conference on Electrical Engineering and Informatics (ICEEI), 2015, pp. 1–4.
- [86] G. Li and X.-P. Zhang, "Modeling of Plug-in Hybrid Electric Vehicle Charging Demand in Probabilistic Power Flow Calculations," *IEEE Trans. Smart Grid*, vol. 3, no. 1, pp. 492– 499, Mar. 2012.
- [87] J. Burkard and J. Biela, "Protection of hybrid transformers in the distribution grid," in 2016 18th European Conference on Power Electronics and Applications (EPE'16 ECCE Europe), 2016, pp. 1–10.
- [88] Cong Zheng, Jih-Sheng Lai, Rui Chen, W. E. Faraci, Z. Ullah Zahid, Bin Gu, Lanhua Zhang, G. Lisi, and D. Anderson, "High-Efficiency Contactless Power Transfer System for Electric Vehicle Battery Charging Application," *IEEE J. Emerg. Sel. Top. Power Electron.*, vol. 3, no. 1, pp. 65–74, Mar. 2015.
- [89] Yole Group of Companies, "Automotive is driving SiC adoption," France, Tech. Report., 2018.
- [90] Z. Fang, D. Jiang, and Y. Zhang, "Study of the characteristics and suppression of EMI of inverter with SiC and Si devices," *Chinese J. Electr. Eng.*, vol. 4, no. 3, pp. 37–46, Sep. 2018.
- [91] D. A. Rendusara and P. N. Enjeti, "An improved inverter output filter configuration reduces common and differential modes dv/dt at the motor terminals in PWM drive systems," *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.*, vol. 13, no. 6, pp. 1135–1143, 1998.

- [92] J.-S. Lai, W. Yu, P. Sun, S. Leslie, B. Arnet, C. Smith, and A. Cogan, "A Hybrid-Switch-Based Soft-Switching Inverter for Ultrahigh-Efficiency Traction Motor Drives," *IEEE Trans. Ind. Appl.*, vol. 50, no. 3, pp. 1966–1973, May 2014.
- [93] J. He, R. Katebi, and N. Weise, "A Current-Dependent Switching Strategy for Si/SiC Hybrid Switch-Based Power Converters," *IEEE Trans. Ind. Electron.*, vol. 64, no. 10, pp. 8344–8352, Oct. 2017.
- [94] S. Ueno, N. Kimura, T. Morizane, and H. Omori, "Study on characteristics of hybrid switch using Si IGBT and SiC MOSFET depending on external parameters," in 2017 19th European Conference on Power Electronics and Applications (EPE'17 ECCE Europe), 2017, pp. 1–10.
- [95] L. F. S. Alves, P. Lefranc, P.-O. Jeannin, and B. Sarrazin, "Review on SiC-MOSFET devices and associated gate drivers," in 2018 IEEE International Conference on Industrial Technology (ICIT), 2018, pp. 824–829.
- [96] A. Baumgardt, F. Bachheibl, A. Patzak, and D. Gerling, "48V traction: Innovative drive topology and battery," in 2016 IEEE International Conference on Power Electronics, Drives and Energy Systems (PEDES), 2016, pp. 1–6.
- [97] A. Patzak, F. Bachheibl, A. Baumgardt, G. Dajaku, O. Moros, and D. Gerling, "Driving range evaluation of a multi-phase drive for low voltage high power electric vehicles," in 2015 International Conference on Sustainable Mobility Applications, Renewables and Technology (SMART), 2015, pp. 1–7.
- [98] J. Lutz, H. Schlangenotto, U. Scheuermann, and R. De Doncker, *Semiconductor Power Devices*. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2011.
- [99] Infineon Technologies AG, "IPB100N10S3-05 100V 100A MOSFET," IPB100N10S3-05 datasheet, 2008.
- [100] F. Casanellas, "Losses in PWM inverters using IGBTs," *IEE Proc. Electr. Power Appl.*, vol. 141, no. 5, p. 235, 1994.
- [101] V. Reber, "e-power: New Possibilities with 800-Volt Charging," *Porsche Eng. Mag.*, no. 1, pp. 10–15, 2016.
- [102] A. Nabae, I. Takahashi, and H. Akagi, "A New Neutral-Point-Clamped PWM Inverter," *IEEE Trans. Ind. Appl.*, vol. IA-17, no. 5, pp. 518–523, Sep. 1981.
- [103] F. Z. Peng, W. Qian, and D. Cao, "Recent advances in multilevel converter/inverter topologies and applications," in *The 2010 International Power Electronics Conference -ECCE ASIA* -, 2010, pp. 492–501.
- [104] A. Nami, J. Liang, F. Dijkhuizen, and G. D. Demetriades, "Modular Multilevel Converters for HVDC Applications: Review on Converter Cells and Functionalities," *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.*, vol. 30, no. 1, pp. 18–36, Jan. 2015.
- [105] C. Han, A. Q. Huang, Y. Liu, and B. Chen, "A Generalized Control Strategy of Per-Phase DC Voltage Balancing for Cascaded Multilevel Converter-based STATCOM," in 2007 IEEE Power Electronics Specialists Conference, 2007, pp. 1746–1752.
- [106] X. He, Z. Shu, X. Peng, Q. Zhou, Y. Zhou, Q. Zhou, and S. Gao, "Advanced Cophase Traction Power Supply System Based on Three-Phase to Single-Phase Converter," *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.*, vol. 29, no. 10, pp. 5323–5333, Oct. 2014.
- [107] F. Ma, Z. Zhu, J. Min, Y. Yue, and X. He, "Model Analysis and Sliding Mode Current Controller for Multilevel Railway Power Conditioner Under the V/v Traction System," *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.*, vol. 34, no. 2, pp. 1243–1253, Feb. 2019.
- [108] K. K. Gupta, A. A. Ranjan, P. Bhatnagar, L. K. Sahu, and S. Jain, "Multilevel Inverter Topologies With Reduced Device Count: A Review," *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.*, vol. 8993, no. 1, pp. 135–151, Jan. 2016.

- [109] G. P. Adam, B. Alajmi, K. H. Ahmed, S. J. Finney, and B. W. Williams, "New flying capacitor multilevel converter," in *2011 IEEE International Symposium on Industrial Electronics*, 2011, pp. 335–339.
- [110] R. Gallay, "Metallized Film Capacitor Lifetime Evaluation and Failure Mode Analysis," *CAS - Cern Accel. Sch. Power Convert.*, vol. 3, pp. 7–14, Jul. 2016.
- [111] K. Corzine and Y. Familiant, "A new cascaded multilevel H-bridge drive," *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.*, vol. 17, no. 1, pp. 125–131, 2002.
- [112] J. Pandremenos, J. Paralikas, K. Salonitis, and G. Chryssolouris, "Modularity concepts for the automotive industry: A critical review," *CIRP J. Manuf. Sci. Technol.*, vol. 1, no. 3, pp. 148–152, Jan. 2009.
- [113] M. Quraan, T. Yeo, P. Tricoli, and S. Korea, "Design and Control of Modular Multilevel Converters for Battery Electric Vehicles," *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.*, vol. 8993, no. c, pp. 507–517, Jan. 2015.
- [114] F. H. Khan, L. M. Tolbert, and W. E. Webb, "Hybrid Electric Vehicle Power Management Solutions Based on Isolated and Nonisolated Configurations of Multilevel Modular Capacitor-Clamped Converter," *IEEE Trans. Ind. Electron.*, vol. 56, no. 8, pp. 3079–3095, Aug. 2009.
- [115] L. Maharjan, S. Inoue, H. Akagi, and J. Asakura, "State-of-Charge (SOC)-Balancing Control of a Battery Energy Storage System Based on a Cascade PWM Converter," *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.*, vol. 24, no. 6, pp. 1628–1636, Jun. 2009.
- [116] L. A. Tolbert, Fang Zheng Peng, T. Cunnyngham, and J. N. Chiasson, "Charge balance control schemes for cascade multilevel converter in hybrid electric vehicles," *IEEE Trans. Ind. Electron.*, vol. 49, no. 5, pp. 1058–1064, Oct. 2002.
- [117] Fang Zheng Peng, "A generalized multilevel inverter topology with self voltage balancing," *IEEE Trans. Ind. Appl.*, vol. 37, no. 2, pp. 611–618, 2001.
- [118] B. P. McGrath and D. G. Holmes, "Natural Capacitor Voltage Balancing for a Flying Capacitor Converter Induction Motor Drive," *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.*, vol. 24, no. 6, pp. 1554–1561, 2009.
- [119] Z. Alaas, W. Caisheng, J. Chenguang, D. Chen, and C. Jianfei, "Improved cascaded multilevel battery inverters with phase-to-phase SOC balancing capability," in 2017 IEEE Transportation Electrification Conference and Expo (ITEC), 2017, pp. 323–327.
- [120] F. Chang, Z. Zheng, Y. Li, and L. Peng, "A two-level SOC balance strategy for a novel hybrid energy storage topology," in 2015 17th European Conference on Power Electronics and Applications (EPE'15 ECCE-Europe), 2015, pp. 1–10.
- [121] L. Mathe, E. Schaltz, and R. Teodorescu, "State of charge balancing after hot swap for cascaded H-bridge multilevel converters," in 2017 International Conference on Optimization of Electrical and Electronic Equipment (OPTIM) & 2017 Intl Aegean Conference on Electrical Machines and Power Electronics (ACEMP), 2017, pp. 741–746.
- [122] S. Rivera, S. Kouro, B. Wu, S. Alepuz, M. Malinowski, P. Cortes, and J. Rodriguez, "Multilevel Direct Power Control—A Generalized Approach for Grid-Tied Multilevel Converter Applications," *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.*, vol. 29, no. 10, pp. 5592–5604, Oct. 2014.
- [123] F. Altaf and B. Egardt, "Comparative Analysis of Unipolar and Bipolar Control of Modular Battery for Thermal and State-of-Charge Balancing," *IEEE Trans. Veh. Technol.*, vol. 66, no. 4, pp. 2927–2941, Apr. 2017.
- [124] M. Quraan, T. Yeo, and P. Tricoli, "Design and Control of Modular Multilevel Converters for Battery Electric Vehicles," *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.*, vol. 31, no. 1, pp. 507–517, Jan. 2016.

- [125] Z. Zheng, K. Wang, L. Xu, and Y. Li, "A Hybrid Cascaded Multilevel Converter for Battery Energy Management Applied in Electric Vehicles," *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.*, vol. 29, no. 7, pp. 3537–3546, Jul. 2014.
- [126] N. M. Roscoe, D. Holliday, N. McNeill, and S. J. Finney, "LV Converters: Improving Efficiency and EMI Using Si MOSFET MMC and Experimentally Exploring Slowed Switching," *IEEE J. Emerg. Sel. Top. Power Electron.*, vol. 6, no. 4, pp. 2159–2172, Dec. 2018.
- [127] S. Bhattacharya, D. Mascarella, and G. Joos, "Modular multilevel inverter: A study for automotive applications," in 2013 26th IEEE Canadian Conference on Electrical and Computer Engineering (CCECE), 2013, pp. 1–6.
- [128] L. M. Tolbert, Fang Zheng Peng, and T. G. Habetler, "Multilevel converters for large electric drives," *IEEE Trans. Ind. Appl.*, vol. 35, no. 1, pp. 36–44, 1999.
- [129] O. Josefsson, T. Thiringer, S. Lundmark, and H. Zelaya, "Evaluation and comparison of a two-level and a multilevel inverter for an EV using a modulized battery topology," in *IECON 2012 - 38th Annual Conference on IEEE Industrial Electronics Society*, 2012, pp. 2949–2956.
- [130] M. Quraan, P. Tricoli, S. D Arco, and L. Piegari, "Efficiency Assessment of Modular Multilevel Converters for Battery Electric Vehicles," *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.*, vol. 32, no. 3, pp. 2041–2051, Mar. 2017.
- [131] T. Kimura, R. Saitou, K. Kubo, K. Nakatsu, H. Ishikawa, and K. Sasaki, "High-powerdensity inverter technology for hybrid and electric vehicle applications," *Hitachi Rev.*, vol. 63, no. 2, pp. 96–102, 2014.
- [132] J. Merwerth, "The Hybrid-Synchronous Machine of the new BMW i3 & i8, Presentation on Workshop University Lund," 2014.
- [133] B. Sarlioglu, C. T. Morris, D. Han, and S. Li, "Driving Toward Accessibility: A Review of Technological Improvements for Electric Machines, Power Electronics, and Batteries for Electric and Hybrid Vehicles," *IEEE Ind. Appl. Mag.*, vol. 23, no. 1, pp. 14–25, Jan. 2017.
- [134] D. Graovac, M. Pürschel, K. Andreas, "MOSFET Power Losses Calculation Using the Data Sheet Parameters," Infineon Technologies AG, Munich, Germany, Tech. Report., 2006.
- [135] R. M. Burkart and J. W. Kolar, "Comparative Life Cycle Cost Analysis of Si and SiC PV Converter Systems Based on Advanced eta-rho-sigma Multiobjective Optimization Techniques," *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.*, vol. 32, no. 6, pp. 4344–4358, Jun. 2017.
- [136] D. Dorr, D. Grabengiesser, and F. Gauterin, "Online driving style recognition using fuzzy logic," in 17th International IEEE Conference on Intelligent Transportation Systems (ITSC), 2014, pp. 1021–1026.
- [137] J. Jiang, Z. Lin, Q. Ju, Z. Ma, C. Zheng, and Z. Wang, "Electrochemical Impedance Spectra for Lithium-ion Battery Ageing Considering the Rate of Discharge Ability," *Energy Procedia*, vol. 105, pp. 844–849, May 2017.
- [138] F. Renken, "The DC-link capacitor current in pulsed single-phase H-bridge inverters," in 2005 European Conference on Power Electronics and Applications, 2005, pp. 1–10.
- [139] M. Vujacic, M. Hammami, M. Srndovic, and G. Grandi, "Evaluation of DC voltage ripple in three-phase PWM voltage source inverters," in 2017 IEEE 26th International Symposium on Industrial Electronics (ISIE), 2017, pp. 711–716.
- [140] S. R. Bowes and B. M. Bird, "Novel approach to the analysis and synthesis of modulation processes in power convertors," *Proc. Inst. Electr. Eng.*, vol. 122, no. 5, p. 507, 1975.
- [141] N.-T. Quach, S. H. Chae, M.-H. Kang, D. W. Kim, S. H. Ko, and E.-H. Kim, "Application of Double Fourier Series for Analyzing Harmonics of a Modular Multilevel Converter,"

Renew. Energy Power Qual. J., vol. 1, no. 15, pp. 267–270, Apr. 2017.

- [142] C. Lee, B. Wang, S. Chen, S. Chou, J. Huang, P. Cheng, H. Akagi, and P. Barbosa, "Average Power Balancing Control of a STATCOM Based on the Cascaded H-Bridge PWM Converter With Star Configuration," *IEEE Trans. Ind. Appl.*, vol. 50, no. 6, pp. 3893– 3901, Nov. 2014.
- [143] L. He, K. Zhang, J. Xiong, S. Fan, and Y. Xue, "Low-Frequency Ripple Suppression for Medium-Voltage Drives Using Modular Multilevel Converter With Full-Bridge Submodules," *IEEE J. Emerg. Sel. Top. Power Electron.*, vol. 4, no. 2, pp. 657–667, Jun. 2016.
- [144] C. K. and F. P. J.V. Gragger, A. Haumer and A. H. J.V. Gragger, "Efficient analysis of harmonic losses in PWM voltage source induction machine drives with Modelica," in *Modelica 2008*, 2008, pp. 593–600.
- [145] K. Bradley, W. Cao, J. Clare, and P. Wheeler, "Predicting Inverter-Induced Harmonic Loss by Improved Harmonic Injection," *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.*, vol. 23, no. 5, pp. 2619– 2624, Sep. 2008.
- [146] P. Wacker, "Effizienzsteigerung im Antriebsstrang von Elektro-fahrzeugen mittels aktiver Batteriepackverschaltung," Ph.D. dissertation, Technical University of Munich, 2018.
- [147] F. Bachheibl and D. Gerling, "High-current, low-voltage power net," in 2014 IEEE International Electric Vehicle Conference (IEVC), 2014, pp. 1–6.
- [148] J. Fu, Z. Zhang, Y.-F. Liu, and P. C. Sen, "MOSFET Switching Loss Model and Optimal Design of a Current Source Driver Considering the Current Diversion Problem," *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.*, vol. 27, no. 2, pp. 998–1012, Feb. 2012.
- [149] L. Schrittwieser, "99% Efficient Three-Phase Buck-Type SiC MOSFET PFC Rectifier Minimizing Life Cycle Cost in DC Data Centers," CPSS Trans. Power Electron. Appl., vol. 2, no. 1, pp. 47–58, Apr. 2017.
- [150] S. Waffler, M. Preindl, and J. W. Kolar, "Multi-objective optimization and comparative evaluation of Si soft-switched and SiC hard-switched automotive DC-DC converters," in *IECON Proceedings (Industrial Electronics Conference)*, 2009, pp. 3814–3821.
- [151] R. Burkart and J. W. Kolar, "Component cost models for multi-objective optimizations of switched-mode power converters," in 2013 IEEE Energy Conversion Congress and Exposition, 2013, pp. 2139–2146.
- [152] G. Domingues-Olavarria, P. Fyhr, A. Reinap, M. Andersson, and M. Alakula, "From Chip to Converter: A Complete Cost Model for Power Electronics Converters," *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.*, vol. 32, no. 11, pp. 8681–8692, Nov. 2017.
- [153] A. V Kulkarni and A. M. Bazzi, "A building-block approach to efficiency and cost models of power electronic systems," in 2014 IEEE Applied Power Electronics Conference and Exposition - APEC 2014, 2014, pp. 2727–2734.
- [154] Toshiba, Appl. Note, MOSFET Gate Drive Circuit, 2018.
- [155] Q. Qian, J. Yu, J. Zhu, W. Sun, and Y. Yi, "Isolated gate driver for SiC MOSFETs with constant negative off voltage," in 2017 IEEE Applied Power Electronics Conference and Exposition (APEC), 2017, pp. 1990–1993.
- [156] J. Gottschlich, M. Schafer, M. Neubert, and R. W. De Doncker, "A galvanically isolated gate driver with low coupling capacitance for medium voltage SiC MOSFETs," in 2016 18th European Conference on Power Electronics and Applications (EPE'16 ECCE Europe), 2016, pp. 1–8.
- [157] RECOM, "High Isolated DC/DC Converters for Gate Drivers," 2019. [Online]. Available: https://www.recom-power.com/emea/gate-drivers.html. [Accessed: 19-Feb-2019].

- [158] Arrow, "Price of different isolated DC/DC converter modules," 2019. [Online]. Available: https://www.arrow.com/en/categories/power-supplies/isolated-dc-dc-converters. [Accessed: 19-Feb-2019].
- [159] P. J. Grbovic, "An IGBT Gate Driver for Feed-Forward Control of Turn-on Losses and Reverse Recovery Current," *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.*, vol. 23, no. 2, pp. 643–652, Mar. 2008.
- [160] I. Baraia, J. A. Barrena, G. Abad, J. M. Canales Segade, and U. Iraola, "An Experimentally Verified Active Gate Control Method for the Series Connection of IGBT/Diodes," *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.*, vol. 27, no. 2, pp. 1025–1038, Feb. 2012.
- [161] C. H. van der Broeck, A. Gospodinov, and R. W. De Doncker, "IGBT Junction Temperature Estimation via Gate Voltage Plateau Sensing," *IEEE Trans. Ind. Appl.*, vol. 54, no. 5, pp. 4752–4763, Sep. 2018.
- [162] D. Bortis, J. Biela, and J. W. Kolar, "Active Gate Control for Current Balancing of Parallel-Connected IGBT Modules in Solid-State Modulators," *IEEE Trans. Plasma Sci.*, vol. 36, no. 5, pp. 2632–2637, Oct. 2008.
- [163] M. Tutuianu, P. Bonnel, B. Ciuffo, T. Haniu, N. Ichikawa, A. Marotta, J. Pavlovic, and H. Steven, "Development of the World-wide harmonized Light duty Test Cycle (WLTC) and a possible pathway for its introduction in the European legislation," *Transp. Res. Part D Transp. Environ.*, vol. 40, no. January, pp. 61–75, Oct. 2015.
- [164] E. American, "How and Why Electric Vehicle Contactors Overcome Damaging Electrical Arcs," 2017. [Online]. Available: https://www.aecsensors.com/images/stories/pdfs/Ed-AEC-HOW-and-WHY-Electric-Vehicle-Contactors-Overcome-Damaging-Electrical-Arcs.pdf. [Accessed: 26-Mar-2019].
- [165] United Nations, "Agreement Concerning the Adoption of Uniform Technical Prescriptions for Wheeled Vehicles, Addendum 99 Regulation No. 100," 1995.
- [166] J. Casady and J. Palmour, "Power products real data & pricing forecasts for 650V-15kV SiC power modules, MOSFETs & diodes," 2014.
- [167] O. Hegazi, "Silicon Carbide Present and Future Potential for Electric Vehicles' Inverters," Semester thesis, Technical University of Munich, 2016.
- [168] M. Kane;, "BMW i3 Samsung SDI 94 Ah Battery," 2018. [Online]. Available: https://insideevs.com/news/338067/bmw-i3-samsung-sdi-94-ah-battery-rated-for-524000-miles/. [Accessed: 12-Jun-2019].
- [169] J. G. Hayes, R. P. R. de Oliveira, S. Vaughan, and M. G. Egan, "Simplified electric vehicle power train models and range estimation," in 2011 IEEE Vehicle Power and Propulsion Conference, 2011, pp. 1–5.
- [170] H. Rahimi-Eichi and M.-Y. Chow, "Big-data framework for electric vehicle range estimation," in *IECON 2014 - 40th Annual Conference of the IEEE Industrial Electronics Society*, 2014, pp. 5628–5634.
- [171] C. Bingham, C. Walsh, and S. Carroll, "Impact of driving characteristics on electric vehicle energy consumption and range," *IET Intell. Transp. Syst.*, vol. 6, no. 1, p. 29, 2012.
- [172] S. J. S. Schickram, "Derivation and Evaluation of Electric Vehicle Concepts for World Cities," Ph.D. dissertation, Technical University of Munich, 2017.
- [173] K. Mozaffari, M. Amirabadi, and Y. Deshpande, "A Single-Phase Inverter/Rectifier Topology With Suppressed Double-Frequency Ripple," *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.*, vol. 33, no. 11, pp. 9282–9295, Nov. 2018.
- [174] Y. Shi, B. Liu, and S. Duan, "Low-Frequency Input Current Ripple Reduction Based on Load Current Feedforward in a Two-Stage Single-Phase Inverter," *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.*, vol. 31, no. 11, pp. 7972–7985, Nov. 2016.

- [175] W. Lee, B.-M. Han, and H. Cha, "Battery ripple current reduction in a three-phase interleaved dc-dc converter for 5kW battery charger," in *2011 IEEE Energy Conversion Congress and Exposition*, 2011, pp. 3535–3540.
- [176] C. Liu, J. Wang, K. Colombage, C. Gould, B. Sen, and D. Stone, "Current ripple reduction in 4kW LLC resonant converter based battery charger for electric vehicles," in 2015 IEEE Energy Conversion Congress and Exposition (ECCE), 2015, pp. 6014–6021.
- [177] D. B. W. W. Abeywardana, B. Hredzak, and V. G. Agelidis, "An Input Current Feedback Method to Mitigate the DC-Side Low-Frequency Ripple Current in a Single-Phase Boost Inverter," *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.*, vol. 31, no. 6, pp. 4594–4603, Jun. 2016.
- [178] D. B. W. Abeywardana, B. Hredzak, and V. G. Agelidis, "Battery-supercapacitor hybrid energy storage system with reduced low frequency input current ripple," in 2015 International Conference on Renewable Energy Research and Applications (ICRERA), 2015, pp. 328–332.
- [179] B. Liu, L. Wang, D. Song, M. Su, J. Yang, D. He, Z. Chen, and S. Song, "Input Current Ripple and Grid Current Harmonics Restraint Approach for Single-Phase Inverter Under Battery Input Condition in Residential Photovoltaic/Battery Systems," *IEEE Trans. Sustain. Energy*, vol. 9, no. 4, pp. 1957–1968, Oct. 2018.
- [180] D. B. W. Abeywardana, B. Hredzak, and V. G. Agelidis, "Single-Phase Grid-Connected LiFePO4 Battery–Supercapacitor Hybrid Energy Storage System With Interleaved Boost Inverter," *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.*, vol. 30, no. 10, pp. 5591–5604, Oct. 2015.
- [181] C.-M. Lai, J. Teh, and Y.-H. Cheng, "An efficient active ripple filter for use in single-phase DC-AC conversion system," in 2017 IEEE 8th International Conference on Awareness Science and Technology (iCAST), 2017, pp. 234–237.
- [182] D. Patil and V. Agarwal, "Compact Onboard Single-Phase EV Battery Charger With Novel Low-Frequency Ripple Compensator and Optimum Filter Design," *IEEE Trans. Veh. Technol.*, vol. 65, no. 4, pp. 1948–1956, Apr. 2016.
- [183] H. V. Nguyen and D.-C. Lee, "Single-phase multifunctional onboard battery chargers with active power decoupling capability," in 2018 IEEE Applied Power Electronics Conference and Exposition (APEC), 2018, pp. 3434–3439.
- [184] O. Satilmis and E. Mese, "Investigating DC link current ripple and PWM modulation methods in Electric Vehicles," in 2013 3rd International Conference on Electric Power and Energy Conversion Systems, 2013, pp. 1–6.
- [185] C. Ropeter, H. Wenzl, H. Beck, and E. A. Wehrmann, "The Impact of Microcycles on Batteries in Different Applications," in 18th Electric Vehicle Symposium (EVS18), 2001, pp. 1–12.
- [186] G. Fontes, C. Turpin, R. Saisset, T. Meynard, and S. Astier, "Interactions between fuel cells and power converters influence of current harmonics on a fuel cell stack," in 2004 IEEE 35th Annual Power Electronics Specialists Conference (IEEE Cat. No.04CH37551), 2004, pp. 4729–4735.
- [187] S. Bala, T. Tengner, P. Rosenfeld, and F. Delince, "The effect of low frequency current ripple on the performance of a Lithium Iron Phosphate (LFP) battery energy storage system," in 2012 IEEE Energy Conversion Congress and Exposition (ECCE), 2012, pp. 3485–3492.
- [188] M. Uno and K. Tanaka, "Influence of High-Frequency Charge–Discharge Cycling Induced by Cell Voltage Equalizers on the Life Performance of Lithium-Ion Cells," *IEEE Trans. Veh. Technol.*, vol. 60, no. 4, pp. 1505–1515, May 2011.
- [189] T.-H. Kim, Jin-Beom Jeong, Baek-Haeng Lee, Dong-Hyun Shin, Hyun-Sik Song, Byoung-Hoon Kim, and Hee-Jun Kim, "Analytical study on low-frequency ripple effect of battery charging," in 2012 IEEE Vehicle Power and Propulsion Conference, 2012, pp. 809–811.

- [190] H. Z. Z. Beh, G. A. Covic, and J. T. Boys, "Effects of pulse and DC charging on lithium iron phosphate (LiFePO4) batteries," in 2013 IEEE Energy Conversion Congress and Exposition, 2013, pp. 315–320.
- [191] S. D. De Breucker, K. Engelen, R. D'hulst, and J. Driesen, "Impact of current ripple on Liion battery ageing," *World Electr. Veh. J.*, vol. 6, no. 3, pp. 532–540, Nov. 2013.
- [192] K. Uddin, A. D. Moore, A. Barai, and J. Marco, "The effects of high frequency current ripple on electric vehicle battery performance," *Appl. Energy*, vol. 178, pp. 142–154, Sep. 2016.
- [193] M. J. Brand, M. H. Hofmann, S. S. Schuster, P. Keil, and A. Jossen, "The Influence of Current Ripples on the Lifetime of Lithium-Ion Batteries," *IEEE Trans. Veh. Technol.*, vol. 67, no. 11, pp. 10438–10445, Nov. 2018.
- [194] J. Hicks-Garner, J. Wang, J. Musser, M. Verbrugge, P. Finamore, S. Soukiazian, H. Tataria, P. Liu, and E. Sherman, "Cycle-life model for graphite-LiFePO4 cells," *J. Power Sources*, vol. 196, no. 8, pp. 3942–3948, 2010.
- [195] S. F. Schuster, T. Bach, E. Fleder, J. Müller, M. Brand, G. Sextl, and A. Jossen, "Nonlinear aging characteristics of lithium-ion cells under different operational conditions," *J. Energy Storage*, vol. 1, pp. 44–53, Jun. 2015.
- [196] A. Barré, B. Deguilhem, S. Grolleau, M. Gérard, F. Suard, and D. Riu, "A review on lithiumion battery ageing mechanisms and estimations for automotive applications," *J. Power Sources*, vol. 241, pp. 680–689, Nov. 2013.
- [197] J. Schmalstieg, S. Käbitz, M. Ecker, and D. U. Sauer, "A holistic aging model for Li(NiMnCo)O2 based 18650 lithium-ion batteries," *J. Power Sources*, vol. 257, pp. 325– 334, Jul. 2014.
- [198] BaSyTec Developing Team, *BaSyTest Battery-Test-Software Manual*, BaSyTec GmbH, 2005.
- [199] Texas Instruments, "OPA890 Low-Power, Wideband, Voltage-Feedback Operational Amplifier with Disable," OPA890 datasheet, 2009.
- [200] Texas Instruments, "OPA569 Rail-to-Rail I/O 2A Power Amplifier," OPA569 datasheet, 2003.
- [201] Panasonic, "Specifications for NCR18650BD," NCR18650BD datasheet, 2014.
- [202] F. Roemer, M. Lamparter, and M. Lienkamp, "A method for masterless self-assigning CAN bus identifier," in 2017 IEEE Transportation Electrification Conference and Expo (ITEC), 2017, pp. 119–123.
- [203] Agilent Technologies, "Agilent DC Electronic Loads Models N3300A-N3307A Technical Specifications," N3300A datasheet, 2014.
- [204] C. Campestrini, P. Keil, S. F. Schuster, and A. Jossen, "Ageing of lithium-ion battery modules with dissipative balancing compared with single-cell ageing," *J. Energy Storage*, vol. 6, pp. 142–152, May 2016.
- [205] Z.-X. Zhang, X.-S. Si, C.-H. Hu, and M. G. Pecht, "A Prognostic Model for Stochastic Degrading Systems With State Recovery: Application to Li-Ion Batteries," *IEEE Trans. Reliab.*, vol. 66, no. 4, pp. 1293–1308, Dec. 2017.
- [206] L. Tao, J. Ma, Y. Cheng, A. Noktehdan, J. Chong, and C. Lu, "A review of stochastic battery models and health management," *Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev.*, vol. 80, no. May, pp. 716–732, Dec. 2017.
- [207] S. J. Moura, J. L. Stein, and H. K. Fathy, "Battery-Health Conscious Power Management in Plug-In Hybrid Electric Vehicles via Electrochemical Modeling and Stochastic Control," *IEEE Trans. Control Syst. Technol.*, vol. 21, no. 3, pp. 679–694, May 2013.
- [208] Y. Ye, Y. Shi, and A. A. O. Tay, "Electro-thermal cycle life model for lithium iron phosphate

battery," J. Power Sources, vol. 217, pp. 509–518, Nov. 2012.

- [209] M. Petzl, M. Kasper, and M. A. Danzer, "Lithium plating in a commercial lithium-ion battery A low-temperature aging study," *J. Power Sources*, vol. 275, pp. 799–807, Feb. 2015.
- [210] T. Waldmann and M. Wohlfahrt-Mehrens, "Effects of rest time after Li plating on safety behavior—ARC tests with commercial high-energy 18650 Li-ion cells," *Electrochim. Acta*, vol. 230, pp. 454–460, Mar. 2017.
- [211] A. Eddahech, O. Briat, and J.-M. Vinassa, "Lithium-ion battery performance improvement based on capacity recovery exploitation," *Electrochim. Acta*, vol. 114, pp. 750–757, Dec. 2013.
- [212] J. Vedrana, S. Zeljko, and V. Zdravko, "Optimal control of induction motor using high performance frequency converter," in 2008 13th International Power Electronics and Motion Control Conference, 2008, pp. 690–694.
- [213] B. Wang, "Review of Power Semiconductor Device Reliability for Power Converters," *CPSS Trans. Power Electron. Appl.*, vol. 2, no. 2, pp. 101–117, Jun. 2017.
- [214] U.S. Department of Energy, "Annual Progress Report for Advanced Power Electronics and Electric Motors," Washington, D.C., United States, Tech. Report, 2009.
- [215] H. Wang, M. Liserre, F. Blaabjerg, P. de Place Rimmen, J. B. Jacobsen, T. Kvisgaard, and J. Landkildehus, "Transitioning to Physics-of-Failure as a Reliability Driver in Power Electronics," *IEEE J. Emerg. Sel. Top. Power Electron.*, vol. 2, no. 1, pp. 97–114, Mar. 2014.
- [216] Y. Song and B. Wang, "Survey on Reliability of Power Electronic Systems," *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.*, vol. 28, no. 1, pp. 591–604, Jan. 2013.
- [217] U.S. Department of Defense, *Military Handbook: Reliability Prediction of Electronic Equipment (28-Feb-1991).* 1995.
- [218] N. Man Li and D. Das, "Critical review of U.S. Military environmental stress screening (ESS) handbook," in 2016 IEEE Accelerated Stress Testing & Reliability Conference (ASTR), 2016, pp. 1–10.
- [219] E. De Francesco, R. De Francesco, and E. Petritoli, "Obsolescence of the MIL-HDBK-217: A critical review," in 2017 IEEE International Workshop on Metrology for AeroSpace (MetroAeroSpace), 2017, pp. 282–286.
- [220] U.-M. Choi, F. Blaabjerg, and S. Jorgensen, "Power Cycling Test Methods for Reliability Assessment of Power Device Modules in Respect to Temperature Stress," *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.*, vol. 33, no. 3, pp. 2531–2551, Mar. 2018.
- [221] T. Laurila, T. Mattila, V. Vuorinen, J. Karppinen, J. Li, M. Sippola, and J. K. Kivilahti, "Evolution of microstructure and failure mechanism of lead-free solder interconnections in power cycling and thermal shock tests," *Microelectron. Reliab.*, vol. 47, no. 7, pp. 1135– 1144, Jul. 2007.
- [222] J. Denria, P. Rajmane, and D. Agonafer, "Board Level Solder Joint Reliability Assessment Study of Megtron 6 Vs FR-4 Under Power Cycling and Thermal Cycling," in 2018 17th IEEE Intersociety Conference on Thermal and Thermomechanical Phenomena in Electronic Systems (ITherm), 2018, pp. 1289–1295.
- [223] H. Wohlrabe and J. Trodler, "Reliability investigation of SMT-boards for the automotive industry," in *2012 4th Electronic System-Integration Technology Conference*, 2012, pp. 1–6.
- [224] X. Shi, "Low cycle fatigue analysis of temperature and frequency effects in eutectic solder alloy," *Int. J. Fatigue*, vol. 22, no. 3, pp. 217–228, Mar. 2000.
- [225] V. Vasudevan and Xuejun Fan, "An acceleration model for lead-free (SAC) solder joint
reliability under thermal cycling," in 2008 58th Electronic Components and Technology Conference, 2008, pp. 139–145.

- [226] M. Held, P. Jacob, G. Nicoletti, P. Scacco And, and M.-H. Poech, "Fast power cycling test for insulated gate bipolar transistor modules in traction application," *Int. J. Electron.*, vol. 86, no. 10, pp. 1193–1204, Oct. 1999.
- [227] J. Flicker, G. Tamizhmani, M. K. Moorthy, R. Thiagarajan, and R. Ayyanar, "Accelerated testing of module level power electronics for long-term reliability," in 2017 IEEE 44th Photovoltaic Specialist Conference (PVSC), 2017, pp. 1–6.
- [228] TUV Rheinland PTL, "Standardization and Reliability Testing of Module-Level Power Electronics (MLPE)," Germany, Tech. Report., 2015.
- [229] A. Aal, "Qualification of Power Electronics Modules from an industry gap analysis to international standardization," in *Semicon Europa 2018*, 2018, pp. 1–23.
- [230] C. Busca, R. Teodorescu, F. Blaabjerg, S. Munk-Nielsen, L. Helle, T. Abeyasekera, and P. Rodriguez, "An overview of the reliability prediction related aspects of high power IGBTs in wind power applications," *Microelectron. Reliab.*, vol. 51, no. 9–11, pp. 1903– 1907, Sep. 2011.
- [231] M. Kim, S. Bae, and S. H. Choung, "Analysis on reliability characteristics of power electronic devices for aerial vehicles," in 2017 20th International Conference on Electrical Machines and Systems (ICEMS), 2017, pp. 1–5.
- [232] M. Thoben, K. Mainka, R. Bayerer, I. Graf, and M.Munzer, "From Vehicle Drive Cycle to Reliability Testing of Power Modules," in *PCIM Europe 2008*, 2008, pp. 1–6.
- [233] H. Wang, D. Zhou, and F. Blaabjerg, "A reliability-oriented design method for power electronic converters," in 2013 Twenty-Eighth Annual IEEE Applied Power Electronics Conference and Exposition (APEC), 2013, pp. 2921–2928.
- [234] Shaoyong Yang, A. Bryant, P. Mawby, Dawei Xiang, Li Ran, and P. Tavner, "An Industry-Based Survey of Reliability in Power Electronic Converters," *IEEE Trans. Ind. Appl.*, vol. 47, no. 3, pp. 1441–1451, May 2011.
- [235] H. Wang, F. Blaabjerg, K. Ma, and R. Wu, "Design for reliability in power electronics in renewable energy systems status and future," in *4th International Conference on Power Engineering, Energy and Electrical Drives*, 2013, pp. 1846–1851.
- [236] R. Bayerer, T. Herrmann, T. Licht, J. Lutz, and M. Feller, "Model for Power Cycling lifetime of IGBT Modules," in *Integrated Power Systems (CIPS), 2008 5th International Conference on*, 2008, pp. 1–6.
- [237] Z. Sarkany, A. Vass-Varnai, G. Hantos, and M. Rencz, "Failure prediction of IGBT modules based on power cycling tests," in 19th International Workshop on Thermal Investigations of ICs and Systems (THERMINIC), 2013, pp. 270–273.
- [238] Y. Huang, Y. Luo, F. Xiao, and B. Liu, "Failure Mechanism of Die-Attach Solder Joints in IGBT Modules Under Pulse High-Current Power Cycling," *IEEE J. Emerg. Sel. Top. Power Electron.*, vol. 7, no. 1, pp. 99–107, Mar. 2019.
- [239] J. Celaya, A. Saxena, S. Saha, and kai F. Goebel, "Prognostics of Power MOSFETs under Thermal Stress Accelerated Aging using Data-Driven and Model-Based Methodologies," in *Annual Conference of the Prognostics and Health Management Society*, 2011, pp. 1–10.
- [240] Nexperia, Appl. Note, Application Note: Failure signature of electrical overstress on power MOSFETs, 2017.
- [241] W. Lai, M. Chen, L. Ran, O. Alatise, S. Xu, and P. Mawby, "Low Stress Cycle Effect in IGBT Power Module Die-Attach Lifetime Modeling," *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.*, vol. 31, no. 9, pp. 6575–6585, Sep. 2016.

- [242] P. O. Quintero and F. P. McCluskey, "Temperature Cycling Reliability of High-Temperature Lead-Free Die-Attach Technologies," *IEEE Trans. Device Mater. Reliab.*, vol. 11, no. 4, pp. 531–539, Dec. 2011.
- [243] H. Huang and P. A. Mawby, "A Lifetime Estimation Technique for Voltage Source Inverters," *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.*, vol. 28, no. 8, pp. 4113–4119, Aug. 2013.
- [244] Y. Yang, V.-S. Sularea, K. Ma, and F. Blaabjerg, "Advanced design tools for the reliability of power electronics — Case studies on a photovoltaic (PV) system," in *IECON 2015 -*41st Annual Conference of the IEEE Industrial Electronics Society, 2015, pp. 2828–2833.
- [245] N. Degrenne and S. Mollov, "Real-life vs. standard driving cycles and implications on EV power electronic reliability," in *IECON 2016 - 42nd Annual Conference of the IEEE Industrial Electronics Society*, 2016, pp. 2177–2182.
- [246] Y. Zhang, H. Wang, Z. Wang, Y. Yang, and F. Blaabjerg, "The impact of mission profile models on the predicted lifetime of IGBT modules in the modular multilevel converter," in IECON 2017 - 43rd Annual Conference of the IEEE Industrial Electronics Society, 2017, pp. 7980–7985.
- [247] I. Rychlik, "A new definition of the rainflow cycle counting method," *Int. J. Fatigue*, vol. 9, no. 2, pp. 119–121, Apr. 1987.
- [248] H. Wang and F. Blaabjerg, "Reliability of Capacitors for DC-Link Applications in Power Electronic Converters—An Overview," *IEEE Trans. Ind. Appl.*, vol. 50, no. 5, pp. 3569– 3578, Sep. 2014.
- [249] H. Wang and H. Wang, "Capacitive DC links in power electronic systems-reliability and circuit design," *Chinese J. Electr. Eng.*, vol. 4, no. 3, pp. 29–36, Sep. 2018.
- [250] J. B. Libot, L. Arnaud, O. Dalverny, J. Alexis, P. Milesi, and F. Dulondel, "Mechanical fatigue assessment of SAC305 solder joints under harmonic vibrations," in 2016 International Conference on Electronics Packaging (ICEP), 2016, pp. 231–236.
- [251] M. Borras, R. Ratchev, O. Lanier, M. Guyenot, and D. Coutellier, "Vibration reliability of SMD Pb-free solder joints," in 2010 11th International Thermal, Mechanical & Multi-Physics Simulation, and Experiments in Microelectronics and Microsystems (EuroSimE), 2010, no. June 2014, pp. 1–6.
- [252] G. K. Morris, D. D. Yellamati, and M. A. Cymerman, "Predicting circuit board reliability for motor drives under varying application and environmental conditions," in 2014 Reliability and Maintainability Symposium, 2014, pp. 1–6.
- [253] W. Engelmaier, "Fatigue Life of Leadless Chip Carrier Solder Joints During Power Cycling," IEEE Trans. Components, Hybrids, Manuf. Technol., vol. 6, no. 3, pp. 232–237, Sep. 1983.
- [254] C. Hillman, N. Blattau, and M. Lacy, "Predicting Fatigue of Solder Joints Subjected to High Number of Power Cycles," in *IPC APEX EXPO 2014 Technical Conference Spotlights Changing Technologies*, 2014, pp. 1–6.
- [255] D. J. Xie, Y. C. Chan, J. K. L. Lai, and I. K. Hui, "Fatigue life estimation of surface mount solder joints," *IEEE Trans. Components, Packag. Manuf. Technol. Part B*, vol. 19, no. 3, pp. 669–678, 1996.
- [256] J. S. Karppinen, J. Li, and M. Paulasto-Krockel, "The Effects of Concurrent Power and Vibration Loads on the Reliability of Board-Level Interconnections in Power Electronic Assemblies," *IEEE Trans. Device Mater. Reliab.*, vol. 13, no. 1, pp. 167–176, Mar. 2013.
- [257] D. Zhou, H. Wang, and F. Blaabjerg, "Mission Profile Based System-Level Reliability Analysis of DC/DC Converters for a Backup Power Application," *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.*, vol. 33, no. 9, pp. 8030–8039, Sep. 2018.
- [258] D. K. Murugesan and I. Manickam, "Reliability and cost analysis of different Power inverter

topologies in Electric Vehicles," in 2015 IEEE Transportation Electrification Conference and Expo (ITEC), 2015, pp. 1–4.

- [259] Junchaojie Tang, H. Wang, S. Ma, G. Zhu, and H. Wang, "Reliability evaluation of a singlephase H-bridge inverter with integrated active power decoupling," in *IECON 2016 - 42nd Annual Conference of the IEEE Industrial Electronics Society*, 2016, no. 3, pp. 6841–6846.
- [260] Y. Ding, P. C. Loh, K. K. Tan, P. Wang, and F. Gao, "Reliability evaluation of three-level inverters," in 2010 Twenty-Fifth Annual IEEE Applied Power Electronics Conference and Exposition (APEC), 2010, pp. 1555–1560.
- [261] X. Yu and A. M. Khambadkone, "Reliability Analysis and Cost Optimization of Parallel-Inverter System," *IEEE Trans. Ind. Electron.*, vol. 59, no. 10, pp. 3881–3889, Oct. 2012.
- [262] B. Gadalla, E. Schaltz, and F. Blaabjerg, "A survey on the reliability of power electronics in electro-mobility applications," in *Joint International Conference - ACEMP 2015: Aegean Conference on Electrical Machines and Power Electronics, OPTIM 2015: Optimization of Electrical and Electronic Equipment and ELECTROMOTION 2015: International Symposium on Advanced Electromechanical Moti,* 2016, pp. 304–310.
- [263] Automotive Electronics Council Component Technical Committee, "Stress Test Qualification for Passive Components," AEC-Q200 Standard, 2010.
- [264] Ewert Energy Systems Technical Staff, Orion BMS Operation Manual, Ewert Energy Systems, Inc.. 2019.
- [265] Multi-CB, "Thermal resistance of PCBs," 2019. [Online]. Available: https://www.multicircuit-boards.eu/en/pcb-design-aid/thermal-resistance.html. [Accessed: 08-May-2019].
- [266] K. Prażnowski and J. Mamala, "Classification of the road surface condition on the basis of vibrations of the sprung mass in a passenger car," *IOP Conf. Ser. Mater. Sci. Eng.*, vol. 148, no. 1, p. 012022, Sep. 2016.
- [267] D. V. Spitzley, D. E. Grande, G. A. Keoleian, and H. C. Kim, "Life cycle optimization of ownership costs and emissions reduction in US vehicle retirement decisions," *Transp. Res. Part D Transp. Environ.*, vol. 10, no. 2, pp. 161–175, Mar. 2005.
- [268] P. A. Dahono, Deni, and A. Rizqiawan, "Analysis and minimization of input current and voltage ripples of five-phase PWM inverters," in 2008 IEEE 2nd International Power and Energy Conference, 2008, pp. 625–629.
- [269] Danfoss Silicon Power, "Next Generation Automotive Traction Power Module Technology Platform," Danfoss Silicon Power GmbH, Flensburg, Germany, Tech. Report., 2018.
- [270] J.P. Boeschlin, D. Graovac and M. Pürschel, "PowerBond Technology for High-Current Automotive Power MOSFETs," Infineon Technologies AG, Munich, Germany, Tech. Report., 2008.
- [271] Y. Chen, F. Zhuo, F. Zhang, W. Pan, and Y. Yang, "A novel method for current balancing between parallel-connected IGBTs," in 2016 18th European Conference on Power Electronics and Applications (EPE'16 ECCE Europe), 2016, pp. 1–8.
- [272] F. Richardeau and T. T. L. Pham, "Reliability Calculation of Multilevel Converters: Theory and Applications," *IEEE Trans. Ind. Electron.*, vol. 60, no. 10, pp. 4225–4233, Oct. 2013.
- [273] J. Xu, P. Zhao, and C. Zhao, "Reliability Analysis and Redundancy Configuration of MMC With Hybrid Submodule Topologies," *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.*, vol. 31, no. 4, pp. 2720–2729, Apr. 2016.
- [274] T. Soong and P. W. Lehn, "Assessment of Fault Tolerance in Modular Multilevel Converters With Integrated Energy Storage," *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.*, vol. 31, no. 6, pp. 4085–4095, Jun. 2016.
- [275] S.-M. Kim, K.-B. Lee, and J.-S. Lee, "Fault-tolerant control scheme for modular multilevel

converter based on sorting algorithm without reserved submodules," in 2018 IEEE Applied Power Electronics Conference and Exposition (APEC), 2018, pp. 223–227.

- [276] S. Yang, Y. Tang, and P. Wang, "Seamless Fault-Tolerant Operation of a Modular Multilevel Converter With Switch Open-Circuit Fault Diagnosis in a Distributed Control Architecture," *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.*, vol. 33, no. 8, pp. 7058–7070, Aug. 2018.
- [277] S. Arora, W. Shen, and A. Kapoor, "Review of mechanical design and strategic placement technique of a robust battery pack for electric vehicles," *Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev.*, vol. 60, pp. 1319–1331, Jul. 2016.
- [278] T. Larson, "Federal Transit Bus Test: BYD Electric Bus," Pennsylvania Transportation Institute, Duncansville, United States, Tech. Report., 2014.
- [279] D. F. Helling, M. Kuder, A. Singer, S. Schmid, and T. Weyh, "Low Voltage Power Supply in Modular Multilevel Converter based Split Battery Systems for Electrical Vehicles Keywords Method," in 20th European Conference on Power Electronics and Applications (EPE'18 ECCE Europe), 2018, pp. 1–10.
- [280] S. Zhang, R. Xiong, C. Zhang, and F. Sun, "An optimal structure selection and parameter design approach for a dual-motor-driven system used in an electric bus," *Energy*, vol. 96, no. 5, pp. 437–448, Feb. 2016.
- [281] A. Dalal and P. Kumar, "Design, Prototyping, and Testing of a Dual-Rotor Motor for Electric Vehicle Application," *IEEE Trans. Ind. Electron.*, vol. 65, no. 9, pp. 7185–7192, Sep. 2018.
- [282] C. Zhang, S. Zhang, G. Han, and H. Liu, "Power Management Comparison for a Dual-Motor-Propulsion System Used in a Battery Electric Bus," *IEEE Trans. Ind. Electron.*, vol. 64, no. 5, pp. 3873–3882, May 2017.
- [283] Tesla Motors, "Tesla Roadster 2020," 2019, 2019. [Online]. Available: https://www.tesla.com/roadster?redirect=no. [Accessed: 25-Mar-2019].
- [284] W. Liu, H. He, F. Sun, and J. Lv, "Integrated chassis control for a three-axle electric bus with distributed driving motors and active rear steering system," *Veh. Syst. Dyn.*, vol. 55, no. 5, pp. 601–625, May 2017.
- [285] A. Ongel, E. Loewer, F. Roemer, G. Sethuraman, F. Chang, and M. Lienkamp, "Economic Assessment of Autonomous Electric Microtransit Vehicles," *Sustainability*, vol. 11, no. 3, p. 648, Jan. 2019.
- [286] Infineon Technologies AG, "IPT015N10N5 100V 300A MOSFET," IPT015N10N5 datasheet, 2016.
- [287] A. Urschitz, "Power and Sensing Selection Guide 2019," Infineon Technologies AG, Munich, Germany, Tech. Report., 2019.
- [288] International Rectifier, "IRF100B201 100V 192A MOSFET," RF100B201 datasheet, 2015.
- [289] Toshiba, Appl. Note, Power MOSFET Selecting MOSFFETs and Consideration for Circuit Design, 2018
- [290] Digital Motor Controller GmbH Core Team, *DMC Pro Controller Manual*, Digital Motor Controller GmbH, 2005

### **Publication List**

During the work on the dissertation topic, the author published or supervised the following papers and student thesis, which present partially presented the contents of this dissertation. The author is grateful for the contributions of thr co-authors and the students.

### Journal; peer-reviewed

- [1] F. Chang, O. Ilina, L. Voss, and M. Lienkamp, "Improving the Overall Efficiency of Automotive Inverters Using a Multilevel Converter Composed of Low Voltage Si MOSFETs," *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.*, vol. 34, no. 4, pp. 1–17, 2018.
- [2] F. Chang, F. Roemer, M. Baumann, and M. Lienkamp, "Modelling and Evaluation of Battery Packs with Different Numbers of Paralleled Cells," *World Electr. Veh. J.*, vol. 9, no. 1, p. 8, Jun. 2018.
- [3] A. Ongel, E. Loewer, F. Roemer, G. Sethuraman, F. Chang, and M. Lienkamp, "Economic Assessment of Autonomous Electric Microtransit Vehicles," *Sustainability*, vol. 11, no. 3, p. 648, Jan. 2019\*

### Conference, Magazine, etc.; peer-reviewed

- [1] F. Chang and M. Lienkamp, "A modular multilevel topology using power electronic transformers for the modular drivetrains of electric vehicles," in 2016 18th European Conference on Power Electronics and Applications (EPE'16 ECCE Europe), 2016, pp. 1–9.
- [2] F. Chang, F. Roemer, M. Baumann and M. Lienkamp, "Modelling and Evaluation of Battery Packs with Different Numbers of Paralleled Cells," in *Proceedings - The 30th International Electric Vehicle Syposium & Exhibition (EVS30)*, 2017, pp. 1–13.
- [3] F. Chang, O. Ilina, O. Hegazi, L. Voss, and M. Lienkamp, "Adopting MOSFET multilevel inverters to improve the partial load efficiency of electric vehicles," in *2017 19th European Conference on Power Electronics and Applications (EPE'17 ECCE Europe)*, 2017, pp. 1-13.
- [4] F. Chang, R. Khoo, A. Ongel, and M. Lienkamp, "Rapid Energy Consumption Assessment of Vehicle Concepts for Public Transport Systems without Detailed Deployment Data," in 2018 IEEE Innovative Smart Grid Technologies - Asia (ISGT Asia), 2018, pp. 452–455.

### **Supervised Student Thesis**

- [1] S. Ali, "ECU System Architectural Study and Modeling for Future Vehicles", Master Thesis, Technical University of Munich, 2016.\*
- [2] O. Hegazi, "Silicon Carbide Present and Future Potential for Electric Vehicles' Inverters", Semester Thesis, Technical University of Munich, 2017.
- [3] N. Shah, "Influences of Device and Circuit Mismatches on Paralleling Power MOSFETs and the proposed solution", Internship Report, Technical University of Munich, 2017.

- [4] C. Xia, "Der Einfluss auf Elektrofahrzeug von Integration des Antriebstrangs", Diploma Thesis, Technical University of Munich, 2017.
- [5] D. Koh, "Construction and Assembling of the Test Rigs for High Frequency Current Generation", Internship Report, Technical University of Munich, 2017.
- [6] O. Teichert, "Vehicle Energy Storage Configuration & Charging Infrastructure Sizing of the SRT Concept", Master Thesis, Technical University of Munich, 2018.\*
- [7] S. Nazir, "Automatic DC/DC Converter Design Using Deep Reinforcement Learning", Master Thesis, Technical University of Munich, 2018.
- [8] A.S. Qurat, "Prototyping of the Cascaded H-bridges and the Implementation of Field-Oriented Motor Control", Internship Report, 2018.
- [9] N. Kalantaryardebily, "Design and Development of a Hardware-in-the-Loop (HIL) Test platform for Powertrain", Master Thesis, Technical University of Munich, 2018.

## Appendix

Appendix A	Efficiency Information	. xxviii
Appendix B	Cost Parameters	.xxxiv
Appendix C	Aging Test Circuit	.xxxvi
Appendix D	Reliability Parameters	xxxvii
Appendix E	Electronic Attachments	.xxxix

## Appendix A Efficiency Information

#### 1. Parameters of the Models

In this appendix, all the detailed information regarding the efficiency analysis is provided. First, in Table A.1, the parameters of the reference vehicle and the motor can be found. Table A.2 contains all the necessary parameters of the efficiency models.

It is seen that the specifications of the three inverters match well with each other. The detailed parameters for the switches can be found in the datasheets of the corresponding switches. For the CHB and the SiC inverter, as they use discrete switches, the thermal circuit is simplified. Only one thermal resistor is assumed to be between the heatsink and the junction of the switch. Therefore, for these two inverters, only one thermal resistance value is give.

Table A.1: The parameters of the reference vehicle							
	Vehicle Parameters						
Parameter	Symbol	Value					
Mass	М	1443.3 kg	Gear ratio	i <sub>G</sub>	9.7		
Rolling resistance	$f_{\rm R}$	0.0075	Transmission efficiency	η	98 %		
Air resistance	Cw	0.33	Radius of tyre	r	0.350 m		
Cross section	A <sub>A</sub>	2.04 m <sup>2</sup>	Rotation mass coefficient	д	1.0696		
		Electri	cal Parameters				
IGBT module Infineon HybridPACK™2 Nominal voltage of battery pack 360 V							
Rated current400 AMaximum current600 A							
Electric machine PSM Number of pole pairs 6							
Coefficient $\beta_1$	Coefficient $\beta_1$ -2.5115×10 <sup>-4</sup> Coefficient $\beta_2$ 1.1425×10 <sup>-6</sup>						
Coefficient $\beta_3$ 0.945 Stator resistance $R_S$ 9 m $\Omega$							
Table A.2: The efficiency model parameters of the three inverters							
Benchmarked IGBT Inverter							

Parameter	Symbol	Value	Parameter	Symbol	Value
IGBT forward voltage	$u_{\rm CE0}$	0.7 V	IGBT dynamic resistance	R <sub>C</sub>	$0.75m\Omega$
Diode forward voltage	$u_{\rm F0}$	0.8 V	Diode dynamic resistance	$R_{\rm D}$	1.1 mΩ
IGBT loss coefficient	$a_{\rm IGBT}$	0.038	IGBT loss coefficient	$b_{\rm IGBT}$	5.9×10⁻⁵
Diode loss coefficient	a <sub>Diode</sub>	9.3×10 <sup>-3</sup>	Diode loss coefficient	b <sub>Diode</sub>	1.5×10⁻⁵

IGBT thermal resistance	$R_{\mathrm{Tth}(\mathrm{j-c})}$	0.1 K/W	IGBT thermal capacitance	$C_{\text{Tth}(j-c)}$	235 s·K/W
Diode thermal resistance	$R_{\rm Dth(j-c)}$	0.1 K/W	Diode thermal capacitance	$C_{\text{Dth}(j-c)}$	250 s·K/W
Case thermal resistance	$R_{\rm Dth(c-s)}$	0.03 K/W	DC link voltage	$u_{ m DC}$	360V
Switching frequency	$f_{\rm s}$	8 kHz	Gate resistance	R <sub>G</sub>	2.2 Ω
		SiC MOS	FET Inverter		
Parameter	Symbol	Value	Parameter	Symbol	Value
SiC on-state resistance	R <sub>on</sub>	$25m\Omega$	DC link voltage	$u_{ m DC}$	360V
Number of parallel	$n_{ m P}$	6	Gate resistance	R <sub>G</sub>	2.2 Ω
Diode forward voltage	$u_{\rm F0}$	2.7 V	Diode dynamic resistance	R <sub>D</sub>	15mΩ
SiC loss coefficient	$a_{\rm SiC}$	0	SiC loss coefficient	$b_{\rm SiC}$	6.25×10 <sup>-8</sup>
SiC thermal resistance	$R_{\mathrm{Tth}(\mathrm{j-c})}$	0.25 K/W	Switching frequency	f <sub>s</sub>	20 kHz
		C	СНВ		
Parameter	Symbol	Value	Parameter	Symbol	Value
MOSFET resistance	R <sub>on</sub>	$4m\Omega$	Diode recovery charge	$Q_{\rm rr}$	380 nC
Number of parallel	$n_{ m P}$	6	Gate resistance	R <sub>G</sub>	2.2 Ω
Diode forward voltage	$u_{\rm F0}$	0.71 V	Diode dynamic resistance	R <sub>D</sub>	1.85 mΩ
Voltage rising time	t <sub>ru</sub>	9 ns	Voltage falling time	$t_{ m fu}$	21 ns
Current rising time	t <sub>ri</sub>	17 ns	Current falling time	$t_{ m fi}$	20 ns
MOS thermal resistance	$R_{\mathrm{Tth}(\mathrm{j-c})}$	0.5 K/W	Case thermal resistance	$R_{\rm Dth(c-s)}$	0.5 K/W
Module DC voltage	$u_{ m DC}$	60 V	Switching frequency	$f_{\rm s}$	20 kHz

### 2. Verifications of the Efficiency Models

Second, in Table A.3, Table A.4 and Table A.5, the results of accuracy verification are provided. Compared to the efficiency of ANSYS Simplorer, the errors of the proposed models are calculated. The error is defined by deducting the model predicted efficiency from the ANSYS efficiency.

It is seen that an error of 1 % is realized at most operational points. Only some points with an extremely low power could have an error of 2 %. Therefore, the proposed efficiency models can be deemed as rather accurate. Besides, it is seen that the proposed models tend to underestimate the efficiency of the three inverters slightly.

		.5. Vernication of t	le IODT efficiency	model	
U/I	50 V	100 V	150 V	160 V	cosθ
50 A	1.64 %	0.90 %	0.61 %	0.57 %	
100 A	2.45 %	1.34 %	0.90 %	0.84 %	
150 A	2.24 %	1.19 %	0.80 %	0.75 %	0.6
200 A	2.04 %	1.07 %	0.71 %	0.66 %	
250 A	1.90 %	0.99 %	0.65 %	0.60 %	
50 A	1.30 %	0.69 %	0.45 %	0.42 %	
100 A	1.92 %	1.01 %	0.67 %	0.62 %	
150 A	1.74 %	0.89 %	0.58 %	0.54 %	0.8
200 A	1.57 %	0.80 %	0.51 %	0.48 %	
250 A	1.47 %	0.73 %	0.47 %	0.43 %	
50 A	1.07 %	0.55 %	0.35 %	0.33 %	
100 A	1.57 %	0.80 %	0.52 %	0.48 %	
150 A	1.42 %	0.71 %	0.45 %	0.42 %	1.0
200 A	1.28 %	0.63 %	0.39 %	0.36 %	
250 A	1.18 %	0.57 %	0.35 %	0.33 %	
	Table A	A.4: Verification of	the SiC efficiency r	nodel	
U/I	50 V	100 V	150 V	160 V	cosθ
50 A	1.19 %	0.65 %	0.44 %	0.41 %	
100 A	0.77 %	0.44 %	0.30 %	0.29 %	
150 A	0.36 %	0.28 %	0.17 %	0.19 %	0.6
200 A	0.16 %	0.13 %	0.01 %	0.09 %	
250 A	-0.09 %	-0.01 %	0.01 %	0.01 %	
50 A	1.13 %	0.61 %	0.41 %	0.39 %	
100 A	0.81 %	0.45 %	0.31 %	0.29 %	
150 A	0.54 %	0.32 %	0.22 %	0.21 %	0.8
200 A	0.31 %	0.20 %	0.14 %	0.14 %	
250 A	0.09 %	0.09 %	0.07 %	0.07 %	

Table A.3: Verification of the IGBT efficiency model

50 A	1.13 %	0.61 %	0.40 %	0.38 %	
100 A	0.86 %	0.47 %	0.32 %	0.31 %	
150 A	0.63 %	0.36 %	0.25 %	0.24 %	1.0
200 A	0.43 %	0.26 %	0.18 %	0.17 %	
250 A	0.24 %	0.16 %	0.11 %	0.11 %	

	Table A.5: Verification of the CHB efficiency model						
U/I	50 V	100 V	150 V	160 V	cosθ		
50 A	0.98%	0.68%	0.49%	0.46 %			
100 A	0.87%	0.55%	0.39%	0.37 %			
150 A	0.23%	0.21 %	0.19%	0.18%	0.6		
200 A	-0.03 %	0.08%	0.11 %	0.11 %			
250 A	-0.16 %	0.01 %	0.07 %	0.07 %			
50 A	0.89%	0.56%	0.42%	0.40%			
100 A	0.45%	0.34%	0.29%	0.28%			
150 A	0.30%	0.27 %	0.25%	0.25%	0.8		
200 A	0.23%	0.24%	0.24 %	0.23%			
250 A	0.21 %	0.04%	0.23 %	0.23%			
50 A	0.80%	0.54%	0.42%	0.41 %			
100 A	0.47 %	0.38%	0.33%	0.32%			
150 A	0.37 %	0.33%	0.31 %	0.30%	1.0		
200 A	0.33%	0.31 %	0.30 %	0.30%			
250 A	-0.32 %	0.31%	0.31 %	0.31 %			

Besides the simulation verifications, for the CHB, the efficiency model is also experimentally on a motor test bench. However, the verification is only on the module level, because the batteries of the prototype are significantly aged and they are not safe anymore to operate at a high power. The test bench supports a maximum speed of 12000 1/min and maximum torque of 110 N m. The voltage and current sensors of the test bench are SP381501X, with a power measurement accuracy of 0.1 %.

The errors of the efficiency model compared to the experimental results are illustrated in the error map in Figure A.1. The definition of the errors is the same as in Table A.3, Table A.4 and Table A.5. According to the error map, the errors of the efficiency model are mostly within 1 %. Only in a small area, where the speed is low than 10 % of the maximum speed and the torque is

lower than 20 % of the maximum continuous torque, the errors reach 2-3 % level. Therefore, the efficiency model of the CHB is confirmed to have a high accuracy, at least on the module level. Besides, it is also seen that the efficiency model of the CHB tends to underestimate the efficiency in a large area, which agrees with the verifications in Table A.5. Therefore, the accuracy of the ANSYS models is also confirmed again by the experiment.



Figure A.1: The error of the CHB efficiency model (one module) compared to experimental results

In all the verifications, the errors are mainly caused by the oversimplified diode model. For the IGBT inverter, the conduction loss of the diode is obtained based on the simplification that the diode has a piecewise linear output character. For the CHB, the worst-case recovery loss is constantly assumed regardless of the operational points. Therefore, in the area with an extremely low power, the errors could be higher than 1 %. However, as this area is also sparsely used by BEVs, a slightly higher error in this area will not cause problems for the driving cycle simulations.

### 3. Deduction of the Ripple Current Models

In the end of this Appendix, the RMS values of the ripples are derived. These values are used in chapter 4 for the evaluation of the ohmic losses in batteries. First, the overall RMS value of the battery current in the CHB is calculated. Following the definition of the RMS value, in one AC period, the RMS value of the battery is calculated following eq. (10.1). Assuming the switching frequency approaches toward infinite, i.e.,  $T_S$  approaches zero, the sum in the formula can be converted to an integral. In the end, converting the AC side values to the DC side values, eq. (4.10) and (6.3) can be obtained.

$$I_{\text{bat\_RMS}} = \sqrt{\frac{\sum I_{\text{AC\_peak}}^2 \sin^2(\omega k T_{\text{S}} - \theta) m_a \sin(\omega k T_{\text{S}}) T_{\text{S}}}{T_{\text{AC}}}}$$

$$= \sqrt{\frac{\int_{0}^{\pi} I_{\text{AC\_peak}}^2 \sin^2(\omega t - \theta) m_a \sin(\omega t) d\omega t}{\pi}}$$
(10.1)

The current waveform of the battery contains mainly three components, the DC component,  $I_{bat_ave}$ , the AC frequency component,  $I_{bat_AC_RMS}$  and the switching component,  $I_{bat_S_RMS}$ . The DC component is the average current, which can be calculated by the average power. The switching frequency component,  $I_{bat_S_RMS}$ , is calculated by eq. (4.10), which is developed by [138]. Using the definition of the RMS value, and assuming that the remaining components of

 $I_{\text{bat}_{\text{RMS}}}$  can all be allocated to the AC frequency ripples, the RMS value of the AC frequency ripples is obtained as in eq. (4.10) and (10.2).

$$I_{\text{bat}\_AC\_RMS} = \sqrt{I_{\text{bat}\_RMS}^2 - I_{\text{bat}\_ave}^2 - I_{\text{bat}\_S\_RMS}^2}$$
(10.2)

For the IGBT inverter, the ripple current is estimated based on the voltage ripples of the DC-link capacitor. Once the voltage ripple is obtained, the current ripples can be calculated accordingly. First, according to the research in [139], the ripple index,  $r_{ppIGBT}$ , is calculated. With the ripple index, the switching frequency, the AC current, and the DC-link capacitance, according to [139], the peak-to-peak value of the envelope of the ripples,  $\Delta v_{pp}$  is obtained.

$$r_{ppIGBT} = -1.09m_{a}^{2} + 0.74m_{a}$$

$$\Delta v_{pp} = \frac{\sqrt{2}I_{AC\_RMS}r_{ppIGBT}}{3C_{DC}f_{S}}$$

$$I_{bat\_S\_RMS} = \Delta v_{pp} / R_{bat\_fs} / 3$$

$$P_{bat\_ohmic} = R_{bat\_DC}I_{bat\_ave}^{2} + R_{bat\_fs}I_{bat\_S\_RMS}^{2}$$
(10.3)

Assuming the ripples are triangle waves, the RMS value of the corresponding ripple current,  $I_{bat\_S\_RMS}$ , can be calculated by dividing  $\Delta v_{pp}$  with the battery resistance at this frequency. The factor 3 is implemented when converting the peak-to-peak value of the triangle wave to the RMS value of the triangle wave.

In the end, multiplying the square of the current with the corresponding resistance, the total ohmic loss can be obtained. The description above explains how all the formulas in eq. (4.11) can be used. Eq. (4.11) is copied in eq. (10.3), for the convenience of explanation. The resistance values of the battery at different frequency are obtained in the impedance spectrum in [137]. Only the real part needs to be taken, because the imaginary part does not cause any losses.

## Appendix B Cost Parameters

In Table B.1, the cost parameters of the three inverters are provided for verification. The currency values are in USD. All the three inverters are assumed to be controlled by a DSP (Digital Signal Processor) board as the central contreoller. This module is expected to cost 150 USD, according to the large volume prices of relevant components on online purchasing platforms. The cost of the ICs of the two six-pack inverters is thus 150 USD.

Table B.1: The parameters for the cost model						
	Parameters	IG	BT	СНВ	SiC	
	No. of switches	1		216	36	
	c <sub>Die</sub> per mm <sup>2</sup>	0.0613 (IGBT)	0.0273 (Diode)	0.0273	1.057	
Switch	A <sub>Die</sub> in mm <sup>2</sup>	98.88	49.41	17.28	26.018	
cost parameters	Number of dies per package	24	24	1	1	
	$C_{ m package}$	118.82		0.46	0.6105	
	$C_{\text{switch}} = c_{\text{Die}}A_{\text{Die}} + C_{\text{package}}$	296.61		0.93	28.1	
Driver	No. of drivers	6		36	6	
cost	Unit driver cost	6.5		6.5	11	
Capacitor	DC-link capacitance	475 µF		-	475 µF	
cost	Capacitor voltage	450 V		-	450 V	
Heatsink cost	Number of modules	1		9	1	
	Central Controller	150		150	150	
cost	CPLDs and Communications	0		150	0	
Manufacturing overhead		1.25		1.25	1.15	

For the CHB, on top of the DSP module, each submodule additionally needs one CPLD EPM7064AETC44 (5.25 USD) chip and one set of fiber optic receiver/transceiver HFBR-2522/1521Z (respectively 5.72 USD and 5.24 USD for the receiver and transceiver) for a rapid communication and control. Therefore, an additional 9x(5.25 + 5.72 + 5.24) = 150 USD is assumed to for the cost of ICs in the CHB, which results in a total cost of 300 USD for the ICs of the CHB.

For the IGBT and Si MOSFET, the driving circuit is assumed to have one isolated  $\pm 15$  V DC power supply MEA1D0515DC and one isolated circuit driver 1ED020I12-F2. The costs of other

components are negligible. The unit price of the driving circuit of the IGBT and Si MOSFET is thus estimated to be USD 6.5, based on the large bundle prices of the two components.

The driving circuit of the SiC is special, because the output gate voltage output is required to be +20/-5 V. According to the reference design CGD15FB45P1 provided by Wolfspeed, the cheapest solution results in a cost of USD 11, using the large volume prices of the relevant components.

## Appendix C Aging Test Circuit

### Schematic

The detailed schematic of the testing circuit is given in Figure C.1.



Figure C.1: Schematic of the testing circuit module board

The power opamp OPA569 from Texas Instrument is selected. The feedback network uses OPA890, due to its high gain at high frequency. The DAC is TLV5616. The selection of the ICs realizes the requirement of high frequency and high accuracy.

The design of the base board is relatively simply, as it only serves as a busbar for the power opamp modules. Therefore, its scehmatic is not given in the appendix. The digital interfaces of the modules are also paralleled by the base board and are controlled by the same micro controller, so that the multiple module boards do not require synchronization after the parallelization. Their behaviors are identical.

## Appendix D Reliability Parameters

	The benchmared IGBT Inverter						
	Die attachment reliability						
<i>A</i> 1	3.71×10 <sup>13</sup>	<i>A</i> <sub>2</sub>	9455.52	α	-10.122		
		Bond wi	re reliability				
αCopper	25 10 <sup>-6</sup> K <sup>-1</sup>	αSolder	16 10 <sup>-6</sup> K <sup>-1</sup>	<i>n</i> Bond	600		
$D_{ m Bond}$	300 µm						
		PCB	reliability				
l	1.4 mm	h	0.47 mm	ИРСВ	1		
αcopper	16 10 <sup>-6</sup> K <sup>-1</sup>	αSolder	23 10 <sup>-6</sup> K <sup>-1</sup>	<i>N</i> Solder	100		
<i>a</i> Vibration	0.9 m/s <sup>2</sup>	<i>f</i> n	0.86 Hz				
		Capacito	or reliability				
Tn	50 °C	T <sub>test</sub>	61.3 °C	<i>t</i> nominal	2.01×10 <sup>6</sup> h		
Vn	450 V	Vtest	360 V				
	Table D.2:	Parameters to	model the reliability o	f the CHB			
		The	e CHB				
		Die attachr	nent reliability				
kb	1.38×10 <sup>-23</sup> J K <sup>-1</sup>	nJ	144				
		Bond wire r	eliability model				
αAI	25 10 <sup>-6</sup> K <sup>-1</sup>	αSolder	16 10 <sup>-6</sup> K <sup>-1</sup>	<i>n</i> Bond	1080		
$D_{Bond}$	300 µm						
		PCB	reliability				
Ірсв	1.4 mm	hрсв	0.47 mm	прсв	9		
άρςβ	18 10 <sup>-6</sup> K <sup>-1</sup>	αCeramic	10 10 <sup>-6</sup> K <sup>-1</sup>	<i>n</i> Solder	500		
$a_{Vibration}$	0.9 m/s <sup>2</sup>	ſn	2.53 Hz				

All the parameters required by the reliability models are provided in Table D.1 and Table D.2.

Table D.1: Parameters to model the reliability of the benchmarked IGBT inverter

Nonetheless, the input of the values, i.e., the stress profiles, are not provided in the appendix, because the amount of data is too large to be directly listed here. For more details, the reader is referred to the MATLAB code and the data of the reliability simulation. The necessary comments can be found in the code.

# **Appendix E** Electronic Attachments

In the end of the appendix, the folder structure of the electronic attachments is explained, in order to make the search and further usage of the work more convenient.

### Powertrain models and component models:

Electronic Attachments\01 Efficiency Simulation Models\01 Models

### Efficiency map calculation files:

Electronic Attachments\01 Efficiency Simulation Models\02 Efficiency Maps

### All the verification calculations and results:

Electronic Attachments\01 Efficiency Simulation Models\03 Verifications

### Detailed cost calculation of the three inverters:

Electronic Attachments\02 Cost Calculation

#### Design documents of the battery testing hardware:

Electronic Attachments\03 Battery Test Hardware Design

### Simulation models for reliability, IGBT and CHB integrated:

Electronic Attachments\04 Reliability Simulation Models

#### Design documents of the CHB prototype:

Electronic Attachments\05 CHB Prototype Design

### A rapid simulation model for battery packs:

Electronic Attachments\06 Battery Models